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THE ARCHBISHOPS AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE DIOCESE AND PROVINCE OF
DUBLIN IISI - 1298 . MARGARET MURPHY .

From the death of Archbishop Laurence 0'Toole in II80 and the
election of the royal clerk John Cumin to the see of Dublin in II8I ,
the archbishops of Dublin were without exception of the Anglo-Norman
nation . All owed their position to their service to monarch or pope ,
or in some cases to both . Those archbishops who came to Dublin in
the thirteenth century , and up to I27I the archbishops were largely
resident , were faced with a two fold task . Firstly they were obliged
to introduce and develop in thelr diocese and province the machinery
of Anglo-Norman ecclesiastical administration and to ensure as far as
possiblé that in the area under their control the Irish church was
governed by the same laws and customs which pertained to the English
dioceses , where many of the archbishops had spent some time as
ecclesiastical administrators . Secondly the archbishops of Dublin
were expected to participate in the secular administration of the Irish
colony which was based in Dublin . Sometimes this meant that they held
a formal office in the administration , sometimes not , but they were
always counted among the inner council of the king's faithful in
Ireland and their advice was frequently sought on important matters .
A study of the archbishops and the administration of the diocese must
therefore take account of this dual function . This is reflected in
the nature of the sources used for the study which comprise both
ecclesliastical records and records of the secular administration .

None of the thirteenth century archbishops was entirely successful
at combining both functions and frequently it appears to have been
the spiritual side of their duties which they neglected . However ,
an effective administrative machine had been created by the first two
archbishops made up for the most part of canons of the secular cathedral
of St. Patrick's . This chapter provided the archbishop with clerks and
administrators from an early date . With the establishment of the
office of archdeacon a deputy existed who could perform most of the
archbishop's spiritual functions . This hierarchy of ecclesiastical
administrators bore the burden of governing the see during the long
periods during the latter part of the century when the church of Dublin
was without a pastor either because of vacancy or absenteeism .

Conflict between the ' two nations ' which characterized so much of
the history of the medieval Irish church , was not a major factor in
the thirteenth century province of Dublin where from an early date the
clergy were largely anglicised . Many of the bishops and higher
ecclesiastics followed the example of their archbishop and became
involved in the secular administration , thus ensuring that there was
to a great extent a unity of interests and aims among the churchmen of
the province . This did not preclude the possibility of disputes ,
but it did ensure that they were less frequent than in the province of
Armagh for example . However , involvement with the secular administration
did not mean that the archbishops were prepared to sacrifice any of the
liberties of their church . The thirteenth century archbishops
strongly defended the possessions and privileges of the see of Dublin
even when it involved a conflict with the officers of the crown or the

monarch himself .
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INTRODUCTION .

The study of church organization and churchmen in medieval
Ireland is greatly hampered by the poor survival of source material ,
a problem which affects all areas of the study of medieval Irish
history . While the records of medieval Dublin have been depleted
and contain many lacunae , they have not suffered as much as those of
other areas . A reconstruction of the main elements in the
ecclesiastical administration of thirteenth century Dublin , while

frequently impeded by the lack of vital evidence , is nonetheless

possible .

The most important source and the one most commonly cited in

this work is the Liber Niger Alani , or The Register of Archbishop
I

Alen as it is more familiarly known . Compiled for Archbishop John

Alen in the early sixteenth century , this register contains transcripts
of many documents from the first century of Anglo-Norman Dublin , as well
as frequently illuminating comments from Archbishop Alen himself .

Many of the early documents reproduced in Alen's register as well as some

others can be found in the Crede Mihi , a collection of early to mid-

thirteenth century ecclesiastical grants , charters and letters

2.
compiled c. I270 . These collections are supplemented by the records

I. The original MS. and four copies of the register have been consulted ,
but references are to the Calendar of Archbishop Alen's Register
published by Charles McNeill in I950 , unless otherwise stated .

2. The Crede Mihi was edited by J.T.Gilbert in 1897 , but due to
certain inaccuracies in this edition the original MS. is cited

throughout this work .
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and chartularies of the two cathedral churches and the various

religious houses in the Dublin area .

Apart from the ecclesilastical source material emanating from
the Dublin diocese , much use can be made of the records of the
secular administration in Ireland and also of the records of the
papal 525;53: The survival rate of this type of document is much higher ,
but the information thus obtained must be treated with caution . In
many cases the material relating to the church in Ireland is concerned
with areas of dispute and details of conflicts which required royal or
papal intervention . The information must therefore be treated as

far as possible in context with material obtained from the other

sources .

The publication of better and more accessible editions of
important primary sources has been accompanied by the appearance of
general studies of the medieval Irish church . The works of Gwynn ,
Watt and Hand are essential reading for students of the ecclesiastical
history of Ireland and their important groundwork makes it possible
to direct attention to more specific aspects and areas . Although
various topics within the ecclesiastical history of medieval Dublin
have been covered by modern scholars , no overall examination of

the archbishops and the administration of the archdiocese in the

3. The publication of Pontificia Hibernica , an excellent edition of
papal documents concerning Ireland up to I260 has provided an
indispensable tool for the study of the Irish church .
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first century of Anglo-Norman control has been made since the series of
. 4'
articles by Miles Ronan printed in the I930's . Such an overall

examination is attempted in this work .

A third of this work is concerned with biographical information
on the seven archbishops who held the see of Dublin between II8I and
1298 , including an account of their early careers and an examination
of the most important events of their episcopacies . As far as
possible an attempt has been made accurately to trace the movements of
each archbishop both inside and ocutside Ireland , therby allowing
more precise dating of surviving episcopal acta as well as providing

a useful basis for dating other types of documents .

This examination has seemed particularly necessary due to the
uneveness of the existing accounts . In the case of some of the
archbishops , no blographical account exists , while in the case of
others only certain aspects of their careers have been dealt with ,
often in isolation from each other . Frequently the areas most neglected
are precisely those which are important for the history of the
diocese . Moreover , the specialization which leads to the blographies
of particular archbishops being scattered throughout a variety of
secondary works , each concerned with one aspect to the exclusion
of all others can result in a distorted picture of the subject himself

and his episcopacy . The fact that a good deal of the evidence for

4. In I.E.R. 1I935-7 . While providing a basis for study these articles
are of limited use due to the paucity of sources consulted and their

erratic citation .
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the career of an archbishop is concerned with his functions as an
officer of the crown , for example , needs to be placed in the context

of all the other known details of his career .

It is unwise to assume that a term such as ' royal servant'’
can provide a complete description of any archbishop , or that those
archbishops who were heavily involved in secular administration and
in extending the power of the English crown in Ireland , were not also
active on behalf of the church and in the defence of the liberties
of their own ecclesiastical office . The evidence examined below
suggests that the archbishops did not in any way allow their loyalty
to the English king to stand in the way of their protection of the
possessions and privileges of the diocese of Dublin . The section
dealing with the exercise of the archbishop's spiritual jurisdiction
shows that like their English counterparts the Dublin archbishops

were quick to take action when the exercise of their spiritual

functions was hindered in any way .

It is particularly worthy of note that the English kings did
not appear to regard this defence of ecclesliastical libertles against
secular encroachment as having any bearing on the archbishop's
position as a faithful supporter of royal policy in Ireland .(In the
midst of his bitter struggle with the officers of the crown in Dublin ,
Archbishop Fulk de Sandford was asked to take over the justiciarship
of Ireland and attempt to restore peace to that countryg: The
holding of temporal as well as spiritual office was an accepted fact
in medieval Dublin and does not appear to have caused confusion or

conflict of loyalties . It is possible to find royal mandates

5. See below p. 92 .
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instructing the archbishop to perform one function in his position as

secular administrator and another as head of the church in Dublin .

The dual function exercised by the archbishop was merely the
ultimate example of a system which operated at every level of the
ecclesiastical hierarchy in the diocese and province of Dublin .

Many of the canons of the secular cathedrals as well as many of the
higher ecclesiastics aud suffragan bishops were involved to some
extent in the secular administration . Such men also functioned as the
spiritual officers of the archbishop and moved easily from one
employment into another . To a large extent they galned the same sort
of experience and handled the same sort of problems whether they
served king or archbishop . Thomas de Chaddesworth , who was dean of
St.Patrick's in the latter part of the century was official of the
archblshop and thereby in charge of the spiritual courts of the
diocese ; he was also a royal justice itinerant and a justice of the
common bench in Dublin . As the kings custodian of the temporalities of
the vacant archbishopric in the I270's he was called upon to exercise

the temporal jurisdiction of the archbishop in the archiepiscopal

manors .

Hugh de Mapilton was both seneschal and archdeacon of Archbishop
Luke and he went on to occupy the suffragan diocese of Ossory as

well as holding the treasurership of Ireland .

6.See for example the mandate of King Henry III to Archbishop Henry of
London in I223 , when a case was being transferred from the secular to
the spiritual court . As justiciar , Henry was instructed to transfer
the case and take the chattels of the defendant into the king's hand
while as archbishop he was instructed to hear the plea of bastardy in
his ecclesiastical court . Rot.Lit.Claus. pp. 585, 629. See below p.250 .




Although there was therefore a unity of interests between the
members of the Dublin church and although the province of Dublin
was to a large extent free from the racial problems which caused
so much trcuble in other parts of the Irish church , conflicts
between eccleslastics could and did occur . These conflicts were
common to the church throughout England and Ireland . Most notably
in Dublin there was the dispute between the cathedral chapters
over archiepiscopal elections . There were also conflicts between
the archbishop and religious houses , between the archdeacon and
the cathedral churches and between the suffragan bishops and the
archbishop over visitation and disciplinary matters . The details
of all these disputes , if treated in context with other information,
help to shed light on the various elements which went to make up

the Dublin church and on how these elements related to each

other .

As far as the evidence permits , the attempt has been made
to give a comprehensive account of the thirteenth century
archbishops of Dublin and their roles as administrators , wielders
of spiritual and temporal power and metropolitans . Unfortunately,
an area which has suffered particularly from lack of sources
concerns the pastoral functions of the archbishops . Apart from its
intrinsic importance , such evidence might have allowed some i1dea of the
personalities and characters of the thirteenth century archbishops
to emerge . Although it cannot be said, .therefore , that a
completely full picture of any archbishop has come out of this study ,
it is hoped that some of the large gaps which exist in the history of

the thirteenth century Irish episcopacy have been filled .



SECTION I.

CHAPTER I. JOHN CUMIN .

a) EARLY CAREER . p. I-6

b) ARCHBISHOP OF DUBLIN II8I-I2I2. p. 7-28




1
a) JOHN CUMIN : EARLY CAREER .

The first Anglo-Norman archbishop of Dublin was a prominent and
trusted servant of King Henry II . His early career , in particular
his involvement in the dispute between the king and the archbishop
of Canterbury,has attracted a good deal of attention ?.The first task
facing the more recent biographers of John Cumin has been to clear away
the misconception that before his elevation to the see of Dublin in
II8I he was a Benedictine monk at the Abbey of Evesham . This error ,
which first appeared in works of the early nineteenth century,has been
shown by Gwynn among others to be totally incompatible with the other

3.

known details of Cumin's career .

Gwynn believed Cumin to have come from a minor Somerset family,
and certainly it is in connection with this county that his name first
appears in the official records . In II58 and 1159 John Cumin was
pardoned debts in Somerset and excused from payments to the sheriffs

L,
of Somerset and Worcester . In II63 he was present at the Council of

I. Although variations such as 'Comyn' and 'Comin' frequently appear,
the spelling 'Cumin’, which is the most frequently used in the records,
has been adopted throughout this work.

2. Cumin's career was first traced by T.F.T.Tout and J.A.Robinson,and
their research has formed the basis for the subsequent works of M.Ronan
and A.Gwynn . Tout in D.N.B. vol. XI (see under 'Comyn); J.A.hobirson, The
early career of John Cumin'in Somerset Historical Essays,(I921),pp.90-9;
M.Ronan,'Anglo-Norman Dublin',in I.E.R. vol. XLV (1935)’pp. I48-55

merely reproduced Robinson's work . A.Gwynn,'Archbishop John Cumin'.,in
Rep.Nov. I, (1955-6), pp.285-310 adds many important details and shows a
better understanding of the Irish source material .

3. Archbishop Alen stated that Cumin was born in Evesham AL.Reg. p.I9'
but the earliest mention of him as a monk of Evesham appeared in J.
Dalton,Memoirs of the archbishops of Dublin, (I1838)p.69 * . Theexror
then appearea 1n many works incluaing G.l.Stokes,Ireland and the Anglo -
Norman Church (I889), p. 206 and G.Orpen Jreland under the Normans(1968)

vol. 2,p. 59-60 .
L, Pipe Roll 1158-9 p. 122 3 Pipe Roll I1159-60 ,pp. 24 , 59 .




Woodstock and witnessed a royal confirmation to the Prior and Convent
B

of burton Priory . It seems likely that by II63 he had already been in
the king's service a number of yearsyas at the end of that year he
was representing the king at the court of the Emperor Frederick

Barbarossa , a task which would have required the skills of a trusted

6
official .

Cumin returned to England and in the summer of II66 he accompanied
T

Henry II to Brittany . In November of this year he was sent by the king
on a diplomatic mission to Rome in the company of Ralph de Tamworth . The
envoys were successful in obtaining a promise from the pope that he
would send a mission of legates with full powers to resolve the dispute
between the king and LecketB: shortly after this visit to Rome Cumin
fell out of favour with the pope and was accused of being indiscreet
about his mission,and in particular of showing a letter of the pope to
Guido de Cremona,the antipopeg: Alexander III wrote to his legates
informing them of the charge against Cumin and instructing them that if
it proved to be true they were to deal severely with the king's

10.
ambassador . The outcome of this incident is not known}but Cumin

5. Cal.Chart.Rolls. 1300-1326 , p. 270,contains an inspeximus of this
charter to Burton Priory.

6. J. C. Robertson , ed. Materials for the History of Thomas becket,
(R.5. 1875-85),vol.5,p.59 . The supporters of becket wrote that they
were worried at the length of Cumin's stay at the court .

7+ Round, Cal.Doc.Franqg’pp. 271-2 . John Cumin is now referred to as
‘Magister? .

8. Robertson, Materials, vol.6, p. 68.
9. ibid. p. 200«

|
I0. ibid. .....aliud quoque nobis insinuatim est , quod Johannes Cumin
omnia rescripta letterarum nostrarum , quas a vobis obtinuit Guidoni
Cremensi monstravit , et sibl secreta nostra delexit.'




was in further trouble with the pope early in II68,when he received

a papal letter ordering him to resign the Archdeaconry of Bath which
he had obtained through lay patronagel¥'The pope had been informed that
Cumin had taken the archdeaconry from a Master Baldwin who had been
appointed by the late bishop of Bath . The Pipe Rolls for II66 up to
1172 show that John Cumin was indeed in possession of the archdeaconry
of bath during the vacancy of the diocese when the temporalities were
in the king's hand ?2it seems possible that King Henry had ousted

the previous holder and granted the archdeaconry to his trusted
servant . Cumin is rarely called ' archdeacon of Bath'y but he does
appear to have held the position for at least six years,and perhaps

L35
until II82 when Feter of Blois became the archdeacon of rath .

The Pipe Rolls for II69-73 show that John Cumin was active as
an itinerant Justice in the counties of Hampshire , Wiltshire ,

Somerset , Devon and Gloucester , usually in the company of Reginald

14,
de Warenne . He was also custodian of the temporalities of the see

of Hereford from 1166 to II72 and accounted for the issues in the Pipe
Th,

Rolls for these years .

II. Robertson, Materials, Vol. &, pp. 422-3:.....quod tu ....Bathoniensiem
Archidiaconatum laicali auctoritate tibi vendicare praesumpsiti’

I2. Pipe Roll II167-68,p. 202 ; Pipe Roll II168-69,p. 168 contain
payments to John Cumin for his prebend in the diocese of bath .

13 Robinson, Early Career,pp96 7&; barly Archdeacons of Bath, in

I4. Pipe Roll 1169-70, pp. 64,102, 117, 126 . Pipe Roll 1170-71, pp.
15, 29, 28, &1 . Pipe Roll II71-72.pp. 74, I0I (With Gervase de Cornhill)
126 . Pipe Roll II72-3 pp.100 , I54 ( with Walter Map ) . Pipe Roll

1173-4, pp.23, 32, 123 .
I5. Pipe Roll 1166-7 p.76 . Pipe Roll I1167-8,F.II5,Pipe Roll 1168-9, p.

142 .Pipe Roll 1169-70,p. 59. Pipe Roll 1171- 72,p. 3. Fipe Roll 1172-3,
P.4I. Pipe Roll 1173-l4,p. I24 . Red Bk. Exc.I, pp. 4I, 49,




Towards the end of II70 Cumin was again sent to Rome on a
diplomatic mission . His task this time was to obtain absolution from
the pope for the Archbishop of York and the bishops of London and
Salisbury who had been excommunicated by Becket ?6ﬁe apparently was
in the middle of negotiations when the news of the archbishop's

murder was brought to Italy .

John Cumin was back in Normandy with the king in July II7I and
later in the same year resumed his activities as an itinerant justice
in Englandl?.lnformation concerning his movements for the next few
years 1s scarce but what there is of it is concerned with his
activities on behalf of the king . In II7?4-5 he again crossed the
channel on the king's businesiaénd in II77 he was sent by Henry to
Spain as head of a mission of three envoys to the kings of Castile

19.
and Navarre. Having visited these kings in order to receive their

reply to a proposal of Henry II concerning the question of the
Spanish succession ,Cumin and the other two diplomats were to visit
Ferdinand , king of Leon to inform him that the English king wished
to make a pilgrimage to the shrine of St.James at Compostella and

20
to obtain letters of safe conduct for him .

16. Robertson, Materials ,vol.7, p.476 . Cumin himself appears on a

list of those excommunicated by Becket around the same time  1ibid.

vol.6, p.602.

I7.R.W. Eyton, Court , household and itinerary of King Henry II
(1878) , p.I72 .

18. Pipe Roll II74-5,p.20I.

I9. W.Stubbs,ed. Gesta Regis Henrici Secundil pgenedicti Abbatis ,
(R.5.1867),vol.1, p. 157,.....et misit in Hyspaniam quosdam de
familiaribus suils , scilicet Magistrum Johannem Cumin , bertrannum de
Verdun et Robertum de Salobesbiria ad reges Hyspaniae !,

20. ibid. p. 157,




On his return to England Cumin again took up his judicial
fesponéibilitiessand at the Council of Windsor in II79 he was
appointed as a judge for northern England ?Iin the years I179-8I he
is fregently mentioned in the records as being responsible for the
transportation of the king's treasure from place to place 22.'He is
usually in the company of the chamberlain and on one occasion is
himself called ' chamberlain' ?Bin these years he was also custodian
of the Abgﬁy of Glastonbury,for which he regularly rendered

account .

John Cumin is mentioned as a prebendary of Hoxton in St.Paul's
London ?5But apart from this and the archdeaconry of Bath he does not eeem
to have achieved the accumulation of ecclesiastical benefices which
was so characteristic of royal clerks of the time . In the light of
this his promotion in II8I to the archbishopric of Dublin comes as
something of a surprise . However two factors make Cumin's rapid
elevation readily understandable . In the first place , as far as
royal policy in Ireland was concerned , it was vital that the
vacancy in such a strategically important Irish see should be
filled by a trusted servant of the English crown . Although Cumin's
service in England was concentrated in the judiciary he had proved his

worth to the king on at least three important diplomatic missions .

21. Gesta Henrici,I, pp. 238-9 ; Hovenden,vol,2,p. 191,

22. Pipe Roll I179-80,pp. 82, I37 ; Pipe Roll II80-8I,p.67.

23. Pipe Roll I180-81 p. 67 .

24, Pipe Roll 1180-81 ,pp. 15, 166G , Pipe Roll I181-2,pp. 114, I61
Un these latter occasions three clerks rendered account in his name .

25. Le.Neve Fasti, .p.55 There is no year mentioned for this provision.




Secondly., Cumin's election must be seen in the light of events in England ,
especially relations between Henry II and the English church during

the conflict with Becket and dfter the archbishop's death . It is
significant that Cumin remained a 'king's man' during a period when

the king especially appreciated loyal ecclesiastics . After the

immediate crisis of kecket's death had been weathered Henry II set

about what has been termed the ‘reconstruction of the English
episcopate:which resulted in the election of bishops with decided

royalist sympathieszé.John Cumin's election to Dublin can be

seen as part of this policy .

Cumin's service to the king during the Becket dispute ,
particular his custodianship of the bishopric of Hereford from 1166
to I1I72,was a vital factor in assuring his future promotion to the
episcopacy . A co-relation between the clerks whom Henry appointed
as custodians of vacant bishoprics during the years I1165-75 and
appointees to bishoprics in the later years of his reign has been
noticed ??John Cumin had to wait a 1little longer than Richard of
Ilchester and Geoffrey Ridel , but his reward when it came took
the form of appointment to a most important archbishopric and an

affirmation of the king's belief in his capabilities and trust in

his loyalty .

26. See. D.Walker,'Crown and episcopacy under the Normans and Angevins',
in Anglo-Norman Studies V (I982 ),p. 22I.

27. Raymond Foreville ,L‘Egliée et la royauté en Angleterre sous Henri
I1 Flantagenet , (Paris I93), p.370 .




b) JOHN CUMIN ARCHBISHOP OF DUBLIN II8I - I2I2 .

John Cumin was elected Archbishop of Dublin in the Abbey of
Evesham in September 11812?'}{15 movements immediately after the election
are not known . Gwynn speculated that he may have briefly visited
Dublin ,but this does not seem likelyz?.As Pope Alexander III had died
shortly before the election in Evesham it appears more probable that
Cumin remained with the king in England until the election of FPope
Lucius III was confirmed . Cumin then made his way to the new pope's
court at Velletri , arriving in February II82 . He was still in
deacon's orders,so he was first ordained to the priesthood on the

I3th March and a week later he was consecrated Archbishop of Dublin

30.
by the pope .

Pope Lucius 1ssued3§ confirmation to the new archbishop soon
after his consecration . %he bull confirmed to him the lands of the
see and the dioceses which made up the Province of Dublin . It also
included instructions on the wearing of the pallium and a prohibition of
certain abuses then apparently prevalent in the Dublin diocese . With
reference to the Btter, the detailed information suggests that it

was supplied by someone with firsthand knowledge of practices in

28. For a discussion of Cumin's election see below pp. I75-7 .

29. Gwynn, Cumin, pp.292-3 .

.

30. Gesta Henrici Secundi,vol.I, P.287 ; Hovenden,vol.2, p. 263 ;
Giraldus, Expugnatio, pp. 198-9. Both Giraldus and the compiler of

the Gesta state that Pope Lucius also made Cumin a cardinal . There is

no mention of this in any Roman document , no proof that Cumin ever

used the title and Lucius's confirmation to Cumin of April II82 addressed
him as ' venerabili fratri Johanni Dublunensi Archiepiscopo ' Pont.Hib,
Vol. I, p. 35 . Gwynn argues that Cumin may have been granted a
'temporary cardinalate, Cumin, p.295.

31. Pont.Hib. vol.I, pp.35-7 . Al.Reg. p. 9-10,




Dublin,but the identity of this person is not known . The prohibitions
are almost exclusively concerned with the holding of ecclesiastical
benefices and chglincies and can be summarized as follows .

a) No clerk of any order who has been granted for life any church
pertaining to the archbishopric is to create a charge on it .

b) No clerk or monk is to remove or institute a chaplain in any
church of the diocese without the archbishop's permission , unless by
papal privilege or ancient custom .

c) What the archbishop ordains with consent of his chapter is thereby

ratified .

d) No one is to assert hereditary claim to cemeteries or ecclesiastical

benefices in the diocese .

e) As some monks seek to oppose episcopal authority ( Porroquia quidam

monachorum ius suum episcopis auferre contendunt ) monks in the Dublin

province are not to hold priests'chapléinci&ior assume a priest's or
chaplain's duty or benefice without papal authority . Whatever

pertains to chaplaincies is to be reserved for priests .

f) The archbishop's licence is required for the appointmemt of priests'
chaplains in parish churches of the Dublin diocese .

g) Archiepiscopal assent is needed by the priest's chaplains before

they may waste , sell , pledge or alienate the possessions of their
churches .

h) The consent of the archbishop is required before any other archbishop,
or bishop may enter the Dublin diocese to hold meetings or deal with

the ecclesiastical affairs of the diocese , unless he is acting on

behalf of the pope .
The bull concludes with the usual prohibitions about alienation of

archiepiscopal lands and harassment of the church,with a threat of

excommunication for contraveners .




Having received this very comprehensive confirmation from Pope
Lucius Cumin started his return to England . He next appears in
Caen in Normandy where he attended on the king at his Christmas
courtB?'There then occurs an extended gap in the records during
which his movements are not known . It is possible that he paid a
short visit to his diocese for a formal enthronement in Holy Trinity,
but there is no evidence for this . In August II84 he was present with
the king at Reading ?BAnd after this council he was , according to
two sources , dispatched to Ireland to prepare the way for Prince

4.
John's forthcoming visit .

Cumin was present in Waterford in April II85 to greet John and
it was in Waterford that the archbishop received his first grant of
land from John . This took the form of a gift to the archbishop
of one carucate of land near the church of St.Kevin outside the
walls of Dublin,and a tenement with the site of a mil%s: The land

was granted to the archbishop and his successors in augmentum ipsius

archiepiscopatus . It seems probable that having become familiar

with the extent of his diocese Cumin was not satisfied with its
size . When Prince John arrived in Dublin himself a few months later

he granted to the archbishop the bishopric of Glendalough , on account

32. Gesta Henrici Secundi ,vol I, p.291.

1
33. ibid. p.317,...Ubi [l.e Reading]congregati erant fere omnes episcopi
Angliae. Praeterea interfuerunt illi congregationi Johannes Cumin ,
Archiepiﬁcopus Divelinae , et sanior pars cleri et comitum et baronum

Angliae .
34. Gesta Henrici Secundi ,vol.I. p.320 ; Giraldus, Expugnatio,pp. 198-9,

35. For the most accurate text of this charter as well as the other
charters granted by Prince John to Cumin see G.Mac Niocaill,'The
charters of John Lord of Ireland to the See of Dublin) in Rep.Nov.

3 (1961 -4), pp. 282-305.
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36.
of the smallness of the population and poverty of the Dublin church .

The charter listed the lands , revenues , churches and tithes of the

diocese of Glendalough , all of which were granted at this time . 37+

Archbishop Cumin remained in Dublin after John's return to
England and seriously began the work of administering his diocese and
province . One of his first acts was the calling of a provincial council
in Dublin . According to Giraldus Cambrensis the council opened on
Laetare Sunday (30th March) II86 in Holy Trinity and was attended by
the suffragans and major religious superiors of the province'. The
opening sermon on the church's sacraments was given by the archbishop
himself ; on the second day the Cistercian Abbot of Baltinglass Albin
O'Molloy preached a sermon on clerical chastity and on the third day

38.
Giraldus was invited to preach .

The canons of the council are preserved in a confirmation of
Fope Urban III dated March 5th 118?3?.In the introduction Urban states
that the archbishop had sent the decrees for approval and had mentioned
that the people whom he was sent to govern were badly instructed in
divine and sacred laws in ancient times,and even in the preient day
were not fully reformed in the ways of probity and justice. gﬁe canons

which are summarized below provide essential information , particularly

on the pastoral concerns of the new archbishop and his Irish suffragans .

36. Mac Niocaill, Charters, p. 285, 2.....pro raritate populi et
paupertate ecclesie Dublinensis .

37. For a full account of the unification of Dublin and Glendalough
see Appendix no. 1. below .

38. Giraldus, De Rebus a se gestis, Qpera,I, pp.65-6 ....in media
quadragesima , scilicet ad Laetare Jerusalem , Johannes Dublinensis

archiepiscopus , convocatis suffraganeis episcqpisDublinensibus in
ecclesia Sanctae Trinitatis consilium teneret .

39. Gwynn, Arch. Hib. pp. 39-44 ; Pont.Hib. 1, no. If pp. 48-52 .

40. Pont. Hib. I, no.I6 p. 48 .
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a) The first canon deals with the proper furniture of the altar , the
necessity for an altar stone , clean altar cloths , good quality
chalices and proper facilities for the priest to wash and keep the
equipment .

b) Regulations for the construction of a fixed baptistry in each church
and the provision of a vessel specifically for pouring water at baptism ,
which is to be put to no other use .

c) No one is to be buried in a cemetery unless it has been blessed by
a2 bishop and no one is to be buried without the presence of a priest .
d) Mass is not to be celebrated in chapels constructed by laymen
without the permission of the bishop of the diocese .

e) No priest or deacon is to have any woman in the house unless she is
his mother, sister or of an advanced age .

f) No priest is to exact a fee for extreme unction or burial.

g) Any priest who accepts a benefice from lay hands and who does not
renounce it after three warnings is to be excommunicated and deprived
of the benefice .

h) No bishop is to ordain a priest without letters from his proper
bishop or archdeacon and no one is to be ordained without a definite
title to a benefice .

i) It is forbidden to confer two orders on anyone on the same day .

j) Lay people living in fornication are to be compelled to marry good

spouses .

k) No one born out of wedlock is to be ordained or considered as an
heir to father or mother unless the parents subsequently marry .

1) Tithes are to be paid on grain , hay , breeding of animals , flax ,
wool , fruit and all things that are renewed anually and also on

military exploits , trade ,craftsmanship and hunting .



j) Bowmen and archers who sell their services for gain are to be

excommunicated and deprived of christian burial .

These canons , if they accurately reflect the state of the Dublin

Province in II86 , show a diocesan and parochial structure comparable

to that found in England at the Bameugime. There are references to parishes
tithes, archdeacons , chaplains and other diocesan officials . Although

it was usual to borrow from other conciliar statutes , these ones have

a definite Irish tone and frequently refer to the Irish church and

its special problems,as is evident in the canons referring to clerical
celibacy . It seems likely that for the most part they were Archbishop

Cumin's own work with some help from the suffragan bishops and possibly

other prominent churchmen such as Ailbe 0'Molloy .

Notwithstanding the fact that the canons were devised for an
Irish Province , they reflect the three main topics of Engligh
statutes of the same period as identified by Cheney . Firstly , they
give guidance on the nature and administration of the sacraments for
clergy and laity . Secondly they contain rules for the discipline
of ecclesiastical officials and beneficed clergy and lastly they
define the duties of parishioners in matters of tithe offerings %2.

When the Frovincial canons of 1186 are combined with the papal

prohibitions obtained by Cumin in II82 , they confirm that

41. For a full knglish translation of the canons see M.P.Sheehy ,
When the Normans came to Ieland , pp.. 40-44 ; see also Watt,Irish

Church,pp. 150-57 .

42. See C.R.Cheney , The earliest English diocesan statutes , in
E.H.R. vol. 75 (I960) , pp. I-29 ; The legislation of the English
church , in E.H.R. vol. 50 (I935) , pp. I93-224 , 23R5-417 .
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the new archbishop of Dublin was determined that the machinery of
Anglo-Norman ecclesiastical administration should be introduced and

maintained in his diocese and province .

However the archbishop did not regard his presence in the
diocese as essential for bringing about these changes . He left

Dublin sometime during II86 and was with the king in Guildford at
43,
Christmas II86-7 . Early in II87 he was sent by the king to meet

the papal legate Octavian in London and it was possibly on this

occasion that he sent his provincial canons to the pope for his

Ly,
approval . In June II88 Cumin appeared in Normandy acting as an
Ls,

ambassador between the king and Prince Richard . It is unlikely that
he returned to Dublin before September 1189 when he was present at
the coronation of Richard at Winchester . ﬁe had not completely
forgotten about the affairs of his province, however,as in 1189

he was 1in correspondence with the pope concerning the bishop of
Kildare . This bishop had apparently allowed certain priests who
had been excommunicated by Archbishop Cumin to celebrate mass in
his diocese .uz;pe Clement III wrote in March II90 in reply to

the archbishop's query instructing him to assert his metropolitan

powers of discipline .

43, Gesta Henrici Secundi, vol.2, p.3 .

Ly, ibid. p. 4 .

Ls. Eyton , Itinemry.Henry II , pp.287-8 .

46. Hovenden, vol. 3, p. 8.

47. Pont. Hib. vol. I,noJ9 p.63. Giraldus tells of certain mglo-
Norman clerks who were excommunicated by the archbishop during

the provincial synod of Dublin on account of their contumacy .

De. Rebus, Upera I, F.66 . However,these clerks came from the diocese
of Ferns and one of the clerks mentioned in Fope Clement's letter is

called ' John priest of Donaghmore ' .
LFB. Pont- Hibo VOllI'no. Igp. & ®
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between August 1189 and early II90 the Count of Mortain issued
a series of charters :o the archbishop of Dublin granting lands and
confirming privileges ?. The first charter , which was issued from
Tewkesbury, granted Archbishop Cumin half a cantred of land which had
belonged to the Abbey of Glendalough and which bordered on the
archbishop's castle of Ballymore ?O.The second charter granted him the
land of Coillacht in exchange for twenty librates of land which Frince
John had previously granted to him5f. The land of Coillacht was
to be held by service of one knight and the grant contained the condition
that if the Count should come to Ireland he would be allowed to take

this land back if he wished , exchanging it for land of equal
52.

value .

The third charter granted the archbishop the custody of the
forest of Leinster and stated that Cumin had given the Count sixty
53.
marks of silver for this grant and the previous grant of Coillacht .

The archbishop was to be allowed to take what he wished from the forest

without seriously depleting it ( ...sine manifesta foreste illius

destructione ) . Two more charters followed . Cne confirmed to the

archbishop all the possessions of the see of Dublin and the other

L9. For the dating of these charters see Mac Niocaill , Charters , p.289 .
50 . ibid . P . 288-9 -

5I. ibid. p. 290-I .

52. This is one of the few examples of land granted to the church to
be held by knight service . See A.J.Otway-Ruthven , 'Knight service in

Ireland ', in R.S.A.I1.J. vol.89 (1959) , pp. I-I5 , esp. pp. I-3 .

53. Mac Niocaill, Charters , p 293 .
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54,
confirmed all its liberties . The latter grant contained the added

privilege that the archbishop should have a court and justice of his men

throughout the whole land of Ireland (....per totam terram Hibernie ...

tam in eivitatibus quam in terris exterioribus . ) . The final

charter in this series was issued at Marlborough and granted to the

archbishop and his successors a market every Saturday at BaQymore

which was to have all the liberties and customs which usually pertain
55+

to a market .

Armed with this impressive collection of grants and confirmations the
Archbishop returned to his see in II90 . There followed a period of
intense activity on the part of Cumin,who set about the administration
and particularly the reconstruction of his diocese with determination .
In II9I he issued a charter concerning the elgvation of the parish
church of St. Patrick's to collegiate status ? %his church was situated
in the land which had been granted to the archbishop by Prince John
in II85 and it was here that the archbishop also began the building
of the archiepiscopal palace of St. Sepulchre's5?.The consecration
ceremony of 5t. Fatrick's took place on the I7th March 1192 and was
an important event,attended by the a;ghbkﬂrops of Armagh and Cashel

as well as many other ecclesiastics .

54, Mac Niocaill , Charters , pp. 293-99.

55. ibid. p. 300,

56. Dignitas Decani, p. I.

57. Al. Reg. pp. 170-2 .

58. Annals of Dudley Loftus,Marsh's Library MS. z.4.2.7 , £. 65 .
For a full discussion of the foundation of Ut. Patrick's and Archbishop

Cumin's role in it see below pp. 133-8 .
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Most of the important acts of Cumin's episcopacy , can be dated
to the period II9I -6 when he appears to have maintained more or less
constant residence in his diocese . It was during these years that he
became involved in a dispute with Mael Isu Ua Mail Chiarain,the bishop
of Clogher,concerning the jurisdiction of the Augustinian house of
All Hallows , Dublin. Ua Mail Chiarain claimed jurisdiction over All
Hallows because his predecessor in the bishopric of Clogher had

exercised it ?9éowever his predecessor had been superior of the
Augustinian community of Louth Abbey as well as bishop,and as Ua Mail
Chiarain did not hold this position he lost his case . A compromise
was worked out whereby Cumin allowed Ua Mail Chiarain to hold
possession of the Church of All Hallows until his death,when it .
would revert to the archbishopé?.The terms of the grant which Cumin
had obtained from Pope Lucius in II82 show that the archbishop was
very reluctant to allow any member of the Irish episcopate to

perform any spiritual functions in his diocese and it was probably

in order to prevent such a thing happening that he severed the ties
63

between All Hallows and Louth .

This same consideration must have been foremost in his mind when
he transferred the Augustinian convent of Crace Dieu to a residence
in Lusk and thereby effectively refounded it . The convent had

been affiliated to its mother house of Clonard in the diocese of

59. See M.T. Flanagan,' St.Mary's Abbey , Louth and the introduction
of the Arrouaisian observance into Ireland ,) in Clogher Record vol.IO0

(1980), pp. 224-7 .
60. The text of the agreement can be found in Crede Mihi f. 94v , and

in Al.Reg. p. 35.in the latter thepishop of Clogher is given the initial
'R', which does not correspond to any known bishop of Clogher at this

period .

61 . Pont. Hib. I, no. 1I,p: 37 .
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62.
Meath ; the jurisdiction of this convent was thus outside the

ecclesiastical province of Dublin . By moving the convent and generously
endowing it Cumin cut these ties of affiliation . The convent was

granted the church of Newcastle , the rectories of Portrane , Westpalstown
and St. Audoens , tithes of wool from the archbishop's manor of

ballymore , tithes from the archbishop's mill at Swords and a flagon

of ale from every brew in Lusk ?Béhe archbishop at around the same

time granted lands and tithes to the Augustinian nuns of the convent

64 .
of Timolin, Co. Kildare .

During this period Cumin received three more grants from the
Count of Mortain . The first , which was issued at Nottingham on the
27th December Il9zyrepeated the grant of the see of Glendalough to
the see of Dublin ?.The unification was to take place at the next
vacancy of the see of Glendalough . The other two dharters were issued
on 26th July II93 at Wareham and granted to the archbishop a fair
in his manor of Swords and the church of Crumlin for his church of
St. Patrick's .665he archbishop received one confirmation from Rome

during this period ; this was in II93 when Celestine III confirmed to

him the Count of Mortain's grant of the capellapia of 5t. Kevin of
67.
Glendalough .

62. See M.T.Flanagan, Introduction of the Arrouasian observance, p. 232 ;
Archdall, Monasticon, vol. 2 , p.8k4.

63. Al.Reg. pp. 19, 3I, 49 .
64. ibid. pp. 32, 3 .
65. Mac Niocaill , Charters , pp. 300-0I .

66. ibido pP' 303-‘05 ™
67. Font. Hib. I, no.27 PP.77-8
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The reason that most of the important acts of John Cumin's
episcopacy can confidently be dated to the peried II9I-6 is
that the archbishop is known to have been exiled from his diocese
for a period of nine years - from II97 until I206 . When he finally
returned to Dublin he was advanced in years and during the six years
until his death in I2I2 he did not display the energy which characterized

his early period of residence in the diocese .

The archbishop was first exiled from his diocese as a result of a

serious conflict with the Irish justiciar and his officers which
culminated in the confiscation of some of the archiepiscopal lands.
Subsequent to this the conflict was prolonged by King John who refused
to accept the archbishop back into his favour and order the return of
these lands . During the course of the dispute other factors became
involved,such as grants which the king made to persons and institutions
in the diocese of Dublin during the archbishop's enforced exile .

The agreement which was worked out between the king and the archbishop
in I205 contains details of many of these tangential issues, the
regulation of which appeared to be necessary before the archbishop

68.

could contemplate a return to his diocese.

The facts surrounding the archbishop's conflict and exile can
69.

be gathered from the account given by Roger of Hovenden in his Chronicle,

and also from the numerous letters written by Pope Innocent III to the

68. Rot:Lit.Pat. I, ps 56 . C.D.I. p. 42, no. 276 .

69. Hovenden, Chronicle, vol.4, pp. 29-30 .
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70.
king on the archbishop's behalf. Neither of these sources refer to

the initial cause of the dispute ; the only indication is a phrase
contained in the I205 agreement . In the first section of the lengthy
letter fromKing John to the Irish justiciar informing him of the
agreement the king mentions that dissension first arose between the
king and the archbishop respecting foresters and other king's officers ?I.
It would seem therefore that the dispute was in some way connected
with the question of feeding the king's foresters , a question whigg

arose later in John's episcopacy and also in that of his succesor.

both Hovenden and Innocent III agree in placing the blame for

initiating the dispute on the head of Hamo de Valognes,who was appointed
73.
Justiciar of Ireland by John around II95 . Hovenden states that

in 1197 Hamo de Valognes and other men of Count John greatly injured
74 .
the archbishop of Dublin . The archbishop could not bear to see the

injuries done to him and his church go unpunished and he therefore

chose exile . He left his diocese having excommunicated the offenders

70. The first letter from Innocent concerning this issue was to the Count of

Mortain in September 1198 Pont. Hib. I, no. 34, pp. 96-8 ; subsequent
letters to King John were sent in February 1203 ibid. I, no.54,p. 122 ;
May 1203 ibid. I, no. 55,pp. I23-4 and December I204 ibid. I, no. 62,
pp. I3I-3 . See P.J.Dunning, Pope Innocent III and Ireland, (Fh.D. thesis
N.U.I. (U.C.D.), 1960) and C.R.Cheney , Fope Innocent III and England

(Stuttgart 1976),pp. 28I-2 , 304n.

7L. Ret.Lit. Pat. p« 56,

72. For details of the dispute between Archbishop Henry of London and
Thomas kitz Adam , the king‘s forester in Ireland see Chapter 2 below

pp. 51-5

73. Rich.sayles. Admin. of Irl. pp. 74-5 .

oly Hovenden , Chronicle , vol. 4,pp. 29-30.
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75
and placed his archbishopric under interdict . Cumin went to King

Richard and Prince John but was unable to obtain justice or the

restitution of what had been taken away from him .

Hamo de Valogne's behaviour with regard to other ecclesiastical
affairs also drew complaints . In II98 Pope Innocent wrote to the
Count of Mortain asking him to help the bishop of Leighlin to gain
possession of his see,which had been seized by the justiciar ?6in

this letter the pope also referred to the dispute with John Cumin
and claimed that the Count was detaining the archbishop of Dublin

in exile in Normandy ??.The wording of this letter would suggest that
the archbishop was being forcibly detained in France and prevented
from returning to his Irish see . However the appearances of Cumin

in the records from 1197 on would imply that the archbishop was
moving freely around with the royal court &nd was in constant touch

with Richard and John both in England and in France .

From April 1I97 until May II98 John Cumin was with King Richard
?8- ?9'

in Normandy . He was present at King John's coronation in II99 and

75. ibid. p. 30 . Hovenden relates how the archbishop ordered all the
crosses and images of the cathedral church to be laid on the groundand
surrounded by thorns in order to strike fear into the hearts of the
wrongdoers and put a stop to their presumptions over the goods of the
Church:......ut sic malefactores illi terrerentur et a voluntate saeviendi

in bona ecclesiae revocaretitur °'.

76, Pont. Hib. I, no. 3%, pp. 96-8 .

77. ibid. p. 97'. ....cum tu dictum Dublinensem Archiepiscorum in
Normannie partibus exulem detineres .

78. On I7th April 1197 he witnessed a charter of Richard's at Rouen and

on May 1198 another charter at Gemeticas . J.H.Round,ed. Calender of
Documents preserved in France, 1, 918-1206 (1899),pp. 7I, 195 . On

both occasions the Archbishop's name appears first on the list of testators.

79, Hoveden , Chronicle , vol. 4 p. 89 .
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80.

he spent the year I200 travelling around with the king's court . He was

in Berkeley in October I200 where he witnessed a charter in the company of
Hamo de Valognes (who was no longer justiciar of Ireland)a?.ln November
of the same year he was among the prelates who witnessed the submission
of William of Scotland at Lincolna?.Cumin was present at the formal
coronationsor ‘crown wearing' of the king and queen in Canterbury in
March I20I géd was one of the bishops who witnessed the miracles

occuring at the tomb of St. Wulfstan in Worcester cathedral during Lent

84.
in I202 .

The archbishop of Dublin appears on this evidence to have been
pursuing a lifestyle similar to that of any high ecclesiastic away from his
diocese . He followed the endless peregrinations of the king's court and
was present at important secular and ecclesiastical events . On the other
hand , the situation of the archbishop as described by Pope8§nnocent in his
letter to the king of February I203 is a very different one ..Firstly the
pope accused King John of harbouring an unjustified resentment against
the archbishop in the years before his elevation to the English throne
which had resulted in the archbishop's exile . The pope went on to say

that despite warnings from Rome ( this 1is presumably a reference to

80. Round , Cal.Docs. France , pp. 79 , 474 .

81I. This wasa confirmation by the king of the possessions of St.Mary's

Abbey , Dublin . Ch.St.Mary's, vol.I , p.89 ; Rot. Chart. I, pp.77-€ .
It is possible that it was at this time that Hamo de Valognes made his

peace with John Cumin and granted him lands in Ireland in reparation .
Al .Reg. p. 27 .
82. Hovenden , Chronicle , vol. 4, p. I4I .

83. ibid. p. 160 .

84. R.R.Darlington , ed. The Vita Wulfstapni of Willjam of Malmesbury ,
(Camden Soc. 1928), vol. 40, p. I20 .

85. Font. Hib. I, no. 54, p. 122 . Full text can be found in CheneyéSemple
selected letters Innocent III1, p. 4Eff .
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the II98 letter) the princelad not ®ceived him back into favour . This
situation continued after John's coronation and despite constant prayers
and entreaties he had not let the archbishop return to his church and
his sequestrated property had not been returned to him . Finally the
archbishop had been banned from the entire realm and forced to beg

for his needs . The pope reminded King John that the archbishop was

a feeble old man ; if nothing else would move him he ought to have

86.
special pity for the archbishop's age .

Innocent's second letter of May 1203 contains very much the same
information on the plight of the exiled Cumin and adds that the king
had despoiled the archbishop's temporalities of Dublin and had mandated
his justiciar in Ireland to hand over the spiritualities of the see to
the archbishop of Cashela?.The King is warned in this letter that if
he does not receive the archbishop back into his favour within one
month and restore his possessions to him he will be excommunicated .
At the same time the pope wrote to the Archbishop of Canterbury and

the bishops of London and Ely instructing them to pronounce ecclesiastical

censure if the king failed to do justice to the archbishop of Dublin
88.
within a month .

1
86. Pont. Hib. I, no. 54, p. 122 ....quinimmo extra universum
regnum tuum cum iam senex sit et decrepitus pro cuius senectute ,
debueras specialiter misereri cogitur vite necessaria mendicare .

8?: Pont. Hibo I' no. 55' ppo 123-1" .

88. ibid. I, no. 56, p. 124,
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The only way of reconciling Innocent's claim that the archbishop
had not been in royal favour since at least II97 with the facts of
Cumin's presence with the court from II97 to I20I is to conclude
that there were two distinct stages in the conflict . In the first
stage ,which followed his flight from Dublin in 1197 ,Cumin sought
satisfaction from King Richard and then King John . He pursued the
royal court from France to England and back again seeking to have
his grievances redressed . The second stage,which probably started late
in I20I,was a period of open conflict with King John which resulted
in Cumin leaving the court and eventually leaving the kingdom .
Giraldus Cambrensis reported that he met the exiled archbishop of

Dublin in Paris in the summer of I203 and that he was staying in that

89.
city .

Innocent's letters in I203 appear to have had some effect on
King John . In July of that year he issued a mandate to all the faithful
of his realm that the archbishop of Dublin and his men were not to be
injured , as long as they did no injury to the king ?Oéarly in I204
the king wrote from Nottingham informing the archbishop that he could

come to him in safety and that he would be allowed to cross over to his
9I.
see in Ireland on the king's safe conduct .

89. Giraldus Cambrensis, De jure et statu Menevensis Ecclesiae , Opera 3,
Pe 297, ¢vveees(Giraldug) pervenit in Parisius ...ubi et virum venerabilem
Dublinensém Archiepiscopum Johannem a quo dilectgs erat perendinantem et
propter ecclesiae suae causas exulantem invenit .

90. Rot.Lit.Pat.I, p. 32,

91- ibido Pc 380
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By July I204 the king had apparently been in contact with Cumin and
some compromise had been worked out . King John wrote at this time to the
Irish justiciar instructing him to cause John Archbishop of Dublin , or
his messenger to have seisin of the castle of Baldmor , the forest of
Coillacgt and other lands of which he had been deseised by the king's
order ? fhe king informed the justiciar that the archbishop would be

back in his diocese by the ensuing feast of all Saints ( Ist.November

1204) .

For some reason this reconciliation was not effected and in December
I204 Pope Innocent again wrote to King John instructing him to take the
Archbishop into his favour and restore the lands of his see to him ?3.
The pope stated that the dispute had now been going on for seven years
during which time King John had repeatedly been asked to redress
the grievances of the archbishop . The pope also referred to the
temporary reconciliation, saying that the archbishop had relied on a
royal promise to make amends and had begun to make preparations to
return to his diocese,but that the king kept him waiting and delayed him
by making vain promises , so that in the end the archbishop was
forced to return to Parisg?'Pope Innocent rebuked the archbishop of
Canterbury and the bishops of London and Ely for not imposing an interdict
on John as they had been instructed to do, and he threatened this time

to place the whole province of Dublin under interdict.

92. T.D.Hardy,ed. Rotuli de liberate ac de misis et praestitis Regnante
Johanne ,(I1884),p. 105 .

93. Pont.Hib. I, no. 62, pp. I31-3

o4, ibid. +....sed cum idem archiepiscopus de tua promissione confidens
reverti vellet ad propria et tecum fecerit per aliquot dies moram ac tu
ipsum de die in diem protraxeris vanis verbis nec velles ei quod promiseras

adimplere :
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Soon after Pope Innocent wrote this letter , it appears that moves
to effect a reconciliation were under way again . It was around this
time that Archbishop Cumin wrote to the Prior of Holy Trinity in Dublin
informing him that due to the mediation of the Archbishop of Canterbury
( Hubert Walter ) a settlement was being worked out between himself

95
and the king . Cumin wanted the prior and the archdeacon of Dublin
to come to him at once with their seals as it was not possible to

exchange any of the lands of the see which had belonged to the previous

archbishop without their counsel and assent .

Eventually in I205 a final concord was reached between the parties.
In January of that year John issued safe conduct for the archbishop who
was presumably returning once again from Paris ?6Cum1n was with the
king again and obviously back in the royal favour from July of that
year,when King John granted him custody of the forest of Maulington.g?'
In Beptemtgg the archbishop witnessed two charters of the king issued
from Bristol.and in December King John wrote to Meyler FitzHenry,his
justiciar in Ireland , informing him that on the pope's petition he
had pardoned the archbishop of Dublin and received him into his grace?g'
The justiciar was instructed to see that the archbishop had seisin of
all his lands and liberties as he had had when dissension first arose .
In this letter the king also made reference to specific disputes which

had arisen over lands which he had granted to individuals and institutions

95. Reg. Nov. p. 258,
96. Rot.Lit.Pat. p. 49.

97. Rot.Lit. Claus. I, pt. 2, p. 426 .

98. Rot. Chart. I, p. I58,

99. Rot. Lit.Pat. I, p. 53 ; Rot.Lit. Claus. I, pt.2, p. 68,
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during Cumin's exile . For example , the land of Lisloe which the Abbey
of St. Mary's had received from the king in I200 was to be returned to
the archbisho%o?'The forest of Coillacht,which appears to have been

an important issue between the two parties,was to be returned to the
king who agreed to give compensation of 200 marks of silver to the
archbishop . Half of this sum was given to him in England and the

justiciarlgﬁé instructed to pay him the other half on his arrival in

Ireland .

John Cumin returned to his diocese in I206 and the remaining six
years of his episcopate passed off without incident . He must have been
very old by this time . Even if he was only in his mid twenties when
he started to perform responsible duties as a royal official , and it
is probable that he was older than this , he would have been in his

seventies when he returned from exile to Dublin .

There does not appear to have been any further problem with King
John,who spent a good deal of the period I1206-I0 embroiled with the
Canterbury church in particular and the English church in general .

In 1207 the king granted to the archbishop that he might have a deer

leap at Kilcopsentan and that he might have all liberties in that vill -

In particular the archbishop was to be free from feeding the foresters

S0 thak vill . e

100. The charter which granted this land to St. Mary's was witnessed by
John Cumin himself in Berkeley in uctober 1200 . Rot.Chart. 1 , pp. 77-8 ;

Ch.St. Mary‘'s , I. p. 89 .

I0I. Rot.Lit.Pat. p. 56 .

102. ibid. p. 78 .
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Giraldus Cambrensis wrote of the first Anglo-Norman archbishop of

Dublin :
He was a learned and eloquent man who , because of his love for
Justice and his proper concern for the office to which he had
been appointed , would have made outstanding improvements in the
condition of the Irish church , if his spiritual sword had not
been continually checked by the sword of the temporal power ,
the power of the priesthood by that of the king and his virtue
by men's envy . I103.
Although Giraldus was all too ready to see everything in terms of a
war between' the minions of Caesar and the soldiers of Christ' v A%
is difficult not to agree in part at least with his assessment of
Cumin’s episcopacy . In his early career there is no doubt that Cumin
placed the demands of his king before the demands of Christ , but as
a member of a minor family , in deacon's orders and totally dependent
on the royal generosity for advancement , this is hardly surprising .
After his appointment to Dublin,however, he began to take his duties
as an ecclesiastic very seriously . This is evident from the papal
bull he received in II82 and the constitutions of his II86 provincial
synod . His actions during his main period of residence in his
diocese show an abiding desire to redefine the boundaries of
his see and ensure that no other jurisdiction infringed upon it ;but
also there is evidence for his willingness to negotiate and co-operate

I04.
on occasions with representatives of the Irish church .

John Cumin has been treated rather harshly by his biographers ,

mainly because the picture of him which was painted by Becket's supporters

remains an enduring one . Some have noted, with a certain amount

103| Expug- Hibl P. 198_9 .

104 . For example, the presence of Irish archbishops and bishops at the
consecration of St. Patricks in 1192 (see above p.I5) and the agreement

with the bishop of Clogher ( ibid. p. 16 ) .
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of satisfaction , the divine retribution which awaited Cumin when as
an archbishop he found himself , like Becket , exiled from his church
and appealing to Rome for help . The similarity between Cumin and
Becket does not go further than that, however . The ecclesiastical
liberties which John Cumin so resolutely defended were related to the

lands of his archdiocese rather than to the dignity of his episcopal

office .

John Cumin was a protégé of King Henry II and although he
received a stream of grants from John as Count of Mortain , the
relationship between them deteriorated when John was elevated to the
English throne . This was probably due to King John's character rather
to any action on the part of the archbishop . The conflict appears to
have been caused by the king's reluctance to honour the grants he
had previously made to the Dublin church . Thus the loyal servant of
the crown was forced to oppose the king in order to defend the

possessions and liberties of his see .

During his troubled episcopacy , the archbishop did not forget
his family . The Cumins became established in Dublin and due to his
generosity were later prominent landholders in the Dublin ariEB: The
first Anglo-Norman Archbishop of Dublin died in October I2I2 'old and
full of days ' . He had begun the process of introducing the complex

machinery of Anglo-Norman ecclesiastical administration into the Dublin
106.

province , a process which was to be completed by his successors .

105. See E.St.John brooks, The Early Irish Comyns', in R.S.A.I.J. vol.86
(1956),pp.170-86 . As early as II85-90 , the prior of Holy Trinity

with the assent of Archbishop John granted the land of Kinsaley to a
John Cumin . B.M.Add.Charter 24487 .

I06. Ch.St.Mary's 2,p.279'... Obiit Johannes , archiepiscopus Dublinie,

senex et plenus dierum .'
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a) HENRY OF LONDON . EARLY CAREER

Henry of London , the second Anglo-Norman archbishop of
Dublin,was one of the most active and controversial occupdnts of that
see in the thirteenth century . E.St.John. Erooks in his thorough
study of Henry's antecedents has proved that he was a member of the
blund family of London and a son of Bartholomew Blund,an alderman of
that city : Henry is never called 'Blund' in contemporary records =
but his presence as a witness to a charter granting alms for

Bartholomew :lund's soul , as well as his concern for and generosity to

various members of the Blund family make the link incontrovertible.

Henry ‘'clerk of London' makes his first appearance in the records

¢.1190,when Hugh Nonant bishop of Coventry instituted him into
possession of the church of Mayfield in Staffordshir;+: Henry was

still in possession of this church in II98 when the bishop of 5
Coventry increased the annual pension payable to the parson of Mayfield.

He also acquired the archdeaconry of Stafford in this period and is

I, E.st.John Erooks ,'Archbishop Henry of London and his Irish

connections,' in R.5.A.I.J. vol. 60 (I9 0 I-22 . See also Ronan
'Anglo Norman Dublin, l.m.R. vol.45(I935)pp E85 504,576-95 and the en%ry

in DNB ( under'Loundres’ i which however contains very little on the
archbishop's early career .

2. The only known reference to Henry being called 'leBlund' is contained
in an inquisition of 1293 when Archbishop John of Sandford states that
certain lands had been given to his predecessor in the see of Dublin,
Henry le Elund Flacita de Quo Warranto (Rec.Com.I8I8),pp. 7I3-I4 ,

For other members of the Blund family in Dublin see below pp. 150-I

3.5ee Brooks op.cit. pp. I-22.

L. A.5altmore, ed.Chartulary of Tutbury Priory', in Collections for a
History of Staffordshire, U4th series,vol. 4 (1962) no. I3, pp. 31I-2 .

5. ibid. no. 29, p. 42.
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called 'archdeacon' as early as II94 when he was involved in an

assize & noveldisseisin concerning land which he held in Hughendon,

6.
Buckinghamshire .

It is not clear when exactly Henry became involved in the royal

administration . In II95 he appears in the records as owing one
7

hundred pounds pro habenda benivolentia domini regis . This money was
8.

still owing in II96 and by II98 less than half of it had been paid.
His career seems to have taken off in the reign of King John .He

was , according to Gwynn 'trained in the harsh and often brutal school

9.
of King John's administration' . In 1199 Henry appears for the first

time as a royal justice itinerant visiting the counties of Oxfordshire ,
I0.

Gloucestershire , Herefordshire , Shropshire and Staffordshire .

For a period of time after this Henry was serving the king outside
i i 65

of England . In I200 he was with John in Normandy and the following

year he was sent with letters from the English king to the king of

12.
Navarre . Early in I202 he was among those witnessing on tehalf of

13,
King John the peace treaty with the king of Navarre.

6. Rotuli Curia Regis, ed. F.Palgrave (1835),vol.I, p. 55 .

7. Pipe Roll II95,p. I1E&9.

€. Chancellor's Roll for & Richard I, ed. D.M.Stenton (1935),p.52 .
Pipe Roll 1I198-9,p.I55.

9. A.Gwynn,'Henry of London , Archbishop of Dublin: a study in Anglo-
Norman statecraft' in Studies, (I949), pp. 295-306 , 389-402 , p.295.

J0. Pleas before the King or his Justices 1198-1202, vol. I, ed. D.M.
Stenton (Sel.Soc. I953),p.55 . Pipe Roll II199,pp. 40,4I,49,57 .

II. Rot. Chart. p. 75.
I2. Rot.Lit.Pat. p. 3.

13. Foedera, pp. 85-6.



It was in 1202 that Henry of London began the steady accumulation
of ecclesiastical benefices and offices so characteristic of royal
clerks . From France King John informed the bishop of London that
the archdeacon of Stafford had letters of presentation to the church of
Chesterhunt in Londonl?.The following year John confirmed to Henry
the deanery of the secular college of St. Mary of Shrewsbury with
the collation of the prebends therel?.Henry did not resign this deanery

16.
until 1226 .

In March I204 Henry had his first experience of Irish affairs
when he was sent along with Geoffrey Lutterel and William Fetit to
Ireland to hear the complaints of the justiciar Meyler Fitz Henry against
William de burghl?.The three justices were advised to associate with
and consult some of the king's subjects who were not connected with
either party in order to ascertain the truth of the charges . The
king had previously informed the justiciar that he was sending this

18.
trio to Ireland and that he (the justiciar) was to take their counsel.

I4. Rot.Lit.Pat. I, p.II .

I5. Rot.Chart. p. IIO.

I6. pat.Rolls I226-32 p.96 The church of St. Mary's went through an
extensive building phase in the years when Henry held the deanery and
it is thought that he may be represented on a capital in the arcade of
the north aisle of the church . This capital is beside one depicting a
crowned head,which is believed to represent King John . See. D.H.S.
Crannage , An Architectural account of the churches of Shropshire,

(Wellington I894-1912) , vol. 2, p. 949 and fig. 79 .
I17. Rot.Lit.Pat. p.39 . kBroks does not mention this early connection with

Ireland , nor does Gwynn who states 'There is nothing in the records
to associate the archdeacon of Stafford with Ireland before 1212'.

Henry of London, p. 296,

I8. Rot.Chart. p. I33 .
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At the same time the king also wrote to the clergy of Ireland

asking them to render him an aid on the advice of the justiciar , Walter
19.
de Lacy and Henry, archdeacon of Stafford . The prominent position

held by Henry in the king's esteem is clear from a correspondence with

Cathal Crobderg the king of Connaught , in which John informed him that

he was sending Meyler Fitz Henry and the archdeacon of Stafford,his
clerk to Connaught,and that he would abide by their decisions with

regard to the negotiations then in progress between the king of
20.
Connaught and himself.

In April I204 Henry was instructed to bring over to the king the
2L,

hostages of William de Burgh and the messengers of William de Lacy .
He probably left Ireland soon after receiving this mandate and was
handsomely rewarded on his return to the king . In September 1204

John granted to his faithful clerk I00 marks rent in the form of
22

the first prebend or church to fall vacant in the bishopric of Coventry

and soon after the archdeacon had letters of presentation to the
23.
church of Harenby in the diocese of Coventry . Later in the same
24‘

year he was granted the villa of Bescote by the king .

19. Rot:Chaxrt. p. I133.

20. Rot. de.Lib.p. 83 .

21. HOt.Lit.Pﬂ-t- P‘ 39.

22. ibid. p. 45 .
23, ibid. P 3B .

24, Rot.Lit.Claus. p.11.




Henry may have returned to Ireland briefly before May 1206 , when
the king informed the Irish justiciar that he had received 40 pounds
of his treasure of Ireland by the hand of the archdeacon of &afford ?5.
However for most of I205 and I206 Henry was active collecting tallages

for the king and hearing cases as a justice itinerant in various
26.
English counties .

In 1206 Henry was appointed custodian of the vacant diocese of
Exeter and he accounted for these temporalities until I2I2 ??ﬁuring
the period when England was under interdict many dioceses were vacant
for long periods of time and King John made many unsucessful attempts
to have his servants and clerks appointed to these sees . In January
I209 Pope Innocent III wrote to the prior and convent of Coventry , a
diocese which had been vacant for over a year , instructing them to
proceed to the election of a bishop,which they had been prevented
from doing by interference from the kin§8: Although King John was
warned not to obstruct the election he sent various representatives
to the monks to ask them to elect Henry of London,the archdeacon of

29.

S tafford who was apparently also a prebendary of Lichfield . The monks
30.

refused to do this and the diocese remained vacant until 1214.

25. Rot.Lit.Claus. I, p. 71.

26. Pleas before the King or his Justices 119&-1212, vol.3,ed.D.M.Stenton
(Sel.Soc. I966),p. ccxliii . Pipe Roll 1205, pp. 30,158, 276} Iipe
Roll I206,pp.5,83,13I-2, I42,I47, I58 .

27. Rot.Lit.Claus. I, pp. 75,86,94 . Pipe Roll 1207, p.75 ; Fipe Roll
1208, p.22I ; Pipe Rol11209, p.I49 ; Pipe Roll 1210,p.66 ; Pipe Roll

1211, pp. 272-3,

280 C.P-L.I,P-jz ™
29. Cheney, Innocent III and England, p. I30-133,

30. Hndbk.Brit.Chron. p. 233,
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After his rejection in Coventry Henry was chosen by the electors
31.

of Exeter,presumably at the king's request once again . However

the archbishop of Canterbury declared this election to be null and void
B2

and refused to consecrate Henry .

Although episcopal office eluded Henry , in the years 1207-9
he was rewarded for his service with an impressive number of other

ecclesiastical preferments . These included prebends in Exeter and

33.
Lincoln cathedrals and the deanery of another secular college , that

3.
of St.Mary in Stafford . This last appointment was particularly

lucrative as it included the patronage of about twelve

35.

prebends .

During these years Henry continued to function as a royal justice
3%.

and appears frequently in the records as a messenger of the king . In
July I209 the king demonstrated his trust in him once again when
the archdeacon of Stafford was one of those sent to meet the

envoys of Innocent III at Dover and negotiate with them concerning

37.
the interdict.

3I. Annales Monastici, vol. 3, p. 3I, vol. 4, p. 54 . Matthew Paris,
Hist.Angl,vol.2, p. 123 gives the date I2I0 for Henry's election but
he is called 'elect of Exeter' in 1209 Rot.de.Lib. p. I23 . See
Cheney, Innocent III and England, pp. 133 , I57.

32. Annales Monastici, vol. 4, p. 399 ,

33. Rot.Lit.Fat. pp. 75, 78 .

4. ibid. p. 70 ; Rot.Lit.Claus. I, p. 80

35. V.C.H. Stafford, vol. 3,pp.308-9. Henry appears to have held this
deanery until 1227 when the king granted it to a nephew of Peter de

Roches.
36, See for ex. Select Fleas,vol 3, p.cclxviii, Rot.Lit.Claus. I,p.I08,

I1I4. Rot.Lit.Fat. I, pp.91-2.
37. W.Stulbs, ed. Eistorical works of Gervase of Canterbury (R.5.1880),

VOlaZ. P e H HOt.de.Lib. P 123 B
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It seems very likely that Henry of London accompanied King John to
Ireland in I2I0,but the gap in the records between 1209 and I2II makes
this impossible to prove . A trusted clerk with previous experience
in Ireland would have been a definite asset to John on this visit.
It was probably at this time that the decision was made to elevate

Henry to the archbishopric of Dublin on the death of thethen aged

John Cumin .

Henry was with the king in Lambeth in May 121232£d in June he
was given I00 pounds out of the Exchequer as he was travelling to
Irelandj?john Cumin died in October I21I2 and Henry did not encounter
the same difficulties in Dublin as he had previously in Coventry
and Exeter . Henry 1is called archbishop of Iublin as early as
May 1213 22& two months before this the king had informed the
people living in the archdeaconry of Stafford that as Henry had been
confirmed as archbishop of‘Dublin he was granting the archdeaconry to

i
Robert of Gloucester L=,

Like John Cumin,his predecessor in Dublin,who had remained

faithful to King Henry II during the Becket dispute , Henry of

London had proved his usefulneéss and loyalty to John during the

36. Rot.Chart. p.186 .

39. Rot.Lit. Claus.pp. 118-9

L4O. Roger of Wendover's Flores Historiarum, ed. H.G.Howlett (R.5.I887),
vol. 2, pp. 75-6 . Henry witnesses King John's submission to the

papal legate at Dover .

4LI. Rot.Lit.Pat. p.102 ,
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troubled events of his reign and through the period of the interdict.
Although amply rewarded with benefices and prebends , Henry's promotion
to a bishopric was inevitable and his Irish experience was an added
bonus as far aste king was concerned .During the unstable period of
the interdict King John had made two attempts to secure a diocese for
his clerk but had been foiled , firstly by the monks of Coventry and
then by the archbishop of Canterbury . Henry's appointment to the
vacant archbishopric of Dublin in I2I2 provoked no discernible

hostility and he was confirmed by Pope Innocent III at some date before

42'
March 1213 .

42. Innocent’s letter of confirmation has not survived but it was
mentioned in a 1279 confirmation of Fope licholas III . Theiner pp.
I119-120 . See P.J.Dunning ‘The letters of Fope Innocent III to Ireland®,
in Traditio, vol. I8 (1962) , pp. 229-254 , p. 248-9 , and see below

pp. 177-8 .
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b) ARCHBISHOP OF DUBLIN I213-I228

Although the date of Innocent III's confirmation of Henry's
election to Dublin is not known,the new archbishop received a mark
of that pope's approval when early in I2I3 he was chosen to preach
the crusade 1in Ireland and also to collect the Holy Land subsidy in
that countryu?.lt does not seem likely that he performed these
duties in person as at this particular time the needs of his
monarch were more pressing . Henry left Ireland in the spring of
I2I3 and in May he was with King John in Dover where he was among
those who witnessed John's submission to the papal legateu%'He was
then sent by the king to meet the exiled prelates who were returning

Ls,
to England and by July he was back in the royal court .

Henry of London remained with the king throughout this month,
which culminated with a letter from King John to his faithful
subjects in Ireland , informing them that he had committed custody of
that land to the archbishop of Dublin ?6ﬁenxy replaced John de Grey,

bishop of Norwich as justiciar of Ireland,and this move has been

seen as part of a larger plan evolved by the English barons in

Ireland in order to gain a freer hand in dealings with their Irish

43. Pont. Hib., I, no. 76,p. 159-60.

L. Roger of Wendover's Flores Historiarum , ed. H.J.Hewlett (R.S.
1887) , vol. 2,pp. 75-6 ; Mat.Paris Chron.Maj. 2, p. 545 . Both name
the archbishop of Dublin as chief witness.

45. Rot.Lit.Claus. I, p. 164 ; Rot.Chart. I, p.I9% .

46. Rot.Lit.Pat. p. 102 .
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L7.
estates . The king also granted to the new archbishop the bishopric

and abbey of Glendalough , the church of Trim to form a prebend in

48,
St.Patrick's and an annual fair in his manor of Swords .

Henry was back in Dublin by August I2I3 when he was asked by the
king to entertain the Archbishop of Tuam Felix 0'Ruadhain who was
at that time in exile from his dioceseu?.lnl\ovember Thomas Fitz Adam
was mandated to hand over Dublin castle to Henry,who then became
responsible for the completion of the building ?Ojust before this
Pope Innocent III had instructed the archbishop along with certain

English prelates to ensure that peace was maintained between King

51.
John and the church .

The archbishop /justiciar appears to have spent most of the
next year and a half in his diocese .In May I2I4 Peter de Roches the

English justiciar wrote to him instructing him on the king's behalf

L7, See W.L.Warren,'The Historian as Private Eye', in J.G.Barry (ed.)
Historical Studies IX (I974),pp. I-I8 , where he argues that the
replacement of John de Grey by Henry of London in I2I3 was part of a
bargain which the barons in Ireland (headed by William Marshall)
forced on King John in return for their support throughout the crisis

in England .

48.Rot.Chart. p. IS4

49, Rot.Lit. Claus.I,p. IA8.

50. Rot.Lit.Pat. p.I05 . The building of the outer works or walls of
the castle is generally ascribed to Archbishop Henry , Ch.St.Mary's,
2, p. 279 . According to Archbishop Alen,Henry had to remove the
churches of St.Paul and St.Martin which lay adjacent to the east and
west of the castle ditch to construct the walls . Rep.Vir.pp.I82-3 .
In October I217 Henry was granted two cantreds of land in compensation
for the damage done to the churches of the diocese in fortifying the
castle of Dublin : Pat.Rolls T2I€-25 p. I00 .

5I. Font.Hib. I, no. 80,p. 164,
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to send all the money he could to the exchequer in London and also
to certify the state of his country.5§hen King John returned to England

from the continent in October he was in constant communication with

53.
Henry on matters pertaining to Ireland . In February I2I5 the

archbishop received a lengthy mandate from the king with instructions

54 .

on fines to be taken and audits to be made . He was also instructed

to buy scarlet cloth for robes to be given to the kings of Ireland and
55.
other faithful subjects of the king in Ireland .

Henry was in Dublin until at least May I2I5,when he was instructed
56.

to send two fully fitted galleys to William Marshall in Pembroke ,but
he must have left his diocese soon after discharging this duty .

He was present at Runnymede in June , was named among the king's

57.

councillors and was one of the chief witnesses to Magna Carta .

He was aldressed as 'justiciar of Ireland' up until the end of June,
58.

but by July the office had passed to Geoffrey de Marisco . Henry

remained with the king until September of this year and in this

time he witnessed many charters referring to Irish affairs as well
59.

as receiving some generous grants from his monarch . In July he

52. Kot.Lit.Claus. I93 .

53. See for ex. Rot.Lit.Claus. pp. 164,168,170-2,174 .

54- ibid- P. 186"?0
55, ibid. . p. I87

56, ibid. p. 2I4
57. Mat.Paris ChronMaj, 2, pp. 589,590,604.

58, Rot.Lit.Claus. p. 2I7 ; Rot.Lit.Pat. p. I46 ; Rich.Sayles Admin.
of Ireland,p. 76.

59. Rot.Chart. pp. 211-19,
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was granted theécantred of Okonagh to hold from the king by service
of three knightsoénd in September he was granted the manor and fair
of Penkridge in Staffordshire,along with the deanery and advowson
of the secular college of St.Michael's in Penkridge ?I.

As an Irish metropolitan Henry of London had received in
April I2I3 a formal invitation from Pope Innocent III to attend the
fourth Lateran courncil to be held in Rome in November I2I5 .62'
Innocent's letter contained instructions that the metropolitan bishops
were to enquire about all matters which appeared to be in need of
reform in their provinces and to write a report to be submitted to
the scrutiny of the council . It is not known if Henry
complied with these instructions as no such reports from Irish
metropolitans have survived but in accordance with the mandate
he attended the council with his two suffragan bishops of Kildare
and Ferns,while the affairs of the province were left in the hands

63.
of the bishops of Ossory and Leighlin .

60. Rot.Chart. p. 2I3.

6I. ibid. p. 218 . For a full account of the archbishops of Dublin as
deans of Penkridge see below Appendix no. 2.

62. Pont.Hib. I, no.76, p. I59-60 . For the full text of this letter
see Cheney,Selected letters Innocent III,p. I46

63. A.Luchaire 'Un document retrouvé, in Journal des Savants (1I905),
pp. 557 ff , contains a list of the bishops present at the council
which includes the archbishop of Dublin and the bishops of Ferns and
Kildare ( Ailbe O'Mulloy and Cornelius Mac Fealain ) . See P.J.Dunning,
'Irish Representatives and Irish ecclesiastical affairs at the

fourth Lateran Council ' in Med.>tudies Gwynn , pp. 90-113,
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As mentioned above the archbishop was with the king in England
up until his departure for Rome and when he left he was carrying
letters from King John to Cardinal gﬁephen de Fossa Nova asking
for loans amounting to I,500 marks ..It is clear that although
Henry was invited to Rome as a representative of the Irish
c hurch he remained very much a royal servant and was instructed to

use the occasion as 2gch as possible to further the king's business

at the papal court .

Nevertheless the archbishop did spend some of his time in
Rome engaged in matters pertaining to his Dublin church . There
survives no information on the part played by Henry or the other
Irish representatives in the affairs of the council but during his
stay at the apostolic see Henry of London received seven papal letters ,
four from Innocent III and three from his sucessor,Honorius III and

these can be seen as reflecting his ecclesiastical concerns .

The first letter from Pope Innocent, issued in February 121%,
confirmed finally the incorporationé%i the diocese of Glendalough
into the metropolitan see of Dublin . Like his predecessor Henry
must have been anxious to extend as far as possible the territorial

boundaries of his see and the extensive lands of the diocese of

64. Rot.Lit.Pat. p.I82 .

65. On 6th October I2I7 Henry was given 500 marks out of the issues of
Ireland for his expenses in attending to the king's business at the
general council . Pat.Rolls 1216-25 ,p.100 ««+pro expensiis suils
. quas fecit in conciTic generall in curia Romana , pro negociis nostris

et regni nostri .

66! Pont.Hibt I' n0.93, pPII?O"?_ .
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Glendalough must have gone some way towards satisfying this

desire .

In March I2I6 , on the petition of the archbishop,Innocent III
took the chapter of St.Patrick's under the protection of the gpostolic
see and confirmed its possessions and its adherence to the Use of
Sarumé?.Two months later the pope took the cathedral of Holy Trinity
under his protection and confirmed its possessions , in the same
letter confirming to Henry his metropolitan rights and privilegesé?.
Innocents last correspondence with the archbishop was at the end
of May I2I6,when he instructed him ,along with the archbishop of
Tuam,to intervene in the conflict between the bishop of Ferns and

69.
William Marshall .

Henry of London remained in Rome after Innocent's death and
in October I2I6 he obtained a reaffirmation of his rights and privileges
from the new pope Honorius III??'He also asked Honorius for a
reconfirmation of Innocent's decreesip pressing the diocese of
Glendalough ?I%he final confirmation in this series was more
unusual . It was a papal authorization to the archbishop to compel

certain religious men of his diocese who lived in different cells

and wandered around in ssarch of alms to be gathered together in

67. Pont.Hib. I,n0.96,p.175-6.
68. ibid. no.97, p.176-9.

69. ibid. no. 98,p. IE0-I.

70. ibid. no. I03 p. 187-8 .
71. ibid. no. IO4 p. I88-90 ,
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a suitable place . The pope had been informed by the archbishop

that such men did not observe any religious discipline . This is

one of the few examples of Archbishop Henry expressing concern over
spiritual matters in his diocese but it must be partly seen as a move
to subject the Irish monks at Glendalough to his supervision .

After his return to Ireland Henry granted the abbey of St.Saviour's of
Glendalough to All Hallows priory Dublin so that the monks from

that abbey might submit to the wholesome discipline of the Priors of
All Hallows . In the grant Henry made direct reference to the

73

authorization he had received from Honorius III .

Henry probably started to return from Rome as soon as news of
King John's death reached him §; he was in Oxford by December 1216
when orders were sent to the Irish justiciar to cause the archbishop
to have the land which Nicholas de Verdun held of him in Ireland??.
In January I2I7 he was still with the court when the famous mandate
was sent to Geoffrey de Marisco that no Irishman be elected or
promoted in any cathedral church in Ireland . It was to be by

counsel of the archbishop that the justiciar was to see that only

king's clerks and honest English clerks were appointed to sees and

75
dignities in Ireland.

72. Pont.Hib.Imw.I0I,p. 186.

73. Reg.Omn.Sanct. p.IOO,.:...Ea de re cognoscentes quosdam de religione
in nostra Diocesi non satis integre suam complere professionem sedis
apostolice super hac re preceptum recipimus ut videlicet canonicos
minos ordinatos et dispersos ad unius domi et prelati regularem

. - ]
reduceremus districtionem .

74. Rot.Lit.Claus. p. 294 .

25, Pat.Rolls 1216-25,p. 23 .
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On the same day in January I2I7 that this instruction was sent
to the Irish justiciar Pope Honorius III dispatched a mandate to
Archbishop Henry instructing him to ensure fealty among the Irish
to Henry King of England,who was then a vassal ward of the Papal
see .‘This instructionwas repeated in April when Honorius informed
the archbishop of his appointment as papal legate in Ireland, stating
that he had been given this office in order that he might make those
decisions in Ireland which were necessary for the restoration of
peace and support for the king . The pope expressed anxiety as
he had heard that there was revolt against King Henry in that

77,
land .

Meanwhile the Irish justiciar was informed that the archbishop
was returning to Ireland although his presence in England was still
desirable . The reason given was twofold . Firstly the archbishop
wished to visit his church which had been desolate for so long and
secondly the king ( or rather the king's guardians ) wished him to
strive for the improvement of conditions in Ireland . The justiciar
was ordered to abide by the archbishop's counsel and spend money
coming into the exchequer by his advice . In fact nothing was to be

done without the archbishop's advice . The barons of Ireland were also
78,

asked to be attentive to the archbishop .

?6. I“OI’l't..Hib. I' no. IOé,Pc 191-20

27. ibid, no I08,p. I93-4 ...Audito igitur quod flama ignis huiusmodi
usque in Hiberniam rapiatur eam in superbia fumi convolvens dum
quidam propria malitia excecati contra carissimum in Christo filium

nostrum Henricum regem Anglorum o

78, Pat.Rolls 1216-25 p.57 -«
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Henry of London was Papal legate to Ireland from I2I7 to July
I1220,during which time he pursued what Gwynn has termed his 'campaign
for an English hierarchy in Ireland ' . The events of these years and
Gwynn's interpretation of them have been largely responsible for the
depiction of Henry as a 'sinister' figure who pursued a ruthless policy
of placing loyal servants of the crown 'at every level of civil and
ecclesiastical administration in Ireland' ?%iuﬂng the years of
Henry's episcopate there was a most definite increase in the number
of Anglo-Norman bishops in Ireland and it appears likely that the
Archbishop of Dublin approved of this trend and where possible sought
to advance itéﬁ)however the inconsistency of the source material
prevents the formation of a complete picture of what occurred in
the majority of these elections, and there is no evidence that Henry
of London played the chief role in securing the appointment of Anglo —

Norman clerks and the exclusion of Irish ones .

The disputed elections in Killaloe and Ardfert and Henry's

dismissal as Papal Legate in 1220 are the strongest elements in

79. Gwynn , Henry of London ,p.306.Gwynn's views have recently been reiter-

ated by F.X.Martin,'John Lord of Ireland 1185-1216, in The new History
of Ireland,vol.2 (I987),pp. I49-55 ; Geoffrey Hand,The Church in the
kEnglish Lordship 1216-1307,'in A History of Irish Catholicism,vol 2,no.
3,pp.2-4,

80. During Henry of London's episcopacy , a total of fourteen Anglo
Normans are known to have been appointed to and to have retained
possession of Irish sees . The dioceses concerned were Ardagh , Armagh ,

Cloyne , Emly , Ferns . Kildare , Leighlin , Limerick , Lismore (two
appointments) , Meath , Ossory and Waterford (two appointments ) . For
names and dates see Maps, Lists , Genealogies : a companion to Irish
History II , vol. IX of A New History of Ireland .




L7

the case against the archbishop . However the evidence available

for these disputed elections suggests that it was Geoffrey de
Marisco rather than Henry of London who took the first step and that
the archbishop found himself in the uncomfortable position of

having to back up the justiciar while functioning as the pope's

legate in Ireland.

Killaloe became vacant in I2I6 when the bishop,Cornelius -
O'Hendy,died on his way back from attending the Lateran CounciET'At
first there was an attempt to elect Ailbe 0'Molloy to the see . William
Marshall was no doubt anxious to have him translated from Ferns

and end in  this way the dispute which had been going on between

them for many yearsS?.However on the I4th January I2I7 the king
approved the electigg.of Robert Travers , nephew of Geoffrey de
Marisco to Killaloe . Henry of London was still in England at this
stage and there is no mention of his being involved directly in the
election. When pope Honorius complained that the archdeacon of
Killaloe (an Irishman , also called Hendy) had been previously elected
and that Travers had been intruded into the see,he placed the blame

84 .
on the justiciar and made no mention of the papal legate .

87. Ann. Uls. 2, P.261 ; see D.Gleeson The Diocese of Killaloe,(I1962)
esp. Pp. I49-I55 .

82. Rot,Lit,.Fat. p. 197 .
82, Pat.Rolls I2]6-25 , p. 22

e

84. Pont.Hib. I, no.lII, pp. 196ﬁ8,fhobertum Travers per potentiam G.
de Marisco iusticiariis Hibernie avunculi sui violenter in ecclesiam
ipsam post electionem intrusum'.
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The situation in Ardfert was almost identical . Following the
death of the bishop in IZI6 the chapter of Ardfert had elected
an Irishman,but an Anglo-Norman candidate called John had been
intruded into the see ?Sigain,this happened before Henry returned
to Dublin in 1I2I7 and it seems likely that the justiciar had been

the prime mover in this election also .

After his return Henry not surprisingly took the side of the
Justiciar and the two Anglo-Norman clerks and wrote in support
of their claims to the pope in order to get him to call a halt to
the commission of enquiry he had set upsé.The pope replied that he
had waited in vain for the two clerks to present themselves before
him and in the meantime had been in contact with the archbishop
of Cashel,who had asked him to consecrate the archdeacon of Killaloe
as rightful bishop of that dioceses?.The archbishop of Cashel at
this time was in exile in France,as a result it seems of a dispute
with the justiciar over the lands of his archdiocese . Henry of
London had intervened in this dispute in I2I9 and written to the king

that the archbishop's land should be restored,as he had threatened to
88.

excommunicate the Jjusticiar and seek justice in Rome . Gwynn
believed the archbishop of Cashel to be the chief opponent of the

papal legate and the person who brought his actions to the attention

gs. Pont.Hib. I, no. I12,p. I98 .
g6. ibid. no. II3,p. 198-9 .

g7 ibid. p. 199 .
88, Shirley , Royal Letters, I, no.60,pp.72-3




of the pope, but after consulting yjth him in I2I9 , Honorius still

asked the archbishop of Dublin to make a full enquiry into both
elections and to consecrate the Irish clerks if they had been
canonically elected by the chapters ?9.If the archbishop of Cashel
had accused Henry of London of intruding the clerks into these two
dioceses it would seem surprising that the pope would place the

settling of the dispute in his hands .

Henry however did nothing to further the claims of the Irish
candidates in Killaloe and Ardfert and it was this absence of action
rather than anything else which resulted in his replacement as papal
legate in I220 . The pope at this time informed him that he had been
appointed because of the troubled state of Ireland ahd as these troubles
had ended there was no further need for his services ' since the
remedy should cease with the cessation of the malady' ?Oéhis was
true in essence but the absence of the fulsome compliments and praise
usual in such letters makes it clear that Henry's behaviour had not
been pleasing to the pope . In the pope's letter appointing a new
papal legate reference was made to the policy of excluding Irish
clerks from office and the legategﬁﬁs instructed to make sure such

clerks were admitted if elected . The new legate almost immediately

deposed the Anglo-Norman bishops of Killaloe and Ardfert and sent them
92.

to Rome .

89. Pont.Hib. I, no. 127,pp. 2I2-4.

@90. ibid. no. I35,p.221-2.

9I. ibid. no. I36,p. 222-3.'... Cum olim Anglie ac Hibernie regnis
turbatis pro turbatione sedanda tibi legationis officium in partibus Hibernie
duxerimus committendum , pace nunc in regnis eidem per Del gratiam reformata
expedire non credimus ut te de legationis officio intromittas cum quod
necessitas pro remed;p reperit cessante necessitate , cessare debeat

pariter quod urgebat .
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Despite the curt dismissal of Henry in I220 cordial relations
between him and Pope Honorius had not ceased . In I22I the pope
confirmed his establishment of the four capitular officers in St.
Patrick's and he also granted Henry a privilege of dispensing clerks
for plurality of benefices ?Bin this year the pope also provided
the archbishop of Dublin with a precise and extensive confirmation of
the possessions and privileges of his province ?uin 1224 Henry was
again requested by the pope to intervene in the diocese of Ardfert
where the dispute was still going ong?.on this occasion Henry of
London,with the consent of the King , prevailed on the Anglo-Norman
bishop to resign and recognized Gilbert,the Irishman who had been

96.
originally elected by the chapter .

As papal legate Henry had not allowed his duties to the pope
to interfere with the stated aims of the king's counsellors
concerning the Irish church . When it came to defending the rights
and privileges of his own archdiocese,however , he was more determined

to take action , even when the defence of his liberties brought him
into direct conflict with the officers of the crown and with the

king's citizens of Dublin .

The question of feeding the king's foresters which had caused

so much trouble in John Cumin's episcopacy came up once again during

93, Pont. Hib. 1, no. H3,p. 228 ; no.I45,p. 232 .
%- 1bidc Nno . IuB,po 2%_‘5 .

95. ibid. no 165,p. 250-2.
96. Hot.Lit.Claus. p. 632 .
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Henry of London's , when the archbishop was involved in a bitter

conflict with Thomas Fitz Adam,the king's forester in Ireland .

Henry of London had taken steps to have his rights with regard to
the foresters affirmed in I2I8 when the king instructed the Irish
justiciar that he was to make sure that the archbishop of Dublin and
other ecclesiastics of the Dublin Province were not forced to feed
the king's servants or bowmen except in time of needg?.This action

was taken at the request of the archbishop,either in order to ensure

that his rights would not be infringed upon or because they already had.

The dispute with Fitz Adam flared up shortly after the latter had
98.
been appointed as custodian of the king's forest in Ireland and details
of it are known from a series of letters from the archbishop and

Fitz Adam to the king and the English justiciar .

The first letter was sent in I2I9 from Fitz Adam to Ralph Neville,
the English justiciar ?9in it Fitz Adam stated that the archbishop of
Dublin was claiming the king's forest as his own by virtue of a grant
from King John in I215 , He was also refusing to feed the king's

servants or even permit them to reside within the forest lands .

97. Rot. Lit. Claus.p. 369.

98. Fitz Adam was appointed in August I2I9 . Pat.Rolls 1216-26 p.20I.

99, C.D.I. I,No. 892,p. I32-3.



=52,

At about the same time Henry of London wrote to the king saying that
he was anxious to see him , to confer about certain affairs and
especially to free himself from false accusations which had been
laid against himI?ofhe archbishop reminded the king how faithful

he had been to King John and informed him that he was sending over

in his stead his messenger David who would bring some secret

information to the king .

FitzAdam wrote again early in I220 informing the king that
the archbishop of Dublin was seeking to disinherit the king of his
forest in Ireland . He claimed that the king's foresters had been
assaulted by the archbishop's men and that he himself had been
excommunicated while attempting to punish a well known malefactor who
lived by poaching the king's venisonI?IAt this stage the conflict
appeared to cemtre on the punishment of this wrongioer and whether
he should be brought before the ecclesiastical or secular courts .
The justiciar of Ireland had been appealed to and he instructed
Fitz Adam not to give up his prisoner, while asking the archbishop
to 1ift the ban from Fitz Adam . Henry of London refused to free
Fitz Adam from excommunication until he handed over the prisoner
and Fitz Adam's plight as described by himself bears witness to the

effectiveness of the weapon of ecclesiastical censure . He complained

that he was persecuted throughout the land of Ireland and denied all

100, .....maxime ut excusetur et purgetur innocentia nostra ab his

quae per quorundam falsas detractiones et mendacia plurima nobis
imponuntur ‘. Shirley , Royal letters , 1,no.84,pp.98-100 . Shirley dates
this letter to March 1220 but September I2I9 would appear a more likely

date .
10I. Shirley, Royal Letters , I,no.72,pp.82-6.
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intercourse with men and all commerce in towns to such an extent

that he could not carry on the king's businessI?zﬁe begged the king

to get him absolution from some other ecclesiastic but assured him

that for the present he was determined to uphold the rights of the king
although he was in great distress . Fitz Adam ended by advising the
king to provide himself with good , lawful officials in Ireland to
prosecute his affairs , particularly against the archbishop who

103.
was seeking to disinherit him .

The archbishop was not slow in informing the king of his version
of affairs . He wrote early in I220 reminding the king that the lands
of his see had from old been free from foresters and obligations
towards theml?héhese liberties had been affirmed by King John and
more recently by King Henry III himself ., The archbishop made reference
to John Cumin’'s dispute with Xing John claiming that his
predecessor in the see had endured seven years exile in order to
defend these liberties . In Henry of London's eyes , Fitg Adam had
infringed on these immunities and had @pressed him,especially by

seizing his men . According to the archbishop Fitz Adam had bteen

102.'.....per totam terram vestram facit me prosequi , prohibendo
communionem hominum et aysiamenta villarum , ita quod ad quoddam
arduum negotium vestrum exsequendum interesse non potui .Shirley,Royal

Letters,p. 85.

103. ....Provideatis etiam vobis de aliquibus probis hominibus et

legalibus in terra Hiberniae ad prosequendum negotia vestra et
maxime contra dictum archiepiscopum qui proponit exheredere vos

in partibus illis , ibid. p. 86.

I04. ibid. no. 73,p. 86-8.



excommunicated by the archdeacon of Dublin and had subsequently
repented and been absolved . The archbishop prayed the king to

order Fitz Adam to cease his molestations and said he was again
sending over his messenger David,this time with some small presents
for the king . Henry of London wrote to Ralph Neville in much the
same vein , appealing to the English justiciar as a churchman himself
to help him in his defence of the liberties of the churchl?jéhe

archbishop said in this letter that he intended to cross over to

England as soon as possible to prove his innocence in person .

Henry of London was in England in August 1220 whenéhe witnessed
the agreement between the king and Geoffrey de Marisci?b&t before this
the king had written to him informing him that he had commanded
Fitz Adam to desist from troubling the archbishop . The king
expressed the hope that the two men could come to an anicable agreement
and he also included a subtle reproach to the archbishop when he
asked him to take as much care in the defence of the king's liberties

as he wished the king to take in defending the archiepiscopal
I07.
liberties .

This letter from the king in I220 would appear to mark a

victory for the archbishop who was at this time held in high esteem

105.Shirley,Royal letters , I, no. 74 pp.88-90.
106. Pat.Rolls 1216-25 ,p.263 .

107. Rot.Lit.Claus. p. 435-6 . Henry and Fitz Adam appear to have
resolved thelir personal differences,as in 1221 Fitz Adam was among
those sent to Ireland to advise the archbishop,who was then justiciar,

Pat.Rolls I216-25 , p. 297 .
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by the king and his counsellors . In the agreement worked out between
the king and Geoffrey de Marisco in I220 it was stated that the
Justiciar was to be advised by the archbishop,who could wield the
weapog of ecclesiastical censure if de Marisco's behaviour required
it %O in August the king commanded the justiciar to take the forest
of which Fitz Adam had custody into the king's hand . The forest was
to be kept to the honour of the church of Dublin by two of the
king's men and two of the archbishop's . No damage was to accrue

to the church or to the king through this arrangement Togﬁhen de
Marisco surrendered the office of ticiar in October IéZI it was
to Henry of London that custody of Ireland was committed and he

110.
held the justiciarship until June I224 .

Although he now held the most important office in the royal
administration in Ireland , Henry continued his determined defence
of what he saw as his archiepiscopal liberties and this provoked
the hostility of the citizens of Dublin . In I220 they had written
to the king informing him that they were engaged in a great contest
with the archbishop in which their primary aim was the upholding
of the king's rights in DublinITIfhis contest revolved arouhd the arrest
of two of the archbishop's men by the provosts of Dublin and the

archbishop s attempts to prevent them being tried in the citizens:

108. _ pat.Rolls I216-26 , p. 264 .
109. Rot.Lit.Claus. p.427 .

1I0. Pat.Rolls I216-26, pp. 295,297,316 . See Rich.Sayles,Admin.Irl. p.
?6 L]
111. Shirley,Royal Letters,1,n0.91,pp.I108-I1 . For more details of this

dispute see below pp* 279-84 .
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hundred court . In the course of this dispute the archbishop's
bailiffs had excommunicated the provost and seneschal of Dublin and
twenty four principal men of the council of Dublin . The citizens prayed

the king's speedy help and counsel .

It is not known if the king took any action at this time . He
certainly had the opportunity to take the matter up personally
with the archbishop,who was in England from August 1220 to July IBZ%?E.
While there is no further evidence directly concerning this case
it is clear that the citizens of Dublin continued to complain to the
king about the ambigwws position of the archbishop's men within
their city . Not only was the archbishop refusing to allow his men
to answer in the city courtj;he also asserted that they were free from
all financial levies which the citizens had to pay . Moreover he
had erected a pillory in the middle of the king's highway and was

I13.
thereby obstructing traffic as well as secular jurisdiction .

The king wrote to the archbishop with reference to these complaints

114,
in August 1223 . He said that he found it difficult to believe that

the archbishop was acting contrary to royal rights and dignity and

he found it especially upsetting since he had made Henry his justiciar
II5.

in Ireland and thereby had given him great power . The king commanded

the justiciar to refrain from such actions immediately.

IT2. Henry appeared as witness to two charters of the Elund family in
London; see Brooks , Henry's Irish connections , p. 2.

I113. Rot.Lit.Claus p. 570 ; H.M.Docs. p. 78-9.

114. Rot.Lit.Claus p. 570 .

115. ' .....que tanto nobis graviora et molcstiora sint , et famam vestram

magis obfuscancia,quanto potentiores loco nostro vos constituimus in regno
nostro Hibernie,ad jura nostra tenenda et iustitiam ceteris exhibendam

ibid.‘p.570 .
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Soon after this letter was sent to Dublin , an agreement was
worked out between the archbishop and the citizens . The formal
coverant was witnessed by prominent magnates Geoffrey de Marisco and
Walter de Lacy and was signed in the cathedral of St. Patrick‘sI?éit
is not known if it put an end to the conflict between the two parties
but there is no further evidence of complaints from the citizens

I17.
regarding these matters .

As mentioned above , Henry had been given custody of Ireland in
July I22I . In the same month the king sent over John Marshall ,

Thomas Fitz Adam and John de St. John to advise the archbishop,who
I118.

was instructed to have faith in their advice . In December 1222 ,
Roger Huscarl , an experienced judge of the English bench was sent

over to assist the Jjusticiar in judicial and administrative

I19.
affairs . Une of his tasks may have been to advise the archbishop on

the case between the king and the archbishop of Cashel in which
I20.

Henry of London was acting as the king's proctor . Huscarl also

II6. Crede Mihi , f. 93v.
I17. See below p. 283.

I1I8. Pat.Rolls 1216-26,p.297 .

1I9. Rot.Lit.Claus. p. 526 . For the career of Roger Huscarl , see
Ralph. V. Turner , 'Roger Huscarl , profpssional lawyer in England and
royal justice in Ireland , c. JI99-1230 , in The Irish Jurist,vol.

16 (1981),pp.290-8 .

J20. Henry was appointed proctor in this case in July 1222 , Pat.

Rolls I216-26 p. 338 The case does not seem to have been settled when

in August 1223 Henry informed the king that the archbishop of Cashel

had resigned . See G.{.5ayles Documents on the affairs of Ireland before

the king’s council  (Dublin 1979), no. 2 p. I .
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played a prominent part in the case before the Jjusticiar early in

1223 , when it was decided that VWalter de Lacy should no longer have
12T,

the right to try pleas of the crown in Meath .

Henry's period as justiciar was a difficult one as it coincided
with the rebellion of Hugh de Lacy . The justiciar had been informed
that Hugh was plotting to recover his Irish lands by force and he
was instructed to fortify the royal castles in Ireland . General

letters of excommunication against rebels were sent over at the same

I22.
time . Yet when de Lacy crossed over to Ireland the justiciar was

i1l prepared . Apparently the problem was lack of money and

Archbishop Henry complained in a letter to the king that he had to
123.
borrow from Dublin and other cities . According to the annals of

Dunstable , when Hugh de Lacy threatened Dublin early in I224
. 124,

Henry was obliged to purchase a truce . He also excommunicated
I125.
de Lacy,but with no apparent result . Direct intervention from

England came in May I224 when William Marshall the younger was
appointed justiciar 1in place of Henry of London . The archbishop

126.
handed over the office to his successor c. 24th June I224 .

I2I. C.C.R. I279-88 , p. 55

I122. Pat.Rolls I216-26 pp. 374-5, 378 .

I23. This letter is quoted in Otway Ruthven , Med. Irl. p. 9I .

I24, Annals of Dunstable, p. 85 .There are entries in the Close Rolls
to the effect that the Archbishop borrowed £366 from the citizens of
Dublin and £300 deposited in the cathedral of Dublin . See for ex.

Rot.Lit.Claus. p. 162 .

I25. Annals of Dunstable , p. 92 .

I26. Shirley , Royal Letters . I. p. 500 .
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One of Archbishop Henry's final acts as justiciar had been
to recommend to the king that he should look favorably on the petition

of Cathal Crobderg , King of Connaught , who wrote in I224 asking
127.

for a charter of Connaught for his son Aed . The archbishop's

relationship with Cathal Crobderg dated from 1204 when he had been
128.

sent by King John to negotiate with him .

Soon after his replacement as justiciar , Archbishop Henry
crossed over to England . In April 1225 the Irish justiciar was
instructed to pospone a case which had been brought against Henry
until he returned from Englandlég;ikptmber of this year the archbishop
was present at the consecration ceremony of the new cathedral of
Salisburyl?oin December the archbishop of Rouen wrote to the bishop
of Derry and the prior of Holy Trinity concerning the canonization
of Archbishop Laurence O Toole |, saying that he had previously
written to the archbishop of Dublin but that he was out of Ireland
at this time on the king's affairs ?3§énry may also have visited

the continent at this time , as he had recently purchased a house

I127. Shirley ,Royal lLetters , I,no. I98 , p. 223 .

I28. See above p. 33.

I29 . Rot.Lit.Claus. 2 , p. 25 .

130. Registrum Sancti Osmundi Episcopi , ed. W.H.R.Jones (R.S. I883-4)
VOlcz’ P. "“0 .

13I. Pont. Hib. I, no. I74 pp. 260-2 .
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2.
in France for the use of the archbishops of Dublin .

Henry was back in Ireland by June I226 when he was one of those
appointed to examine the account of William Marshall who had resigned
as justiciar of Irela#g?%' This is the last recorded administrative
duty which Henry of London performed ; from then on the bulk of
his communication with the crown concerned the debt he was owed
for the expenses which he had incurred while he was in Rome on
King John's business in I2I6,and also the money he had spent while
on King Henry's service in Ireland particularly during the war with

Hugh de Lacy .

In August 1225 the king acknowledged that he owed the archbishop
the sum of £934 , 200 marks of which Henry of London had forgiven
him in view of a grant he received from the king concerning the
freedom of the forests of Dublin , Glendalough and Coillacht from
the interfemnce of royal officialsl?hﬁy 1226 the king had paid the

archbishop a further £177.2.2d. and had agreed that Henry of London

I32. C.I223 the abbot and convent of Citeaux informed Henry that they
had bought an estate in the diocese of Autun (in the province of
Dijon) with money which he had given them . The estate consisted of
a stone house , a vineyard , and an annual Yield of corn valued at
100 pounds . The issues were to be at the disposal of the archbishop
and his successors when they were in France , on business or in

exile . Otherwise the issues were to remain with the Cistercians .
The abbot and convent also promised to counsel and aild the archbishop
and his successors if they were passing that way on their way to Rome
and also to assist their assistants , messengers , and the canons of
the church of Dublin . Crede Mihi , f. 92 .

133. Pat.Rolls I226-32 , p. 47 .

I34. ibid.I2I6-25 , p. 544 .
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or the church of Dublin after his death should receive £I00 out of
the farm of Limerick and 50 marks ouE of the farm of Dublin every
year until the debt was paid off .I%;'appears that the archbishop was
eager for repayment , for the following year he was granted custody
of any Irish see which might fall vacant in acquittance of the

136.
debt .

In December I226 , the king appointed Henry and John de St.John ,
the bishop of Ferns,as collectors in Ireland of the clerical subsidy
which he had been granted by the pope . The king asked Henry to
ensure that the lower clergy of his province were as generous as
their English counterparts,who had granted him a sixteenth of their
incomeij?.By August 1227 , however , the clerical aid still had to
be collected and the king wrote to the archbishop asking him to
procure its speedy paymentl?eit seems likely that by this stage Henry
of London was unable to be as active on the king's behalf as he
would have wished . He died in the summer of 1228 and there is evidence
that towards the end of his life he was not in full possession of his
faculties . In January I228 the Irish justiciar was instructed to

hand over to the newly appointed custodians of the see of Dublin

the temporalities which the late archbishopheld ' antequam incidit in
I39.
languorem in quo non fuit compos sui ' .

I35. Pat.Rolls I225-32 , pp. 19-20 .

I36. Rot.Lit.Claus. pt. 2 p. 125

I37.°Cl.Rolls I1227-31 , p. IOL .
138, ibid. p. I38 .

139. Pat.Rolls I225-32 , p. I33 .
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a) LUKE DE ROCHES : EARLY CAREER

Like his two Anglo-Norman predecessors , Luke de Roches was
an influential member of the Egglish administration before his
elevation to the see of Dublin : He started his career as the
chaplain of the powerful English ministerzﬁubert de Burgh and was
first mentioned in this capacity in I2I7 . Most of Luke's early
preferments came as a result of this connection . In I2I8 he was
mentioned as a canon of Salisbury cathedral when he was presented
by the king to the chancellorship of Lichfield cathedral : In
I21I8 he was further promoted by the king to the deanery of St.

L,
Martin Le Grand in London .

The college of St. Martin had close ties with the royal

administration , and the deanery was particularly associated with

5
the wardrobe . It is no surprise therefore to find that it was in

I. Unlike his predecessors , Luke has been somewhat neglected by

the biographers . There has been no work on his early career and

no entry in DNB . The designation of 'de Roches' would appear to be
correct . In 1228 Luke was appointed archdeacon of Surrey ; an

assize of I236 mentions that Luke Archdeacon of Surrey held the
church of Hussebur by the king's gift . The same source later refers
to the holder of Hussebur as Luke de Roches . The look of Fees, Ft.2,

p. 1236 and p. I4I7 .
2. John de Oxendes' Chronica , ed. H.Ellis (R.5. 1859),p. I4I

3. Pat.Rolls I216-25,p.386.Luke held the prebend of Cumbe in Salisbury,
which was valued at 25 marks in I226 when Luke was fined for non-
residence. He was present at the first service in the new cathedral

in 1225 and on this occasion presented the dean and chapter with a
‘golden' copy of the four gospels as a present from Hubert de Lurgh.
Registrum 5. Usmundi Episcopi , ed. W.H.R.Jones (R.S5.I1883-4),vol. 2,

pp. 37,43,73,77
4, Pat.Rolls I2I6-25 , p. 550

5. V.C.H.London , vol.I, pp. 555-556 .




this department that Luke served the king . In I229 he was described

by the chronicler of the Dunstable annals as one of the maiores de

curia regis , but the exact position he held in the administration is
6.
unclear . between I225 and I230 he was frequently described as
7
the 'king's treasurer' both in records and chronicles, but he could

not have been treasurer of the exchequer as that office was held

8.
by Eustace de Fauconberg , Bishop of London,during these years . Tout

identified Luke as holding the position of ' treasurer of the

9.
household' or 'treasurer of the chamber®' .

Luke was almost certainly in charge of the wardrobe for a time .
The earliest surviving wardrobe account was tendered to the exchequer
per visum et testimonium Luce capellani , decanli Sancti Martini Londonis,

10.
coram baronibus de scaccario . Luke's position of trust in the curia

was displayed in 1226 when he certified on behalf of the crown an

agreement made with the citizens of London concerning their contribution
1I1.
to a crusading aid .

6. Ann.Dunstable , p. 1I8 .

7. Pat.Rolls I216-2%Ep.5121225'32-P- 29 , 164 ; Ann.Dunstable , p.II5
Ann. Tewkesbury,p. .

8. Handbook brit. Chron. p. 99.

9. T.F.T.Tout,Chapters in English aiministrative History,vol. I. (1920),
p. 196

10. Roll of Divers accounts for the early years of the reign of Henry
III , ed. F.A.Cazel (Pub.Fipe Roll Soc. 44 London 1982 ),p. 50 .

II. Liber Custumarum Londonis,ed. H.T.Riley (R.S5.1860),pp. 36-7 .
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Such faithful service did not go unnoticed , but some of
Henry III's early efforts to reward his servant met with failure .
In I226 the king attempted to present Luke to the archdeaconry of
Norwich ,but a prior claim had been established Tzin the same year
a bid to have Luke accepted as bishop elect of Durham also met
with failure ?B‘The monks of Durham apparently rejected Luke's
nomination as uncanonical,asserting that he was of illegitimate
birth and that the papal dispensation which he held did not
extend to the right to take episcopal office ?u.This is the
only record of Luke's illezitimacy and there is no other reference
to a papal dispensation,but later on this may have been what the
representatives of Holy Trinity were referring to when they
claimed that Luke was unsuitable for the see of Dublin and that his

I5.
character left something to be desired .

In I228 Luke was appointed archdeacon of Surrey , an office
16.
which he appears to have held until I247 . In this same year he
also received his highest promotion,when on the death of Henry of

London he was elected archbishop of Dublin by the canons of

12. pat.Rolls , I226-32 , pp. 91 , I9I .

13. Ibid. I226-32,p. 56.

I4. The details of this dispute are contained in four unpublished
Mss. from the Cathedral library in Durham . They are used in F.M.
Powicke,Henry 111 and the Lord Edward (I947),pp. 267-8 .

I5. See below pp. I78-9 .

I6. Charters and Statutes relating to Salisbury , ed. W.R.Jones and
W.D.Macray (R.S. 1891) , p. 250 ; A.L.Brown,Early archdeacons of
Surrey', in Surrey Archaeological Collections , vol. 46 (I1939) pp.

75-83 .
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St. Patricks  ( according toMtthew Paris through the influence

17s
of Hubert de Burgh) . After a period of disagreement which included

a re-election Luke finally received papal confirmation c¢. December
18.
1229 .

17.Fat.Rolls I1226-32,p.232. In his notice of Luke's death Matthew Paris
remarked that he hada been 'intruded' into the see of Dublin by
Hubert de Burgh,whose chaplain he had been i Chronica Majora 5 | p.5371 ,

I18. Pont. Hib. 2, no. 197,p. 32-4 .



b) ARCHEISHOP OF DUELIN I229-55

Soon after the royal assent to his election had been given
Luke went to Rome , where he was in January 1229 when the king
wrote asking the pope to send him back as soon as possible . Henry
asserted that a delay would be dangerous as Luke's presence was
necessary both to him and to the kingdom of Ireland Tgfhe king may
have known that the cathedral of Holy Trinity was lodging a complaint
against Luke's election and may have been trying to prevent it in this
way . Luke did return to England in I229,but not as confirmed
archbishop of Dublin . He is still referred to as 'elect' in the
records,as he spent the latter months of the year gathering money
to pay for a second visit to Rome and presumably for the expenses

20.
of maintaining proctors at the papal court .

Apart from loans from the king,Luke's chief method of raising
money appears to have been the despaliation of the Dublin archiepiscopal
lands then in the king's hand . In November 1229 he pledged 300
marks for a royal charter allowing him to have the archiepiscopal
forest of Dublin disafforestedz? The charter gave details of the

extent of this forest,much of which was on the lands previously

pertaining to the diocese of Glendalough,and stated that ' all men

19 Fat.Rolls I226-32 .p.23?:.}cum ipsius mora nobis sit periculosa ,
et eius presentia tam nobis quam regno nostro hibernie perutilis

ac necessaria fore dinoscatur .

20. Font. Hib. 2,no. 197,p. 32-4 mentions Luke's proctors at the
papal court.

21. Cal. Chart. Rolls I1226-57,p. 107 .
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who have woods within these limits may enclose and impark them , take ,
sell and essart them , without view or denial of the foresters and
verderers ' . In November 1229 Luke was also granted the issues of

the see of Dublin,which mounted to 466 pounds . 200 marks out of this
sum was a loan to enable him to carry out his Jjourney to Rome , I00
marks was to be used to pay off the debt he had accrued in obtaining
the disafforestation charter and the residue was for his maintenance

22,
and to pay off his other debts .

In January 1230 the king informed the Irish justiciar that
Luke had received papal confirmation and Luke probably returned
from Rome soon after this datez?.He paid 200 marks into the wardrobe
at Winchester in March 1230 and plans were under way for his consecr&tiiﬁ:
In this matter the king was very generous to his former wardrobe
official . The king's tailor was given 55 pounds to provide the

archbishop with two chasubles , a cope , two tunics , two albs ,

two mitres , two pairs of sandals ' and other pontificals (pontificalia)

25.
necessary for his consecration'. A month later in April 1230 a further

I8 pounds I3 shillings and 4pence was provided to buy for the use

of the archbishop a chalice costing 60 shillings , two cruets (fialis)

costing 20 shillings and other items including a text (texto) and

26.
two candlesticks . At the same time Luke was given a further gift

22, Fat.Rolls I226-32 , p. 316 .

23. Cl.Rolls 1227-31 , p. 284 .

zk. cal.Lib.Rolls 126 40 p. 18I .

25. ibid. p. I70 .

26. ivid. p. I79



2
of 200 marks out of the issues of the archbishopric of Dublin .

Luke was with the king in Reading in April 1230 when he
received a confirmation of King John'SBgrant to Archbishop Cumin of
a court of his men throughout Ireland ..On this occasion the king
also granted to him the prebend of Stamuthan in recompense for
losses sustained by the church of Dublin in the fortification of the
castle there , and also custody of the royal manor of Kempton ip
Surreyz?. A few days later and probably at Luke's request , the
king instructed all abbots , prior, earls , barons , knights and
citizens within the archbishopric of Dublin to pay tithes for pools

and fisheries ( de gurgitibus et piscariis ) , as the king did not

' i 30.
wish to imperil his soul by witholding such tithes . On top of

all this Luke g%s granted custody of any vacant bishopric within

his province .

Luke then crossed over to his diocese and his consecration
took place at some time before November of th%g year when he was
first referred to as 'archbishop of Dublin' . éne of Luke's first
actions in Dublin was to meet with representatives of Holy Trinity
and St. Fatricks and come to an agreement with them regarding future

archiepiscopal elections whereby the two chapters would have an equal

27. Fat.Rolls I226-32 ,p.329-30

28. Cal.Chart.Rolls 1226-57,p. 119.
29. ibid. p. 117 ;_Cl.Rolls 1I227-31 , p. WL
30. Pat.Rolls,I226-32,p.337.1t seems that rectors in Dublin had complained

that certain laymen were witholding tithes on such things . In the early
years of his episcopacy Luke repeated that they were to be compelled to

pay . Cal.Lib.Nig. p. 46 .
31. Pat.Rolls  1226-32 , p. 34I

32. Ql.Rolls _ 1227-31 , p. 454
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voice in the election . Luke also used this occasion to settle a
dispute then going on between the two chapters and the convent of
3.

Grace Dieu .

It seems likely that Luke spent most of the year I231 in Ireland,
if not in Dublin . Early in the year he was one of those appointed
by the king to measure and assess the five royal cantreds in
Connaught and he probably spent some time out of his diocese
order to accomplish this taska?.Luke remained . very short of money
and although he was still in receipt of the issues of vacant
bishoprics in his province the king took the opportunity of his
confirmation of the new bishop of OUssory in 1232 to remind the
archbishop that this was in no way to become a permanent arrangement?éo
At about this time Luke was summoned to appear before the English
exchequer to answer for his debts,but the king allowed the summons

37.
to be deferred until the feast of St. Michael (29th September) .

Luke was in England in 3:=ptember I232 but primarily for another
reason . His former patron Hubert de Burgh was in serious trouble
and he wished to visit him in prison . The king gave special

permission for Luke to confer with de Burgh in private both in

33. Beg. Nov. p. I0I-2 ; see below pp. IB8I-2 .

y . ibid . p . IOI-Z

35, Pat.Rolls I1226-32 , p. 4I9 .

36.Cl.Rolls I1232-34 , p. 73 .
3?. ibid. P ?8 .
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September 1232 gnd in June I233 on matters pertaining to his confession
and salvation ? According to Matthew Paris and Roger Wendover Luke

was the only person who remained loyal to Hubert de Burgh . Both
reported that he spoke to the king on Hubert's behalf with tears

and entreaties and that he obtained for him a respite so that he

39.
had more time to deliberate on the charges he faced .

The fact that Luke's loyalty to Hubert de Burgh did not in
any way jeopardise his personal popularity with the king demonstates
the esteem in which he was held by Henry III . Although he did
not hold a formal position in the royal administration in Dublin ,
those who did were frequently instructed to take his advice .“0-
Immediately following his efforts on behalf of the dismissed
Justiciar Luke was asked along with Richard de burgh and the bishop
of Ferns John of S5t.John to make a valuation of the Marshall lands

in Ireland for the purpose of assigning dower to kleanor the
L.

Countess of Fembroke .

38. Cl.Rolls I231I-4 , pp. I52 , 155 , 314 .

39. Roger of Wendover's Flores Historiarum , 3 , pp. 33-8 ;
Matt.Paris , Chron. Maj. 3 , pp. 222, 226 , 229 .

40. See for ex. Cl.Rolls I23I-4 , p. 524 ; I234-7 , pp. 166, 510 .

4I. Cl.Rolls I23I-4 , p. I44-5 .
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There are frequent references to Archbishop Luke in the records
relating to the disturbances in Ireland which resulted from the
conflict between the king and Richard Marshall in I1233-4 . In May
I234 Luke was present at the settlement which was worked out between
the king and Richard's brother Gilberth?.It was decided at this time
that for safety the Marshall castle at Donamon was to be held by the
archbishop of Dublinu?.In September of this year the Irish justiciar
Maurice Fitz Gerald was instructed to find out by inquisition who had

been on the side of Richard Marshall in the recent 'war' and Il

to fine and punish these persons in the presence of Archbishop Luke .

In the course of this conflict the king's bailiffs had been
forced by necessity to take certain goods and valuables from the
churches in the Dublin diocese and province and Henry III was anxious
to make reparation for the damage . In August I234 the justiciar was
mandated to enquire , in the archbishop's presence , what loss the
archbishop had suffered at the hands of the king's btailiffs during
the war and what moneys , Jjewels , and chattels were taken in the
king's name from the church of Dublin andugfom other churches and

monasteries in the archbishop's province . In September ihe king

42, C.P.R. 1232-47 p. 75 .

L43. ibid. p. 47 . This castle was restored to Gilbert in August I234
ibid. p. 65 .

4y. Cl.Rolls I23I-4 , p, 524 .

45, ibid. p. 591 :...Faciatis diligenter ........que bona ut in
denariis , jocalibus , catallis et aliis rebus quibuscumque capta
fuerunt nomine nostro in ecclesia Dullin et aliis ecclesiis et '
monasteriis provincie sue et inde asportata occasione guerre predicte .
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granted Luke 300 marks for the damage done to him and his diocese
by the war. He also restored to him the vill of Stagonnil and
granted him a fair in his manor there and also in his manor of

L6,
Glannor .

because of Luke's early experience in the king's wardrobe as
treasurer of the household , many of the tasks assigned to him in
Ireland were financial in nature . In August I234 the king instructed
Luke along with the justiciar and the master of the Templars to
personally check eaﬁh year the accounts of the treasurer in Ireland
and notify the king T'Early in the next year Henry III , badly in

need of money , instructed the Irish justiciar to farﬂeout various

manors and demesne lands in Dublin by Luke's advice .

In May I236 the justiciar and Luke sent a messenger to the
king asking for advice on the Constitutions of Merton and in
particular the laws governing persons born before and after wedlock
The king replied by sending a copy of the Constitutions over to Ireland
with orders that the justiciar and the archbishop were to read them
carefully and cause them to be observed %9Later in I236 the king was

in touch with the justiciar concerning the situation in Connaught

46. C.P.R. 1232-47 p. 70-I ; C.D.I. I. no. 2I86 p. 324 , no. 2209, p.
27 .

47. C.P.R. 1232-47 p. 67 .
48, Cl.Rolls I234-7 , p. I66 .

49- ibido po 351',’ .
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and he informed him that he had been advised by A rchbishop Luke
that it would help the peace in Connaught if the Justiciar were

50.
to fortify two more castles there .

Luke's advice on affairs in Ireland obviously held weight with
the king . In April I237 he was requested , along with Hugh de Lacy,
to accompany the justiciar over to England to consult with the king
over affairs in Ireland ?Iit is not known if Luke went over to
England on this occasion . The justiciar did not go personally but
sent two representatives .5§£ October of this year the king wrote
asking Luke to audit the justiciar's account and also to try to

53.
ralse money for the king in Ireland .

The archbishop continued to serve Henry III in Ireland
throughout his episcopacy , although without holding an official
position and presumably without regular remuneration . His duties
were for the most part supervisory with regard to the treasurer and
justiciar , whose accounts he was frequently asked to audit .5§; 1250
he was one of those asked to advise the king whether it would be
better to settle and culti;gte the waste lands of Ireland or to

lease them to Irishmen . In this year he was also appointed to

50 (J'].ORO].].S—IZ}"'__? [} pl 510 ..

ST, 4bid. ps 527
52, ibid. Pe STL .
53, ibid. p. 574 .

S4. See C.F.R. 1232-47, pp. 277, 379 , 429 .

55. CoPaRn 12’4?- 58’ Pc 68 .
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preach the crusade in Ireland and during the next five years , until
his death in I255 he was engaged in preaching the crusade and

56.
collecting the Holy Land tenth in Ireland .

Apart from one or two short visits to England Luke does not
appear to have been absent from his diocese for any long period of
time . He therefore had plenty of time to devote to the spiritual
concerns of his office , yet very little evidence survives which
would give an insight into his ecclesiastical functions . In many
ways Luke is the most shadowy figure among the thirteenth century

Dublin archbishops .

Luke does appear to have taken a special interest in the
administration of the secular chapter of St. Patrick's , which was
headed by his nephew Dean Richard de Gardino from c.I235 to I259 .
It was during his episcopacy that St. Patrick's completed its
development and passed legislation which brought it into line with

57.
the English secular cathedrals on which it was modelled .

In 1244 the archbishop complained to the pope that there were
many churchmen in his diocese who were of defective birth and in

in response to this Pope Innocent IV gave him permission to

56. Cl.Rolls I247-51 , p. 358 ; C.P.R. I247-58 , p. 372 .

57 . See below pp. I46-7 .



-76-

dispense priests and others on account of illegitimacy , provided he
useddiscretion and ensured that they were not incontinent but of honest
life and conversationjé.At the same time Luke was given a papal

indult exempting him from citation outside of Ireland and another
allowing him to bestow a plurality of benefices on two clerics

of his province providing that cure of souls was not affected .59.

In I251 Pope Innocent also granted Luke the privilege that no
provisions to churches of his diocese should be valid unless

directed to him or expressly mentioning himé?.Two years later

the same pope granted him that none of his collations could be hindered

61.
by the production of papal letters .

Luke's two predecessors had been involved in serious disputes
with royal officials in Ireland but the conflicts of Luke's
episcopacy were centered on the affairs of the Irish church and are
unfortunately poorly documented . From 1238 to I244 the archbishop
of Dublin was involved in a dispute with his suffragan bishop of
Ussory during which he was charged with unlawfully taking over
and occupying the diocese of Ossory Luke also appears to have imposed
hHis archdeacon Geoffrey de Turville on the see on Bishop Walter

de lrackeley's death in I244 .

58. Pont.Hib. 2 , no. 263 , pp. 1034 .
59. ibid. 2 , no. 264 p. IO4 ; no.265 pp. I04-5 .
60 b8, 2 , no. 332 ps TI6H ",

6l 1h38. 2 & 0o 375 p« 202 «

62. For an account of this dispute see below pp. 308-22
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Luke also appears to have become involved in a dispute with
the archbishop of Armagh , presumably over the latter's assertion
of primatial rights with reference to the prowvince of Dublin .

The archbishop of Dublin entered into an agreement (dated c. I2Ll4)
with the archbishop of Cashel that they would protect and mutually
defend their churches and liberties against the usurpations of the

6‘3.
archbishop of Armagh .

It seems likely that Luke was in poor health for some years

before he died . In July I253 King Henry granted to one of his clerks
that he might have the collation of the prebends of Penkridge in

Staffordshire whenever Luke Archbishop of Dublin should die or

64 .
resign from office . In his notice of Luke's death Matthew Paris

65.
mentioned that he had been blind before he died . This did not

prevent Luke from serving the king up until the end of his life .

In December I253 Henry wrote from Gascony to Luke and other Irish
prelates , desperately in need of money and begging their assistanceé?'
In May of the following year protection was issued for the ship

of the monks of St. Mary's bearing provisions to the king in Gascony

67.
on behalf of the archbishop of Dublin .

63. Crede Mihi , f£.92v., See below p. 328 ,

64. C.P.R.I247-58 , p. 218 .

65. Mat. Paris Chron. Maj. vol. 5. p. 531 .

66, C.Dile 2 ; nos 306,ps U6

67. ibld. 2 , no. 353,p.55 .
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Luke de Roches died on the I3th. December I255 in Dublin .
Some years before his death he had granted lands to the Hospital
of St. John the Baptist outside Dublin , for which the prior and
brethren agreed to offer special prayers for the soul of the
archbishop and his successors . Each sick person and each attendant
in the hospital would say five paternosters daily at the stated
hours together with all other good prayers said and to be salid among

68.
the sick .

68. Al.Reg. p. 83 .
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a) FULK OF SANDFORD : EARLY CAREER .
Very little is forthcoming on the early career of the fourth

Anglo-Norman Archbishop of Dublin apart from his connection with
the powerful Basset family of Wycombel. His relationship to the
Basset house is brought out in a letter of Pope Alexander IV in
June 1257 in which a marriage licence is granted to 'Philip
called Basset.sssss...0n the signification of his nephew the
archbishop of Dublin '2: This was Sir Philip Bassetywho was
justiciar of England I26I-63 and brother of Fulk Basset bishop

of London . There was another brother , Gilbert,and either

he or his brother Fulk could have fathered Fulk of Dublin .

The bishop of London has a slightly stronger claim as he appointed
Fulk to the archdeaconry of Middlesex in I244 ;the year of his own
consecration ?'Of course,this could have been the action of a
generous uncle . Fulk was also prebendary of Ealdland in St.

L,
Paul's cathedral and in 1252 he is first mentioned as treasurer

5
of St. Paul 's. He held this position up to the time he was

appointed archbishop of Dublin and after his appointment received

I. Fulk is variously described as Basset and de Sandford . Matthew
Paris calls him Basset on his appointment to Dublin , Chron.Maj.

V. p.59I and in the Annals of Tewkesbury his appointment is
recorded as follows 'Fulco Basset, vel de Samford eligitur in

Archiepiscopum Dublinii.'_ﬁgg. Tewkesbury , p. I59

2y CuPly Iy Db,

3. R.Newcourt,Repertorium Ecclesiasticum Parochiale Londinense,2 vols.
(London 1708-10 ), I, p.78 .

4, Le Neve, Fasti St. Paul's I, comp. D.E.Greenway (I968),p. 22.

5. ibid. p. 22 ; see also Visitations of churches belonging to
St. Paul's , ed. W.S.Simpson,Camden Misc.LX (1895),pp.§%&21 .
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papal permission to retain the treasurership , with all the prebends and
6.

benefices which he also held . However , he does not appear to

have retained the treasurership,whatever about the other prebends

?l
and benefices .

There is no record of Fulk being involved with the administration
before his elevation to the see of Dublin , but as treasurer of
St.Paul's he could hardly have escaped some involvement with the
royal bureaucracy . Unlike his predecessors in Dublin who owed their
promotion to their good standing with the king , Fulk owed his
promotion to his influence at the papal curia . He was in Rome in
1256 when Pope Alexander IV quashed the election of Ralph of Norwich
who had been chosen by the two Dublin chapters . There is no
indication of what his business at the papal court was at this time
and Tout may have been correct to suggest that his presence there
was accidental as far as the Dublin election was concerneda:
Whatever Fulk was doing in Rome , he was informed on July I9th.

1256 of his election to the see of Dublin ?.A week later Fope
Alexander informed the two chapters that he had provided to the
see :

Fulconem de Sandford tunc thesaurium ecclesie sancti Pauli ,

Londoniensis , virum utique nobilem , litteratum , morum

honestate conspicuum , consilio providum , in spiritualibus et
I0.

temporalibus circumspectum .

6. Pont.Hib. 2 , no. 428 ,

7. Le Neve ,Fasti of St.Paul's , p. 22 .
8. D.N.B. vol. XVII, p. 760 .

9. Pont.Hib. 2 no. 428 , pp. 256-7 .

I0. ibid. 2 no. 429 , pp. 257-9 .




ARCHEISHOP OF DUBLIN I256-72 .

Before leaving Rome Pope Alexander IV granted Fulk two
privileges . Firstly,the archbishop was not to be called outside |
of his diocese to answer in any legal case for a period of three years.ll.
secondly his . rights in presenting to benefices within his

diocese were not tot interfered with by persons bearing papal letters

unless these letters were granted subsequent to this indult and made
12,
special reference to it .

Fulk must have arrived in Dublin in late October or early
November 1256 and been consecrated almost immediately . The temporalities
of the diocese were restored to him in November ?jﬁis first action
appears to have been to undertake a visitation of the province of
Dublin . This must have occured between November 1256 and March 1257
when he was in London attending the Easter parliamentl%.ln July I257
Fope Alexander wrote that he had been informed by the archbishop of
Dublin that religious observance had been almost totally abandoned
in some Lenedictine and Augustinian houses of his provinci5.and he

gave permission for four of these houses to be united and three to

te transferrei to more suitable places . The ancient privileges

I1I. Pont.Hib. 2, no. 43I,p. 260-I,
I2. ibid. no. 432,p. 261,

13. C.P.R. I247-58,p. 529.

I4. Mat.Faris. Chron.Maj. V, p. 624 .

15. Pont.Hib. 2, no. 443,p. 271. :..... Tua nobis fraternitas timavit
quod in nonnullis religiosis domibus tue provincie sancti ienedicti et

sancti Augustini ordinum propter nimiam paupertatem , in quitusdam vero
propter locorum incptitudinem religionis observantia fere omnino defecit.
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of these houses were to be taken into consideration and the consent
of the diocesan bishops and prelates of the various places was to

16.
be obtained .

This information on religious practices in the Dublin province
must have been obtained during a visitation . Fulk could not have
undertaken one between March and July 1257,as he was still in England
in June when he officiated at the funeral of Roger de Weseham ,
former bishop of Coventry and Lichfield I?-Therefore it must have
taken place during the winter of I256-7, which suggests that Fulk

was taking his pastoral duties towards his new province very seriously.

More information on the visitation is contained in a declaration
made by the bishop and clergy of Leighlin in Cctober 1257 . They
stated that when Archbishop Fulk had made his recent visitation of
their diocese he had taken into consideration the poverty of the
church of Leighlin , especially their recent granting of a tenth
of their incomes to the king .. At their request he had limited

the procurations taken from each of the five deaneries in the diocese
18.
to five pounds .

16. These religious houses are not named and cannot definitely be
identified . Archbishop Alen claimed that the convent of Holmpatrick
was transfered from St.Patrick's Island as a result of this indult
Al .Reg. p. 87 , but Ware stated that Henry of London was responsible
for moving this convent , Works , I p.I59. It seems likely that the
Augustinian convent of kells in the diocese of Ussory may have been
one of the houses threatened . See btelow p. 85 .

l?. Ann.Burton ’ po?g v

1¢. Liber Niger Alani Ms Al f. 116 r



Not all Fulk's suffragans were as satisfied with his behaviour
on the metropolitan visitation of I256-7 . The bishop of Ferns
sent a petition to Rome complaining that when the archbishop of
Dublin had made his visitation of the city and diocese of Ferns he
brought a huge number of attendants with him , more than the church
of Ferns could support , and he had asked for large procurations.lg.
Fope Alexander replied that the bishop need not admit the archbishop
again if he visited them with more than the equipage which had

20.
been fixed by the Lateran Council for provincial visitation .

The archbishop's proctor at Rome , a Master Demetrius , papal

writer ( domini pape scriptor ) protested against the pope's letter

in public audience but the protest was dismissed because no privilege
2L,

or indulgence of the Archbishop of Dublin had been infringed upon .

'
I9. Crede Mihi, Fol. IO4vV ....cum......Archiepiscopus Dublinensis
metropolitanus tuus cum ad Fernensem civitatem et diocesim causa
visitationis accedit personarum et evecticnum numerum in Lateranensi
contentum consilio non contentatur sed ineffrenatam quandam
multitudinem secum ducit ....propter qued in exibendis procurationibus
eidem archiepiscopo compel}eris ultra facultates Fernensis ecclesie

subire onera expensarum

20. .Canon law regarding the number of retainers allowed to an
archbishop or bishop while on visitation was fixed at the third Lateran
Council II7?9 . See G.D.Mansi ed. Sacrorum Concilium Nova et Amplissima

Collectio (Reprint Paris I903), vol. 22 p. 2I9 .

2I. Crede Mihi,Fol. IO4v 2...quod nullum privilegiis et indulgentiis
dicto archiepiscopo et ecclesie Dublinensi concessis per predictas

preiudicium generetur .
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At the same time the Augustinian Abbey of Kells in the diocese
of Ossory obtained a papal indult that the prior and convent were
not to be molested in any way or their property injured or diminisheg?.
There is no specific mention of Archbishop Fulk in this indult,but his
proctor at Home again protested against the letter and his protest
. was similarly dismissed on the grounds that no privilege of the
Archbishop was being prejudiced . It is highly likely that the
complaint of the abbey arose in connection with Fulk's recent
visitation and that it may have been one of the Augustinian houses
which the Archbishop was planning to transfer or unite with another

23,

house .

Archbishop Fulk must have been aware in the summer of 1257 that
certain actions of his were likely to provoke hostility, because he
asked Pope Alexander to allow him to choose a discreet priest to
hear his confession . Kz asked that this confessor be allowed to
atsolve him if necessary from sentences of excommunication which
he might have incurred by laying violent hands on anyone and also
that he might le competent to dispense him from any irregularity which

may have ocairred as a result of such a sentence . The pope granted

Fulk his wish in July I257.

23. Un Fol. I05 of the Crede Mihi there are three brief headings of
documents which were not transcribed into the register . Two of these
would appear to concern the Kells Abbey case . The first reads
Littera cautionis super immunitate domini Dublinensis ne per litteras
de Kenleys Ussoria convenire possit . This is followed by : Alia
consimilis de revocandis dispersa et alienatione super eodem .

2“- l‘Oﬂt.Hib. 2,[10 Mi’ pa 2?1_2 .
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This seems to have been a wise move on the part of Fulk de
Sandford , whose episcopacy can only be described as stormy . For
the first time Dublin had an archbishop who was prepared to defend
the ecclesiastical as well as the temporal privileges of his office
and one who could devote all his time and energy to the task . He
was also the first archbishop of Dublin to have been provided by the
Holy See and he retained close links with Rome and received constant

support both from Pope Alexander IV and his successor Urban IV.

Fulk had to return to Rome early in his episcopacy in connection
with another dispute which arose out of his provincial visitation .
This concerned the prior and convent of the Cistercian abbey of
Baltinglass who had objected to visitation by Fulk of their chapels
in Leighlin ?5ﬁulk recelved letters of protection from the king in
July I259 when he was on his way to Rome and he remained there at
least until the end of I260 %6A1though the primary reason for his presence
in Rome was to come to an agreement with Baltinglass Abbey , he used
the occasion to inform the pope about the various ways in which his

ecclesiastical dignity was being threatened . During this visit

he also received many privileges from Alexander IV .

Firstly he was granted that the deanery of Penkridge College in

Staffordshire might be permanently united with the archbishopric

25. Fulk's presence in Rome and its connection with the Baltinglass
dispute is mentioned in a letter of Fope Alexander cated April I260.

Font.Hib. 2 no.492,p. 316-7 .

26. C.F.R. I258-66 , p. 31 . Archbishop Fulk's official William de
Hatingel was still acting for him in August I260 ibid. p. 92 .
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of Dublin ,thereby ensuring that the deanery would not be granted to
anyone else,as had happened in the vacancy following Luke's death .2?.
The archbishop was also granted authority to annﬁg.the prebend of
Swords in Dublin to the archiepiscopal dignity . On top of this

he was to henceforth be exempt from the payment of certain tithes ,
those on the cultivation of lands pertaining to the church of Dublin
and on the feeding of animals on these lands . This privilege was also

29.

to extend to Fulk's successors in the see .

Fulk had also complained to the pope about the situation in
the diocese of Dublin which he had found on his arrival there and
he expressed fears about what might be happening during his absence .
Pope Alexander wrote three letters to ecclesiastics in Ireland
asking them to intervene in Dublin and protect the archbishop's
rights . He wrote to the bishops of Lismore and Waterford and also
to the abbot of St.Mary's Dublin instructing them to compel those
who were prejudicing the rights of the see of Dublin to refrain 3?.
He was most specific in a letter of March I2€0 to the Abbot
of Tintern , the Prior of Athassel and the Archdeacon of Ferns .31‘
It is clear from this that it is the officers of the secular power

in Dublin who Fulk feels are prejudicing his rights . In the letter

the pope informed the ecclesiastics that Fulk had complained about

27. Pont . Hib. 2,no. 471,p. 294-5 . See Appendix no. 2 ,

28. ibid. no. 478,p. 303-4 .

29. ibid. no. 479,p. 304-5 . This indult was revoked a year later at
the request of the Dean and Chapter of St.Fatrick's . See below p.I5I.

30. ibid.

3I. ibid. no.4€7, pp. 31I-13 .
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the actions of the justiciar of Ireland and his men ..The complaints
bear similarity with ecclesiastical gravamina from the English
dioceses of the same period and mainly concern the infringement of
ecclesiastical jurisdiction , the use of secular power against
clerics and the obstruction of spiritual punishments . "The situation
had not improved following Fulk's return to his diocese in I260 and

he complained again to the new pope,Urban IVy,who in November I261
wrote to King Henry and the Lord Edward , repeating the charges which
Archbishop Fulk had levelled against the justiciar and his
S A T e same time the pope wrote to Richard
Gravesend , bishop of Lincoln and Walter Cantilupe,bishop of

Wworcester informing them of the situation in Dublin and asking them

to use their influence with the King and the Prince to bring about

a solution . .There is no evidence of any attempt on  the

part of these bishops to interfere in Dublin, and the compiaints were
once again repeated in a letter from the pope to the bishop of
Dromore and the prior of the Friars Preachers in Drogheda in I264 . e
These ecclesiastics were instructed to use the weapon of excommunication
against the officials of the English king if they persisted in

encroaching on the rights of the Dublin church . It is not clear if

Fulk eversvcceeded in preventing these encroachements .

32. Font.Hib. 2,n0. 479, pp.311-13.

33. For a detailed discussion of these complaints see below chapter I2 ,
34. Crede Mihi fol. 84-84v , 85-85v .

35. ibid. fol. 85v-86€ .

36. ibid. fol. 86 .
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After his return to Dublin Fulk was involved in another lengthy
lawsuit , this time with the Prior and Brethren of the Hospital of
St.John of Jerusalem over the visitation of some of their churches
in Kildare . Fulk accused the hospital of St.John of usurping the
church of Stachfythenane , obstructing the visitation of this church
and refusing to pay procurations . He excommunicated members of the
order who had prevented his representative Thomas de Chaddesworth
from entering the churchj?.The case dragged on for many years and
was complicated by the assertion by a Roman clerk, Boniface of Coronato,

nephew of Cardinal Ubertus of St. Eustace,that he held the rectory

of Stachfythenane .

Archbishop Alen's register contains many documents relating to
this case , including a list of objections by Archbishop Fulk's
proctor Richard +to the papal rescript summoning the archbishop to
answer the charges made against him by the Prior and Brethren of the
Hospital of St.John .In this .he asks among other things that the
'libel’' contained in the document be struck out and that the hospital
should be required to pay the costs of the case when it was shown that

38.
their objections could not be sustained .

An agreement was finally reached in March I269 between the

representatives of the archbishop and the Frior and Brethren of

37. Al. Reg. p.93-5 .Mc Neill identifies Stachfythenane as Tipeenan
and Whitehouse,Co.Kildare 1ibid. p. 369

38. ibid. pp. 96-100,
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St.John's . The archbishop undertook to withdraw all suspensions and
interdicts and lay aside any resentment . The hospital agreed to pay
the archbishop 20 pounds sterling and both sides agreed to

39.

unite in opposition to the Roman clerk Boniface of Coronato .

Many of the records of Fulk's episcopacy deal with arrangements
and agreements concerning the lands of the see and the collection
and payment of debtsu?.During the years I262-4 the archbishop leased
out some of the lands of his manors to tenants to hold for their
lifetimes,with the land reverting back to the see on their death .
The rent for these lands varied from IOd per acre per annum for
land in Clonmethan to 43d per acre in Rathcooleu{.Fulk was active
also with regard to the lands belonging to the see in Wicklow .

In August I263 he met the canons of St. Kevin's,Glendalough in
Castlekevin and agreed to pay them 27s. 4d each year for ten
years in return for their renouncing their rights with regard

42 .
to certain churches in that area . It may also have been at this time

39. Al. Reg. p. I3I-2 . There is no mention however of the question

of visitation and procurations which was the initial cause of the
dispute . In I367 Archbishop Thomas Minot while visiting his diocese
asked the Prlor and Brethren of Jerusalem to exhibit their exemption
from the archbishop's ordinary Jurisdiction in respect of their
parish churches (including Stachfythenane) . The Prior and Brethern
asserted that they and their predecessors held these churches in good
faith dnd that they had always been reserved: to the jurisdiction
of the Holy see and free from all jurisdiction of the archbishop
‘except procurations due in visitation and his jurisdiction over

those having cure of souls' . Archbishop Minot accepted this assertion.

40, See for ex. Crede Mihi,ff. 95v ,96v,97v-I0I .

LI-I. AlnR Eo Pl 95-6 .-

42. ibid. p. 97.
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that Fulk granted the land of Glenmalure to Murtagh 0'Toole

for a rent of 27s.4d per annum and a customary payment of 3% marks

to bearendered at Castlekevin . Murtagh paid 20 marks for this

grant ?‘In I264 Fulk held the wardship and marriage of another

OfToole ,Agatha daughter and heiress of Meiler O Toole,a tenant of the
archbishop . He granted this wardship to Adam de Wodeford,who bound

uh.
himself to pay twenty pounds per annum for it .

This selling and renting of lands was probably connected with
Fulk's efforts to pay off a large debt to Italian merchant bankers
which he may have contracted before coming to Dublin or perhaps
during his long and no doubt expensive stay at the papal curia .
It is not known how large the debt was but in I266 Fulk paid I00

45,
pounds to one merchant and 550 marks to another .

It was also during this period that a series of secular inquisitions
were being held on the archiepiscopal lands to ascertain what
Jjurisdictional rights were being exercised by the archbishop and his
bailiffs . It was found that the archbishop's courts were hearing
all pleas of the crown except the four reserved pleas of rape,
forestalling , treasure trove and arson . Fulk was not held personally
responsible for this as he was merely exercising the rights which hac

been exercised by his predecessors and by the king's escheator during

vacancies .

43. Al.Reg. p.1136.
lm. ibid. PI III}.

45, Crede Mihi,f. IOIv . Fulk was also obliged to mortgage his manor
of Fenkridge tor 100 pounds . ibid. f.90v

L46.Al .Reg. pp. 10XI-II5 . See below pp. 285-90 ,
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Until this time Fulk does not appear to have played any major role
in the Dublin administration . This is hardly surprising since ,
unlike his predecessors y de Sandford had not been active in the
English administration before his elevation to the see of Dublin.
Moreover his numerous complaints about the actions of the Irish
Justiciar and his officers must have made him rather unpopular ??.
Added to this he was often absent from his diocese , firstly at

Rome » later on in England and finally on pilgrimage to Spain .

It is strange therefore that it was to Fulk that King Henry
turned in I265 during the period of crisis in Irish affairs which
followed the capture of the justiciar Richard de la Rochelle by
the Geraldines at Castledermot in December I264 %Bit may indeed
have been his previous lack of involvement in the administration
which recommended him to the English government at this time .
In February I265 the king wrote to Fulk saying that he had
heard that Ireland was likely to be disturbed by discord among
the magnates and that with the consent of the Lord Edward he had
decided that the archbishop of Dublin would be a useful and
necessary agent for the preservation and restoration of peace .

He therefore wiished him to take over custody of Ireland , to

regulate the chancery , take castles into the king's hand and

47. Archbishop Alen commented on one of the papal letters outlining
Fulk's complaints against the justiciar ' This letter rendered
Archbishop Fulk detested by everyone in his day ' Al.Reg. p. 92 .

48, Ann. Con. p. I43 ; Clyn Annals,p. 8.
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supply them with arms . The archbishop was urged to undertake this
L9,
office ' for love of the king' .

The king wrote again to the archbishop in March informing him that
he had been told by the archbishops's messengers and others that great
dissension had arisen between the magnates of Ireland . The king
asked Fulk to strive to preserve the peace of the country with
the help of the bishop of Meath,Hugh de Taghmon and to certify
to the king the state of Ireland and the fealty of the nobles . The
king was also sending over Roger Waspail to help him ?O.It appears
that Fulk did hold the custody of Ireland for a very short period, until
May when Henry wrote entrusting the country to Roger Waspail,who
was to be aided by the archbishop of Dublin . Together they
were to audit the escheator's account andjﬁend all available money
to the king,who was badly in need of it ;5 Ehere is no evidence
that this was done and Fulk does not appear again in the records

52.
exercising any administrative duties .

Shortly after the events of I265 Fulk became embroiled in

perhaps the most serious dispute of his episcopacy . The conflict

49, C.P.R.I258-66,p. 407 .
50, Cl.Rolls I264-8 , p. I07 .

51,C.P.R. 1258-66 , pp. 422-3 .

52, According to Richardson and Sayles the mandates to Archbishop
Fulk and Roger Waspail were disregarded in Dublin and Geoffrey de
Geneville took the place of Richard de la Rochelle and acted as
justiciar up until April I26€ . Rich. Sayles Admin. Irl , pp. 79-80;
The Irish Parliament in the middle ages , (I964) , pp. 58-9 .
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was with the Mayor and citizens of Dublin and details of it are
contained in a letter of Febrary I267 from the papal legate Ottobon
to the bishops of Lismore and Waterford ?B.Fulk complained to the
papal legate that the mayor and citizens , unmindful of their
salvation,were trying to limit their customary offerings to the
church of Dublin . He specially mentioned tithes and the payments
made at blessings and churchings of women which were,according to
the archbishop ,the main support of the churches in his diocese. =

The mayor and citizens were also seeking to limit the number of

people attending these ceremonies and had decreed that the candles

and lights which the laity supplied at funerals were not to be left

in the churches after burial had taken place,but were to be brought
home . On top of this the citizens were denying the archbishop the
right to properly exercise his spiritual jurisdiction in cases

such as usury and were claiming the privilege of changing or
mitigating public penances which had been imposed by the ecclesiastical
courts. Fulk also accused the citizens of further enormities by which

they were subverting the liberty of the church and placing their souls
55.

in danger .

53. Crede Mihi,f.IOI.

54, | ..Horrendam nimis , Piis sensibus auribusque nostris valde molestam,
venerabilis in Christo pater ..Dublunensis archiepiscopus exhibuit
questionem , quod licet proventus ecclesiarum civitatis Dublin in
oblacionibus fidelium pro majori parte consistant , quas eiusdem

homines utriusque sexus , diebus dominicis et festivis , deciniarum
nomine , ac alias in benedictionibus nubentium et puerperarum
purificacionibus cum decenti et numeros comitiva , juxta singulorum
beneplacitum , in ecclesiis offerre consueverant , de antiqua et
approbata, et hactenus pacifice observata, consuetudine , pia devocione

fidelium introducta . ibid. f. IOI .

55, ...Multa quidem et alia enormia statutis huismodi adjecerunt , in
animarum suarum periculum , multorum scandalum, et in subvertionem
ecclesiastice libertatis .’ ibid. f.IO0I .
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Fulk had excommunicated the mayor and some of the citizens and
laid an nterdict on the city of Dublin . The papal legate was
writing because Fulk had come to him in London and asked for a
confirmation of his sentence of excommunication. Ottobon therefore
instructed the bishops of Waterford and Lismore to confirm Fulk's
sentence and to pronounce the mayors and citizens encommunicated in
public places in the city and province of Dublin with bells ringing
and lighted candles until they made adequate satisfaction . There is
no record of what arrangement was arrived at concerning the offering
of tithes or payments at blessings but in November I267 an
agreement was reached between the mayor and citizens and representatives

56

of the archbishop over the conduct of public penances.

The dispute must have occured late in I2€5 or early in I266 as

Fulk was in London by September I266 when he paid money to the
57.
Italian merchants in the house of the Knights Templar | In

April 1267 letters of protection were issued to Fulk for his

pilegxri mage to the tomb of St. James at Compostella and his return

from there ?B'A few days later the king granted to Fulk that during his
life he might enjoy the full use of all liberties granted to him by
royal charter and all jurisdiction exercised by him and his

59.

predecessors .

56. Al. Reg. p. 1I30.
57. Crede Mihi. f. IOIv «

58, C.F.R. 1672, p. 53.

59. ibid. p. 54 .
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Fulk left the full a&ministration of his affairs in Ireland in
the hands of John of Sandford who acted for him at least until the
end of January I270 ?O.The archbishop was back in his diocese
by August I270 when he was granted the special privilege by the
king that after his decease his executors might have easements in
the manors and pastures of his see for a period of six monthsé?.lt
would seem that Fulk had returned from his pilgrimage in poor
health and was aware that he had not long to live . He died early

62.
in I271 and is thought to have been buried in St. Patrick's .

The first ten years of Fulk's episcopacy formed the most turhilent
period in the thirteenth century history of the archdiocese . This
archbishop's energy and concern for spiritual affairs was clear
from the early days of his episcopate when he embarked on a provincial
visitation of at least three of his suffragan dioceses in what must
have been harsh winter conditions . The huge amount of litigation
which ensued out of this visitation suggests that it may have

been the first of its kind undertaken in the Dublin Province .

Fulk de Sandford also realized during his first years in Ireland
that the jurisdictional liberties of his church and the churches

of his suffragan dioceses were belng threatened and he spent a great

60. Al. Reg. pp. I3I , I33 . See below p. II0-II .

6I. C,P.R. 1266-72 , p. 451 .

62. Ch.St.Mary's 2,p. 323 . The two chapters informed the king of
Fulk's death in June I27I . C.P.R. 1266-72 , p. 637 . A late
thirteenth century tomb effigy in St. Patrick's has been identified
as being that of Fulk or perhaps John of Sandford . See J.Hunt
Irish Medieval Figure Sculpture , I200-I600 , 2 vols. (Dublin I974),

vol. I p.I40 , vol. 2 Plate 73 .




....9?_

deal of time defending these liberties and petitioning for the

ald of Rome . It was when the citizens of Dublin began to threaten
the entire financial basis of his church that he left the diocese .
Through his influence with the papal legate in London and with ﬁ?ng
Henry he eventually obtained a settlement of his grievances. In .
June I270 the Lord Edward instructed his justiciar and his other
officers and faithful subjects in Ireland that they were to help
the archbishop defend his liberties against those who were

attempting to raise the hand of rebellion against him . Unfortunately

Fulk did not live to enjoy this turnabout in Edward's policy .

There is no evidence that Archbishop Fulk’s determined
struggle to protect his archiepiscopal liberties led to any
long term improvement in the position of the Dublin church .
The long vacancy which followed Fulk's death , coupled with the
appointment of largely absentee archbishops in the latter part of
the century meant that no further steps were taken to

consolidate his achievements .

63. C.P.R. 1266-72 , p. 54 .

64. Liber Niger Alani (AI) , fol. 24v ....... Audivimus quod Topnulli
de terra nostra Hibernie contra venerabilem patrem et dilectum

nostrum dominum Dublinensem archiepiscopum , necnon et suos officiales,
in anime sue periculum , manum rebellionis extendere presumpserunt ,
quorum aliqui , in malicia eadem , indebite perseverant . Volentes
autem , sicut et debemus , ad libertatis ecclesiastice statum manum
nostrum porrigere , vobis mandamus quatinus a dicto archiepiscopo et
eius officialibus requisiti ad reprimendam talium rebellium malitiam ,
manum ad jutorii prebeatis , ita ut officium suum , quoad ad
ecclesiasticam disciplinam pertinet , valeat idem archiepiscopus ,

suis officialibus , pacifice exercere .




Taking into consideration Fulk's energy and his attested concern
for spiritual matters in his province it appears likely that it
is to his episcopacy that the undated synodal canons transcribed into

65.
the thirteenth century register Crede Mihi belong. The 'core' of

the canons(that is from number I to 3I in Gwynn's numbering excluding

canon 9) may have been brought to Ireland and distributed by Fulk during
his provincial visitation of I256-7 . These canons appear to have

been borrowed from the diocese of York ;nd they are mainly concerned
with providing elementary instruction for the parochial clergy . In

this they resemble most of the surviving English thirteenth century
diocesan statutes which according to Cheney ' represent the most
practical and most conscientious attempt by the ecclesiastical
authorities of the time to acquaint an ignorant parochial clergy with
the rudiments of the christian fg;th and the obligations which

attached to the cure of souls.'

65. Crede Mihi fol.I06-8 . Gwynn, Prov.Dioc.Decrees , pp. 44-55 . The
dating of these canons has gone through a range of possibilities . They
were firstly dated to c. I2I7 and the time of Henry of London by
Wilkins , Concilia, I. p. 548 . The ascription was based on the report
that Henry of London had held a council in that year and this date

was accepted by Gibbs and Lang who concluded that these statutes were
the first to be issued in the British Isles follouwing the I2I5 Lateran
Council Bishops and Reform, p. III . The statutes were reprinted and
redated by Gwynn in I944 . He claimed that they belonged to the time
of Archbishop Luke as one of the statutes appears in legislation from
the Ferns diocese dated I240 . Prov.Dioc.Decrees,pp. 33 &55 . However
Cheney dated the Ferns statutes to much later than I240 thus

removing Gwynn's terminal date . Related Synodal Statutes pp. I23-4.
He concluded that the collection of statutes forms a composite series
with a 'core' accounting for two thirds of the statutes or the first
31 (excluding canon 9). This core can be dated to between I24I and I26I
while the remainder was added piecemeal between 1261 and I275. ibid

p. I31-2 ., There is a I7th century transript of the statutes in

B.M. Add.Ms. 4785 fol.30v , and an incomplete transcript in Marsh's

library Ms. 4.3.1.3 (8) .

66. Cheney , Related synodal statutes , pp. 131-2 .

67. C.R.Cheney The legislation of the English church', in E.H.R. vol.
50 (1935) p. 197 .



_99..

In the Dublin statutes the conduct of rectors and all who have
cure of souls figures prominently . It was stressed that their
conduct was at all times to be such as to provide an example to the
laity . They were to be honest and virtuous in all aspects of their
lives and absent themselves from any occasion which might taint their
purity . Attendance at spectacles , tournaments or any violent sport
was forbidden,as was the frequenting of taverns . The chastity of the
clergy was extremely important and the penalties for priests’
concubines were heavy,including excommunication and denial of
christian burial for those who persisted in their sin . The statutes
contain regulations for the examination of the parochial clergy prior
to their appointment . The priests were urged to be zealous in
celebrating the divine hours and those whose job it was to sing in

68.
church were to do so distinctly,without skipping or syncopation.

One long statute dealt with visitation of the sick which
was to take place on Sundays and feastdays . The deportment of the
priest and his attendants on their way to the sick person was to
be characterized by special gravity and dignity . Under no circumstance
was the oil or the euchanst to be spilled or dropped or were deacons
to be sent to administer the euchans,especially if they had been
drinking or indulging in any other carnal pleasure . The priest was
to be preceded by a clerk with a bell and lighted candle and he

was to hear the confession of the sick person and absolve him or her .

68. 'Qui autem cantant , distincte proferant et aperte , non
transiliendo , neque transcurrendo , vel cincopando , sed cum debita
reverncia ut ad devocionem excitent animos subditorum ' Prov. Dioc.

Decrees.,p. 47 .
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Serious death-bed repentaices were however reserved to the archbishop.
Many of the statutes deal with the administering of the sacraments
and they laid down that no one from one parish- was to be confessed
or admitted to communion in another without letters from his parish
priest . Likewise no one from another parish was to be married

without permission from his parochial clergy .

The statutes also reveal how dependent the parish clergy were
on the laity's contributions,both obligatory and voluntary . Priests
were advised to be especially careful in the collection of their
offerings,so that it did not appear that they were in any way
recelving money for administering the sacraments . Those who did
accept money for performing communions or confessions were to

Severely dealt with .

There is also some information on ecclesiastical jurisdiction .
Regulations were laid down concerning the examination of witnesses
in marriage cases and it was also stated that those who gave false
evidence , obtained such evidence or pleaded a case with prior
knowledge that it was based on false evidence were to be excommunicated.
This collection of statutes ends with a general excommunication of
all those who disturb the peace of the church or the king,including
those who prejudice ecclesiastical liberties and those who practise

sorcery . The final decree states that the statutes are to be read

out and explained in each deanery and their observance is to be

be compelled by ecclesiastical censure .
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The second grouping of canons(that is from 32 to 40 in
Gwynn's numbering ) can be dated to c. I26I-70 and they show definite
borrowing from the canons of Lambeth (I26I) ?9fhe first seven
statutes contain regulations dealing with testamentary law and

the first clause of canon 32 reads’ ' Quoniam in partibus istis

circa testamentum decedencium quedam inolevit confusio, quam

70.
emendari ordini ecclesiastico et honori pariter convenire censuimus,'

The canons state that administration of the goods of the deceased
was not to be given to the executors before the will had been proved
and an inventory made of the goods . Religious who acted as executors
were required to get a licence from the ecclesiastical judge . The
penalty for those who interfered with the making of a will , its
proving in the ecclesiastical court or the administration of the
goods of the deceased was to be excommunication . Also in this group
is a statute forbidding some members of the archdeacon's staff who
were in lower orders to pronounce sentences of excommunication

and another requiring each priest to announce in his church those
who wished to enjoy clerical privilege . These clerics were to

be properly tonsured especially in front of their ordinaries and

in churches and clerical gatherings .

The remaining eight canons form a mixed bag with no indication
of whether they were published separately or in a group. About half

of this group are canons dealing with the conduct of the clergy,with

69. Cheney, Related Synodal Statutes, p. 130.

70. Gwynn, Prov. Dioc.Decrees,p. 52.
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stress being laid on the . fiecessity that the church be kept free

from all possible taint of venality JOne statute states that litigants
in a case due to be heard before an ecclesiastical judge were not

to be prevented from coming to an agreement by the archdeacon or his
officials . Another required a priest who wished to say mass in a
parish which was not his own to get a licence from the archbishop

or archdeacon . It was also decreed that the statutes were to read
out four times a year . Finally pardoners were to be excluded

from the city and churches of Dublin unless they displayed letters

patent of the archbishop.

Canon 9,which according to Cheney was inserted by the original
scribe into the text in the Crede Mihi at some date before 141'2'75,?I
instructs all priests,especially those with cure of souls,to attend
their diocesan synods . If they are prevented by serious illness they
are to send a chaplain in their place . All are to conduct themselves
properly going to and returning from synods so as not to cause the

priestly office to be held in contempt by the laity,to whom they

should be a mirror and example .

Only a third of this collection of statutes can be positively
ascribed to the episcopacy of Archbishop Fulk,but the case for including
the rest appears to be strong . Taken together they form a most
important source for religious practice in the Dublin diocese and
province in the thirteenth century and provide evidence for the -
attempts Fulk de Sandford made to raise the religious standards of

the lower clergy and dispense instruction to them .

71. Cheney, Related Synodal Statutes , p. 130 .
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JOUEN DARLINGTCN ARCHBISHUP OF DUBLIN I279-84 .

John Darlington , who was provided to the see of Dublin in I279
was one of its most illustrious occupants in the thirteenth century .
As an important and intellectually gifted Dominican , he performed
many different functions throughout his careerI: He was active as a
diplomat , a royal servant , a collector of papal revenues and as a
theologian . Unfortunately he never set foot in his diocese during
the five years of his episcopacy . It was at the start of his first

Journey to Dublin in I284 that he succumbed to a fatal illness .

Darlington became a Dominican friar c. I240 , and was probably
at the Dominican covent of St.Jacques in Paris between 1245 and 124E .
He was credited with playing an important part in the drawing up in
P

Paris of the Concordantiae Magnae (called the ‘English Concordantia').

ln the I1250s he returned to London , possibly to take up the position

of prior of the London Dominicans . In 1256 he was made a member of

King Henry Ill's council and it is likely that he became the king's

confessor at the same time .From then until Henry's death in 1272

1. The most succinct account of Darlington's career can be found in
T.F.T.Tout's entry in DNB , vol. 5 pp. 5II-1I3 . More detail and

some chronological corrections are contained in H.M.MacInerny

A History of the Irish Dominicans (Dublin I916),vol. I,pp. 297-377 .

2. Chronica et annales de Willelmi Rishanger , ed. H.T.Riley
(R.S. 1865),p. 89 ; John Leland's Commentari de scriptoribus

Erittannicis , ed. A. Hall (Oxford I1709), p. 302 .

3. MacInerny, Irish Doms. p. 30I.

4. Mat.Paris Chron. Maj. vol. 5 , p. 547 .
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he was a close and trusted official and the administrative records
.
are full of favours granted at his request . In I26I Darlington

appears to have attempted to retire from court,but the king wrote to
Fr.Robert de Kilwardley , provincial of the Dominican order , asking
that he be directed to return . The king claimed that Darlington's
presence at court was so necessary that he neither ought , nor could ,
be permitted to remain absenté: Darlington returned and again the
records ;re full of . pardons and favours granted to others at his

request . In the next few years he was entrusted with such delicate

tasks as pawning the crown jewels in 1262 ; a year later he was
empowered to sell marriages to get money to ransom these same

8.
Jjewels .

After Henry 1ii's death , Darlington continued to serve
Edward I , but he also had close connections with the papal curia
and in September I274 he was appointed along with Raymond de
Nogeris as collector of the papal tenth in England ?.In 1278

Darlington was sent to Rome as head of a special embassy from

5. See for example C.P.R. I247-58 , pp. 467, 555, 630; 1258-66 ,
p. II . In 1258 Darlingtonwas among those chosen to draw up the

provisions of Oxford Annales de Burton,p. 447 .

6. Shirley , Royal Letters , vol. 2 no. 429 .

7. See for example C.P.R. I258-66, pp. 520 , 604 ; I1266-72 , pp. 6 ,
339 , 368 .

8. C.P.R. I266-72 , pp. 43, 323 .

9. C.P.L. I, p. 49 .
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I0.
King Edward . At this time the see of Dublin had been vacant since

Fulk of Sandford's death in I27I , the two chapters having made
II.

separate elections both of which had been annulled by the papacy .

On February 8th I279 , shortly after his return from Rome ,
12

Darlington was provided to the see of Dublin by Pope Nicholas III .
King Edward received his fealty and restored the temporalities of
the see to him in April ; he also granted that the archbishop could
appoint attorneys to take care of his affairs in Ireland Tj-
Darlington appointed his official Thomas Cradok and Brother Robert,
master of the Knights Templar in Ireland ,to look after his interests

14,

in Ireland . He was consecrated in September I279 in Waltham Abbey
IS.
by John Pecham,the recently appointed archbishop of Canterbury .

In 1279 the king also granted Darlington all liberties and
possessions in Dublin which his predecessors had held and he mandated

his officers and subjects in Ireland to restrain from harrassing
16.

the new archbishop in any way . John Darlington was not to enjoy

these liberties in person however,and during his short and non-resident

10. C.P.L. I,p. 455 .

II. For a discussion of this dispute between the two Dublin chapters
see below pp.183 -%.

12. Theiner, p. I1I8 .

13. C.PRB. 1272-81 , pp: 309 , 310 .

I4. ibid. p. 3I0 .

I5. C.Trice Martin ed. Registrum Epistolarum Johannis Peckham ,
Archiepiscopi Cantuariensis (R.S. 1882-5),vol. I,p. 37 .

16. C.P.R. 1272-81 , p. 33% .
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epliscopacy he was never called upon to defend any of the privileges
of his see or his possessions in Ireland . He was however

involved in a dispute concerning the visitation of the chapel of
Penkridge in Staffordshire , of which as a result of his appointment

to Dublin , he was ex officio dean . His opponent in this dispute

was the prelate who had consecrated him,John Pecham of Canterbury .
Darlington appears to have supported the chapel’s defence of its'
exempt statusl?.

The only other duty known to have been performed by Darlington
in his capacity of archbishop of Dublin was the confirmation of the
election of Richard of Northampton as bishop of Ferns in 1282 .IB.
In I283 Darlington petitioned the pope for permission to resign
as papal collector in England . He reminded the pope that the see
of Dublin had been without a pastor for nine years and stated

Igl
that it suffered by his absence .

Pope Martin IV granted Darlington's request and the archbishop
then petitioned for other privileges preparatory to his departure for
Ireland . In March 1284 various licences were issued to the

archbishop of Dublin from the papal curia . One allowed him to

17. See below,Appendix 2 .

18. C.P.R.I28I-92 , p. 28 .

19. Theiner,p. I26 .
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absolve all those in his diocese who had incurred excommunication
20,
during his absence . Another licence granted him power to make
21.
disposition of his personal goods by testament . However , Darlington

died before these privileges reached him . He became ill on his way
to Dublin the summer of I284 . He was brought back to London where
he died soon after and was buried in the Dominican church at

224
Blackfriars .

20. Theiner , p. I26 .
2I. ibid. p. 127 .

22. Chronica Rishanger , p. I68 ; Ann. Dunstable , p. 313 .
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a) JOHN OF SANDFORD : EARLY CAREER .

Traditionally regarded as the brother of Fulk of Sandford , John
was definitely of illegitimate birth and may therefore have had
some connection with the Basset family ?. He was the only thirteenth
century archbishop of Dublin whose career prior to his elevation
to the see was firmly rooted in Ireland and who had experience in
the administration of the Dublin church . Paradoxically , more of
his time was taken up with ecclesiastical duties before he became
archbishop than during the eight years of his episcopacy .

2.

Having obtained a master's degree (probably at Oxford) , John
appeared in the service of Fulk of Sandford in Dublin as early as
November 1267 , when he acted as the attorney of the archbishop and
Witnessed the composition worked out between Fulk and the mayor and
citizens of DublinB: In the same year , in another document , John
was described as vicar general of the dioceseu: During the period

when Archbishop Fulk was on pilgrimage to Compostella he appears to

I. While John is not described as Fulk's brother in any contemporary
sources , Archbishop Alen maintained that they were brothers and
were both buried under one stone in the Lady Chapel in St. Fatrick's
Al.Reg. p. 132 . John's illegitimacy is well attested , both in a
1284 papal dispensation Theiner , p. I29 and in disputes concerning
his lands after his death when he was described as dying ' a bastard
and without heir of his body ' . C.J.R. 1295-1303 , pp. I9I , 226 .

2. Emden , B.R.U.O. vol. 3 p. 22I3 . Ware and Monck Mason both
mistakingly described John as a franciscan friar , Ware , Works I.
p. 325 , Monck Mason , St.Patrick's ,p. III . This appears to be
the result of a confusion with another John of Sandford who became

guardian of the friars at Oxford in I265-7 and which originated in
Luke Wadding's Annales Minorum , vol. 5 p. I34 .

3. Al.Reg. p. I34 .
4. ibid. p. I30 .
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have left the archdiocese in the charge of John . In an agreement
reached between the archbishop and the prior and hospital of St.

John of Jerusalem in I269 , Fulk was represented by Master John de
Sandford ' to whom the archbishop had given full administration of his
goods and affairs in Ireland'?.ln I270 John was still acting for
Fulk,when he came to an agreement gith Richard Fitz Richard
concerning a knight's fee in Meath : Fulk must have returned

T
shortly after this,as he died in Dublin in May I271 .

In these years John collected an impressive list of benefices
in Ireland , the details of which are contained in a dispensation
of I284 ?.He held a prebend in St.Patrick§ and the treasury of the
cathedral of Ferns,as well as the parish church of Cavendish in
Norwich and the church of Loughborough in Leicester . According
to the I284 dispensation he had already received a dispensation from Fope
Gregory X which allowed him to hold benefices to the value of
500 pounds . On receipt of this dispensation he had resigned the
treasurership of Ferns and accepted the deanery of 5t. Patrick's ,9.

while retaining his other benefices and in addition the parish church

of Youghal . It was stated in I284 that he held all these churches
10.

while still in sub-deacon's orders .

5. Als Regs p. I3 «
Ge 134, p. 133 .

7. C.P.R. 1266~72 , p. 637 .

£. Theiner, p. 129,

9. John accepted the deanery of 5t. Patrick's before November 1275 when
the prebend which he had held as canon was granted to another royal

clerk C.P.R. 1272-81,p. 110.

10. Theiner, p. 129,
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It was also during these years that John began his long and

illustrious career in the Irish administration . His first position was
as escheator of Ireland,an office which was confirmed to him on the
7th of December 1272 IT.He was also one of those appointed at this
time to receive oaths of fealty to the new king Edward I ?zﬁe
wvandford must have crossed over to England to consult with the King
shortly afterwards and towards the end of I274 he was granted
protection on his return to Ireland .12£ this time he was also

granted a yearly payment of forty pounds and two robes every

year .

As escheator,de Sandford was one of the most important
ministers in the Irish administration . He was a leading member
of the king's council and the immediate representative of the king
in relation to the Irish church Tu.His duties took him all over
Ireland and he fulfilled them faithfully for almost fourteen years
With very few breaks the records show him continually involved in
the taking into the king's hand and the restoration of lands

I5.

and episcopal temporalities .

II. Cal. Fine Rolls 1272-130?’p. 2.

121 COPURC 12?2"81’ Pc 2 .

I3. ibid. p. 58

I4, For A description of the office of escheator of Ireland see Rich.
vayles. Admin Irl. pp.27-9.

15L628e C.D.I. vol. 2 nos. 917,925,927,943,1006, 1154, I522 and
p- :
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In May I278 the justiciar of Ireland received a letter

requiring him to quickly audit the escheator's account so that the latter
16,

might come to England to talk with the king on Irish affairs .
The king stated that he had not seen de Sandford for a long time,

but if John went to England he must have returned very quickly,as
17,

in January I279 he was in Clonmel acting as an itinerant justice .

John's period as escheator was very sucessful and when he

handed over the office to Walter de la Haye in August 1285 there
IE.
had been a sharp rise in the issues . Another mark in de Sandford's

favour was that in the 1204 enquiry into the Fulbourne administration
in Ireland the escheatry was the only office which was stated to

19.
be functioning properly and in no need of reform .

During this period de Sandford showed himself to be particularly
sucessful in raising money for the king in other ways . In 1282

he was appointed to raise funds for the king's Welsh campaigns and
20,

he was able to collect 1,000 pounds . He also helped the citizens

of Dublin to charter ships and transfer victuals and supplies to the
21,

king's camps at Flint and Rhuddian in Wales

16. C.C.R.IZ2-79, p. 45k .

I7. Rich, Sayles. Admin. Irl. p. I40.

1. ¢.P.R. i1BI92, The issues rose from £1,313.1fs.4;d in I272-3 to
£7,280.15s.4:d in 1282-3 , P.R.I.D.K. rep. 3¢,pp. 23,30,33,61,65 .

1]
19. £.D.I. 3 p.9'nor was it necessary to move regarding this office .

20. Cal. Chanc. Rolls., Var. 1277-1336,p. 239. C.D.1. 2,no. 2062 .

21, C.D.Y1. 2,n0. TO8K .
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John de Sandford was as sucessful in collecting lands for
himself as he had been in collecting ecclesiastical preferments . In
April I279 he was enfeoffed of the manor of Ballymaden and the castle
and all the lands which Sir John de Boiiby held in Castlecomerz?'ln
November of this year John de Lohun was given licence to sell all
his Irish lands to JohnZ%&ua- was also granted land in Roscommon

24,
ammounting to 35 carucates by Robert de Ufford .

Wwhen de Sandford was promoted to the deanery of St.Patrick's in
1275 the chapter was involved in the most persistent of its disputes
with Holy Trinity over the election of an archbishop to succeed Fulk
de Sandford . By this stage both chapters ha% sent a candidate to
Rome and neither was Prepared to stand down ?‘There is no evidence
that-John took any rart in this dispute,but the evidence suggests
that his relations with Holy Trinity were cordial . For example, he
had awarded custody in the Comyn wardship case to the Augustinian
prioryzgﬁd it was while he was still dean in 1284 that the two

chapters came together to appoint a Joint custodian of the spiritualities

27 s
of the newly vacant see of Dublin . It is not too surprising therefore that

22- Al. REEa pn Ih‘?.
23. C.PCROIZ?Z-BI v p- 330.

24, Al.Reg. p. I48.

25. See below p. IAlL .

26~ For an account of this case see G.Hand, 'The common law in Ireland
in the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries : two cases involving
Christ Church Dublin', in R.S.A.I.J. vol.97 (1967) , pp. 99-111

27. Al.Reg. p. 150 .
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having received licence to elect a new pastor in I284 , the two
chapters were in agreement and elected John . Canons from both
chapters accompanied him to Rome and stood by him in the face of
papal objections , re-electing him and finally receiving papal

28.
confirmation in May I285 .

28. See below p. 189 .
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b) ARCHLISHOP OF DUBLIN I285-94

John de Sandford returned to Ireland in 1285 having received
papal confirmation and an indult to confer the office of public notary
on two fit persons , a privilege which had been granted to Archbishop
Darlington but never used by himz?'At first the pope instructed
John to be consecrated by any two bishops in England or Ireland,but
he later wrote telling him to be consecrated by two of his
suffragan bishops to save his expenses in repairing to England,as his

see had been much wasted by Irish rebels . Sandford was eventually
a1
- L
consecrated in April 1286 in Holy Trinity . The temporalities had been

restored to him in August 1285 . A few months before in February of
same year the Irish exchequer had been ordered to pay the former escheator

1,000 marks out of the issues of the es%heatry for debts he had
I

incurred during his term of office .

OUne of de Sandford's first actions on his return to Ireland was
to take up the case of Thomas de St.lLeger , Archdeacon of Kells,who
had been elected bishop of Meath but was being excluded from that diocese
by the Archbishop of Armagh,Nicholas %ac Mael Iosa,who wished to
confer the see on another candidate ? john wrote to Robert burnelly

Lishop of kath and Wells and chancellor of England,asking him to help

Thomas in forwarding his claims in the royal court and also asking him

29, Theiner, p. 133.
30, ibid. ps 133.

31. Clyn. Annals , p. 10 .

32. C.D.I. 3 no. I90 . John had paid the money to Geoffrey de Genevills
for his services to the king in Wales .

33. €.D.I. 3 nos. I42 , I47 , 213 , 258 .
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to write to his friends in Rome to assist Thomas,who was going there
after his visit to the courtB%' It is not clear why de Sandford was
so active on St.Leger's behalf ,as both candidates were Englishmen ,

Thomas de St.Leger was eventually successful in his claim and was

consecrated as bishop of Meath in November I287 .

In 1289 John wrote to the pope asking for permission to absolve
clerks and laymen in his province and elsewhere who had incurred
excommunication but because of feuds , illness or poverty had not been
able to travel to Rome for absolutionB?.These people had been
excommunicated during hostilities in Ireland for crimes such as
burning churches and public plunder . The pope granted John this
privilege , urging him to make sure that sufficient penances were
imposed and such restitution as was possible was made ??%he matter
did not end there,for a year later John was again asking for permission ,
this time to relax the sentences of suspension which had been passed
on clerks in his diocese who had excommunicated and interdicted some
persons . The pope granted him this privilege and also granted him

38.
that he might dispense clerks for irregularity .

4. C.D.I. 3, p. INI .
35. Abid. no. 258 ; Theiner , p. 152 .

36. Theiner,p. I45 .
37. ibid. p. I45 .

38. ibid. p. I50 .
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Also in 1289, Pope Nicholas IV granted the archbishop the first
fruits of all dignities and benefices which should become vacant
in his diocese for a period of three years . The pope had been
requested to make this grant because the possessions and the fruits
of the diocese were so reduced by war that John was unable to

39.
properly maintain his tatble .

The pope was also in touch with John in I290 concerning the
archdeaconry of Glendalough,which was vacant due to the promotion
of Stephen O'brogan to the archbishopric of Cashel . The pope asked
John to ensure that some honest Irishman should receive the archdeaconri?.
but the archbishop presumably did not find such a man and it was an

LI,
English clerk Richard de Gryndam who was appointed .

Apart from these papal letters there is little evidence for
John de Sandford's ecclesiastical preoccupations and it must be
said that the spiritual welfare of his diocese could only have
occupied a very small part of his time in the years I1285-92 when he
was resident in Ireland . It was during these years however that
he became the most important figure in Irish politics and the person

around whom the Irish administration revolved

39. Theiner , p. I49 ...... Cum sicut ex parte tua fuit propositum
coram nobis , fructus , redditus et provatus ad archiepiscopalem
mensam Dublinensem spectantes propter multimoda guerrarum discrimina ,
que hactenus in illis partibus invaluisse dicuntur , sint adeo diminuti
quod es eis non potes iuxta dignitatis archiepalls decentiam

commode sustentari '.
40, Theiner , p. 152 .

LFI. CoPoRn 1222“1301 ’ p- IBI -
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On the death of the justiciar Stephen de Fulbourne in July I288 , de
Sandford and Geoffrey de Geneville declared themselves guardians
of the country and a little later de Sandford was appointed custodian
of Ireland , a position which he accepted ' out of reverence for the
king and the people ' %zée immediately set about tackling : the
problems of the Gaelic resurgence and spent his years as justiciar in
attempts to pacify Ireland and also to deal with the enormous
dissastisfact}on with local royal officials which was then
widespread . 3ﬁis military activities,which he appears to have taken
part in personally,were particularly effective and it was said that
he was so succesful in Laois and Offaly that the Irish there ' came

Ly,
to the king's peace and were never hostile again' .

In 1290 the Justiciar held parliaments in Dublin and Kilkenny
and in this year,with eighteen months of campaigns behind him  he
tegged king Edward to take counsel concerning the affairs of Ireland.
The king answered that while he had the matter very much to heart he
was so busy dealing with problems which had arisen out of his receﬂg.
absence from England that he had no time to devote to Irish affairs.
De Sandford also complained that he had received no money for his

recent expenses in pacifying Ireland and that he had had to borrow from

42, C.D.1.3s 9. 265 »

43, The details of de Sandford's military expeditions and diplomatic
missions are contained in his enrolled account for expenses . F.R.O.

Lond. Ms. E.101/231/9 ; C.D.I. 3 pp. 265-77 .

uy, C.D.I, 3 p. 273 .

45. H. Cole ed. Documents jllustrative of English history in the
thirteenth and fourteenth centuries , (I844) pp.26-7 .
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1talian merchants . The king promised that he would be reimbursed

as soon as possible .

A new justiciar,iilliam de Vesey,was appointed in September
1290 and took up office in lovember . De Sandford's short but
succesful custodianship of Ireland was at an endu?'He had been
appointed chancellor of Ireland in April I289 and he continued to
hold this position until March I29I when he was instructed to hand

48.
over the great seal of Ireland to William de Vesey .

There was no reason why de Sandford should have been replaced in
these offices unless he had requested it himself j his loyalty to
the king was unquestioned . This loyalty was evident in I29I,when
the clergy and magnates of Ireland were asked to contribute to a
royal subsidy . In England the clergy had granted the king a
tenth of their incomes and the magnates a fifteenth %9£t an assembly
of magnates held in Dublin in January I291 the Archbtishop of Dublin
was specially mentioned as having granted the king a fifteenth ?O%he

clergy of Ireland were not so accomodating,however,and they pleaded

46, Cole Docs. p. 26-7 . In January I291 the Archbishop of Dublin
along with Theobald de Verdun and Geoffrey de Geneville acknowledged
a debt of 200 pounds to the merchants of the society of Amananti of

Pistoia . C.C.R. I288-96, p. 2u8 .

47. C.P.R, 1281-92 , p. 387 § C.D.I. 3, p. 428 .
48. Rich. Sayles. Admin.Irl. p. 93.

jo, See H.S.Deighton 'Clerical taxation by consent I279-I30I ' in

o

.H.R. vol. 68 (I953) pp. I6I-192 , esp. pp. I69-7I .

50. CD.1.. 3 no. 97 .
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poverty and loss of income due to recent wars in Ireland . Only the

archbishops of Cashel and Dublin were thanked by the king for their

51
contributions .

In March I291 John was granted letters of protection for two
52.
years as he was on his way to the king in England . He did not leave

Ireland straight away , as he was in his diocese in May 1292 when the

king authorized him to sell all Nicholas de Clare's goods in the
53.

archdiocese . He must have left soon after this , as he was in Reading

in June I292 when he granted an indulgence of 40 days to all who
54.
visited and subscried to the church of St.Mary and St.James there .

Later in I292 he was present at the proceedings concerning the future
of the Scottish crown , he attended the final judgement at Berwick and

55.
witnecced Balliol's oath of fealty to Edward at Norham .

In May I293 John was present at the consecration of William of
March as bishop of Bath and Wells and his servants were involved

in a brawl with the men of the bishop of Ely on the way back from the

56.
festivities . In September 1293 de Sandford officiated at the marriage

57.
of the king's daughter Eleanor to Henry Count of Bar . The following

year hé was sent with Anthony Bek , bishop of Durham and others to seek

5I. C.P.R. I281-92 , p. W48-9 .
52, ibid. p. 426 .
53, C.D.I. 3 no. 1098 .

54, B.M. Add. Charter no. 19,635 .

55. The Chronicle of Walter of Guisborough , ed. H.Rothwell , Camden
Society , vol. 89 (I957) pp. 225,260,357,363 .

56. Rotuli Parlimentorum I,p. III .

57. Annales de Wigornia , p. 513 :...apud Bristolliam Edwardus Rex
Henrico Com e Barres Elianoram filliam suam primogenitam dederat in :
uxorem , et Archiepiscopus Dublinensis ecclesiasticum officium adimplevit.
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an alliance with Adolph of Nassau against the French . The ambassadors
58.

were sucessful and a treaty was signed at Nurnberg . On arriving back

in England de Sandford fell ill and died in Yarmouth on Ist October

59.
I294 . The canons of St. Patrick's asked for his body,which was

60.
conveyed to Ireland and buried in St. PatricKs .

John de Sandford spent in all about six years of his episcopacy
in Ireland and the majority of this time he spent outside his
diocese of Dublin ., It is clear that the demands of his secular
office left him little time for the spiritual concerns of his diocese.
He did exert himself to obtain privileges from the pope so that
the ills which the diocese had suffered because of the conflicts in
Ireland were remedied,but the day to day running of his church he
left in the hands of his officials . The years when Archbishop
Fulk de Sandford was away on pilgrinage,followed by the long vacancy
in the see and the absenteeism of Archlishop Darlington meant that
the ecclesiastical administration of the diocese and province had
for a long time been in the hands of such officials . Le¢ Sandford
hinself had teen part of this administrative machine and he must have

felt confident in its abtilities to ensure that the spiritual concerns

of the diocese were being attended to .

58. Rymer. Foedera, I, p. 802 .

59 . Ann. Dunstable , p. 389 .

60.. Ch, St. Mary's,2 p. 323 ; Al.reg. p. 132 ; Ware ,Works,I p. 326 .
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Ware described John de Sandford as a prelate with a great
reputation for learning and wisdom, but the records which survive
suggest that his most noteworthy qualities were his organisational
ability , and his loyalty and zeal in pursuing the affairs of the

61,
king in Ireland .

6I. Ware , Works I,p. 326
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WILLTAM DE HOTHUM : ARCHBISHOP OF DUBLIN I296-8 .

A second English Dominican was provided to the see of
Dublin in the closing years of the thirteenth century | however
Brother William de Hothum like his illustrious predecessor John
Darlington died before appearing in his archdiocese . His only

connections with Dublin were of a financial nature and were entrusted

to attorneys . There is no shortage of general accounts of
)
Hothum's career and he has also been considered more specifically
2.
as provincial of the English Dominicans , as a theologian and

3
writer , as the protagonist of Archbishop Pecham of Canterburyu'

and as the ambassador and diplomatic adviser of Edward I. e

Hothum was described by his contemporary Bernard de Gui as
'a great master of theology , renowned throughout the entire

6.
Dominican order ' . He has been identified as the brother of

John Hothum , who held the bishopric of Ely from 13I6 to -

I. DNB. vol.IX  pp. I308-I0 ; Mac Inerny Irish Doms I, pp. 378-
476 . Emden BRUO 2, pp.970-I.

2. F.R.Palmer.'The Provincials of the Friars Preachers of England;
in Arch, Jrn . vol.XXXV (I878), pp. I34-95 .

3. A.G.Little and F.Peltser , Oxford theology and theologians I282-

1302 , (Oxf. Hist.Soc. XCVI. I93L], pp.B2-7 ¢J.C Russel], Writers of
thirteenth century England , in B.I.H.R. , extra vol no.3.(I936),

pp. 190-3 .

4. D.L.Douie, Archbishop Pecham (1952 ) pp.269-300 .

5. J. Dunbabin,Careers and Vocations, in The Early Oxford Schools,
ed. J.1.Catto , History of the University of Oxford vol.I. (198h7
pp. 594-6 . Powicke, Thirteenth Century, pp.26I-6 , 651,652 .

’ 4 .
6. Quoted in J.Quetif and J .Echard, Scriptores Ordinis Praedicatorum
recensiti , 2 vols. (Paris I?I9-2I) , vol.l p. 459 .,
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I337 , but it now seems clear that the relationship between them was

of nephew and uncle .

As early as 1269 , Brother William de Hothum appeared
representing his convent in Oxford in the dispute with the
Franciscans on the subject ofmendicancy ?' In the I270's Hothum
was in Paris lecturing in theology and a regent master in the
Dominican Convent of St.Jacquesg: In I283 he was appointed
provincial of the English.Domincaigénd.from this time on he was

based in England and first appears in the records as being in the

service of the king ¥I'

Apart from the fact that his intellectual distinction both
at Oxford and Paris brought him to the attention of the king ,
Hothum's entry into royal service can be seen as being part of the
influx of royal clerks from the archdiocese of York which began
after the accession of Edward II?.This influx can be partly
explained by the great deal of time Edward spent in the north due
to his entanglements in the affairs of Scotland and partly by

the influence at court of Walter Giffard , Archbishop of York .

7. Russel, Writers. p. 190 . For the relationship between William and
John see J.R.5.Fhillips ,'The mission of John de Hothum to Ireland
I315-16 ' in English in Med. Irl. pp. €2-85 .

8. Little, Oxford theology . p. 83.

9. P. Glorieux,Rep. des MaTtres de Théologie de Paris , (I933) I,
pp . IZJJ.].—5 .

I0. MacInerny, Irish Doms. p. 387 . -

II. For ex. in 1283 he witnessed the will of the Queen Mother ,
GBR. I281-92. p. 218.

12, See J.L.Grassi, 'Royal clerks from the archdiocese of York in the
fourteenth century ', in Northern History : V , (I1970) pp.I2-33 .
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William , who presumably came from Hothum in Yorkshire , had cordial
I3.
relations with Giffard early in his career .

De Hothum was still however , more involved in scholastic affairs
than political ones . From I284-6 he played a leading role in the
disputations in the faculty of theology at Oxford and particularly in
defending the thomistic doctrine of unity of form against the
criticisms of Archbishop Pecham of Canterbury , a Franciscan .

Hothum has even been identified as the author of an anonymous pamphlet

Ihl
against Pecham .

At the general chapter of the Dominican order at Bordeaux in
1287 , de Hothum was released from the office of provincial of
England and assigned again to the convent in Parisl?.However y in
the I288 chapter it was reported that he had refused to obey the
instruction and that this had resulted in great confusion and injury
to the Paris studiumI?.De Hothum's reasons for refusing the appointment
Wwere probably connected with his growing involvement in diplomatic
affairs . In 1289 he was sent by the king on a mission to Pope

Nicholas I¥ to discuss plans for Edward's crusade and to seek a

dispensation for Prince Edward's intended marriage to Margaret of

I3. The Register of Walter Giffard , Archbishop of York I266-79 , ed.
D.Brown (Surtees Society I904) , contains records of two gifts from

Giffard to de Hothum : pp. II6 , I23 .

I5. Acta Capitulorum Generalium Ordinis Praedicatorum , ed. B.Reichert

vol-3 of Monumenta Ordinis Fraedicatorum Historica,I4 vols. (Rome I896-
1904) . p.2h2

I6. ibid. p. 246 .
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17.
Scotland . On his return to England in I290 he was again appointed

provincial of the Dominican order . At the end of the same year

he was.rather oddly provided by the pope to the remote bishopric

of LIacdate tn Wales » Hothum did not want to accept this provision
and resisted on the grounds that he had been elected provincial of his
order and was totally ignorant of the Welsh language . The pope did

not accept these excuses and in May I291 Hothum was ordered to obey
19

the provision : His old antagonist the archbishop of Canterbury
20.
likewise prevailed upon him to accept . Nonetheless Hothum held out

2I.
and finally another candidate was consecrated for Llandaff .

Again Hothum's reasons for refusal probably lay in

his growing diplomatic career as much as the obscurity ( and possible

danger)af the appointment .

In I291 de Hothum went north with Edward as one of the
advisers on the future of the Scottish crown . One chronicler
assigned a leading role in the proceedings to him , saying
that it was Hothum who drafted the statement that all three
competitors for the crown must acknowledge Edward's superiority

22,
before the arbitration began . There is no corroborating evidence

17. Theiner,p. I46-8 .
18. C.P.L. I p.5I9

19. ibid. p.535 .

20. Douie, Pecham, p.269.

2I, 8.PL. L pis6s .

22, The Chronicle of Walter of Guisborough , ed.H.Rothwell , Cam. Soc.
vol. 89 (I957) , p.235
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for this statement and the inﬁgrpretation of the chronicler's words
has recently been challenged .

In the midst of these political events. Hothum did not completely
forget about his duties as Dominican provincial or his theological
concerns . In I293 he was involved in a dispute with Archbishop
John Le Romeyn of York on the question of penitents confessing to

24,
friars and in August I294 he preached before the king and two

cardinal envoys of Fope Loniface VIII?5ﬁis close ties with both
papacy and monarchy were rewarded when on April 24th. 1296 he was
provided by lope roniface to the see of Dublinzé-The pope in his
letter informing the two Dublin chapters of the appointment spoke

of Hothum in glowing terms , pointing out his learning and standing,
as well as his piety and prudence in spiritual and secular affairs??.
Unfortunately the Dublin church was never to experience these
qualities at first hand . In November 1296 the king wrote to the

custodian of Dublin instructing him to restore the temporalities

23. The challenge is based on the meaning of the verb preordinare
which Guisborough used when referring to Hothum's part in the
statement of the English king's rights . It had been translated as
'composed' or 'wrote' but is more likely to mean 'organize' or
‘introduce' . For a discussion of this see E. Stones & G.Simpson
kdward I. and the throne of Scotland , (I978) ,vol. I, p.II2 .

2. J. Raine, Letters from the Northern Registers. (R.S. 1873) pp.
102-3 . Hothum apparently maintained that penitents who had confessed
to friars had no need of confessing to their parish priests.

25 Chronicle of Walter of Guisborough ,p. 66

26. Theiner, pp.I160-1 . The pope quashed the election of Thomas de
Cheddesworth , dean of Gt.Patrick's,who had been elected by the two
Dublin chapters, because he had not appeared before him in time . bee

below pp. 191-2

27. Theiner, p. 161 . .....venerabilis patris nostri Guillelmi
Archiepiscopi Dullinensis , grandi utique dono scientie preditam ,
religione conspicuam , fama pollentem , eligentia morum insignem ,
conversationis et vite honestate preclarum , in spiritualibus et

temporalibus circumspectam , ac aliarum virtutum titulis insignitam:
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to brother William de Hothum and a month later Hothum was given
permission to appoint attorneys to look after his affairs in Ireland
for one year %Bin February I297 , obviously too caught up in
affairs of state to contemplate a visit to his diocese,Hothum
received letters of attorney for a further two yearsz?.As a

special favour the king also instructed the custodian of Dublin that
the archbishop was to be given first preference in the purchase

30.
of the animals and chattels of the archiepiscopal lands .

Although an indult for Hothum's consecration was dated June 1297
there was a lgse of fourteen months before he was consecrated . In
July,acting at the request of Hothum's proctors in Rome the pope
sent a mandate to the bishops of London and Hereford to confer
the pallium and receive an oath of fealty from the archbishop
€elect . But Hothum was still referred to as 'elect of Dublin' when
in August 1297 he accompanied the king to Ghent . He then received
a papal indult that he could be consecrated by any bishop in any

82
place . Finally in December I297 he was consecrated in Ghent by

28. C.}.R. I292-130I , p.224.His attorneys were named as Robert de
Hothum and Thomas Crgor,

29, Ibié. p. 332 . this time the attorneys were named as John de Hothum
and Henry Cumptore

90.G.D. 1. 3 no. H27 , 463 .
3I. Theiner , p. I€3 .

32, ibid. p. 163
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33.
Bishop Anthony Bek of Durham .

Hothum played a leading part in the negotiations with the
French ambassadors in I297-8 and after a truce was signed between
the kings of France and England he was sent to Rome to seek papal
approval for 124: More than two years had now elapsed since his
appointment to Dublin but he still continued to appoint attorneys
to see to his affairs and in February I298 he requested the king to

35.
see that his corn was kept safe in Dublin until his return .

When Hothum finished his business: in Rome he appears to have
intended to visit his diocese and as a precaution he obtained letters
from the pope instructing the Dublin chapters to receive him as
their lawful pastorj?‘ﬂe set out from Rome in July I298 but fell ill
in Burgundy and died in Dijon on August 27th . His body was brought

back to England and buried in the church of the black friars in
37.

London .

33. Nicholas Trivet , Annales sex regem Angliae , ed. A.Hall (Oxford
I17I9) p. 364 ; Chronicle of Walter of Guisborough , pp.I78-9 ; Thomas
Walsingham , Historia Anglicana , ed. H.T.Riley 2 vols (London 1863-
4) , vol. I p. 79 , all agree on place and date of Hothum's consecration .

Ch. St.Mary's 2,p. 209 gives date of I296 but agree that it occured in
Ghent .

34. Rymer , Foedera , 2 pp. 804-5 .
35. ¢.D.I, 4. nos. 482-8 , 500 .

36. Theiner , p. 166 ....mandamus , quatenus eidem archiepiscopo
tamquam patri et pastori animarum vestrarum , plene ac humiliter '
intendentes , obedientiam et reverentiam debitam sibi exhibere curetis.

37. See C.F.R.Falmer , Provincials of the Friars Preachers , pp. I43 .
He states that by command of the king the corpse was embalmed , the
innards were buried at Dijon and the rest of the body buried in London

with great pomp .
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c) The organization of St.Patrick's p. I43-8 .

some thirteenth century legislation

d) The relationship with the archbishop p. I48-58 .
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a) FOUNDATION .

St. Patrick's cathedral , founded in II9I was governed by a secular
constitution modelled on that of the English secular cathedrals .I'
A secular chapter was composed of a number of canons each with an
individual source of income in the form of a prebend , who lived in
houses in the Cathedral close and were directed by a group of
dignitaries or officials , usually four viz. éean , treasurer ’
Chancellor and precentorz: This type of cathedral organization

was introduced into England from Normandy where secular chapters

had grown up in the tenth and eleventh centuries,primarily as a

response to changes in royal and episcopal administrations * lonks

and clerks living a semi-monastic life could not meet the demands
which bishops and monarchs were placing on them . Well educated
clerks with independent sources of income capable of working in

the royal and episcopal administrations were needed . Secular
chapters provided such clerks as well as providing in the form

of individual prebends the ideal method of rewarding ecclesiastical

3.

civil servants .

I. 5till unsurpassed for the history of Dublin's secular cathedral is
William Monck Mason,The History and Antiquities of the Collegiate and
Cathedral Church of 5t. Patrick near Dublin ( Dublin 1820 ) . More
recent articles by Geoffrey Hand are also indispensable:' The Medieval
chapter of St. Patrick's Cathedral ,Dublin 1. The early period c. I1219-
c.1279', Reportorium Novum, III (196I-4) , pp. 229-48 ;'The rivalry of
the cathedral chapters in medieval Dublin', R.S.A.1.J. xcii (I962),pp.

193-206.

2. On the organization of secular chapters in England the major work
remains K.Edwards,The English Secular Cathedrals, (Rev.ed. 1967) .See
also A.T.bannister,'The origin and growth of the cathedral system' in
Church Quarterly Keview' (I1927), pp.86-96 , and J.H.Strawley,' The origin
and growth of Cathedral foundations as illustrated by the Cathedral
Church of Lincoln j Lincoln Minster Pamplets no.I (I95I) .

3, Edwards , Sec. Cathedrals , p. 7-8 .
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This need for administrators supplied from the secular chapters was
acutely felt in newly conquered areas where monastic chapters were the
norm . Not surprisingly secular cathedrals quickly emerged in England
in the years following the Norman invasion , the first at Salisbury ,
Lincoln , York and London . The question of which Norman cathedral
provided the model for these new English chapters has provoked much
speculation among English historians . In the nineteenth century
Henry bradshaw , who first labelled the constitution of the secular
cathedrals as 'four squared' , claimed that kayeux was the mot:lel.Lh
More recent work suggests that there was no single model but that the
English founders adapted various types of organization and were
primarily guided by the exigencies of location and finances ?.This
explains the fact that only a few basic principles and features are
shared by all nine of the English secular cathedrals . In Ireland the
foundation of secular cathedrals was influenced by factors similar to
those which had led to the transfer of the secular chapters from
Normandy to England in the previous century . But the Irish use of

English models was eclecgic and no two Irish chapters had exactly

the same constitution .

L, G.W.Prothero ,A Memoir of H. Fradshaw (London, I888), p.345.

5. Edwards. Sec.Cathedrals, pp.I13-19 . See also C.N.L.Brooke
'Continental influences on English Cathedral Chapters' in Resumés des
communications XI congrés international des sciences historiques,

( Stockholm , I960 ) , where he states that St.Usmund's arrangements

for Salisbury owe something to the academic speculations of John of
Avranches' De Ufficiis Ecclesiasticis of c. I060 .

6. For the introduction of Secular cathedrals into Ireland see
K.W.Nicholls,'Medieval Irish Cathedral Chapters', in Archiv.Hib. pp.
I102-11 and G.J.Hand 'Medieval Cathedral Chapters , in 1.C,H,.C.FP.
(1956) , pp. II-I4 ; 'The medieval chapter of St.Mary's cathedral
Limerick , in Med.Studies Gwynn , pp. 74-89 .
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In Dublin the transformation of the parish church of St.Patrick's
firstly into a secular college and then into a secular cathedral with the
typical English 'four square' constitution spanned two episcopates .
The process was begun by Archbishop Cumin in II9I,when he made St.
Patricks church collegiate and instituted prebends;and ended in
the episcopate of Henry of London when he appointed the first four

dignitaries of the cathedral .

It is not clear how long the parish church of St. Patricks had
been in existence when in 1191 Archbishop Cumin issued the charter
which transformed it into a collegiate church with a body of secular
clerks?. The introduction to the charter states :

We ordain by the authority of God and with the consent of the
Holy See and our Frince , John Count of Mortain ,that prebends
be instituted in the church of St. Patrick's ,Dublin and that

there be placgd within it a college of clerks of approved life
and learning. '

The foundation charter continues by outlining the churches , lands

and revenues which were to pertain to the common fund of the

college and also grants eight plots of land around the graveyard of

the church on which the canons could build houses . This new collegiate

9.
church was consecrated on St.Patrick's day 1192 and two weeks later

Pope Celestine II1 issued a bull confirming to the clergy of St.

I0.
Patricks the grants of land and prebends made by the archbishop. 0

7. The parish church of St. FPatrick's 'in insula' was listed in the
bull of Pope Alexander III in II79 , confirming the possessions of the
see to Archbishop Laurence , Pont.Hib. I, No. 9 , p.28 . Archbishop
Laurence's confirmation of the privileges of Holy Trinity in May 1178
was Wwitnessed by 'Edano presbitero de sancto Patricio, Cal.Lib.Alb. p.24 .

8.. Dignitas Decani , pp. I-3 .
9. Annals of Dudley Loftus , Marsh's Library MS. 2.4.2.7. f.65 .

10. Pont.Hib. I, no.26,pp.76-7 . As Cumin's foundation charter lists
only the property of the common fund there must have been a second
charter listing the 13 prebends confirmed by Celestine II1.
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St. ratrick's began therefore as a college of secular canons of a

type which was becoming popular in English dioceses , particularly
in those dioceses where the cathedral was regularl?. A collegiate
church , although lacking the status of a cathedral , was organized
in very much the same way,with a group of canons headed by a dean or
provost , sustained by individual prebends,whose duty it was to
recite the canonical hours and minister to the spiritual needs of
the prebendal estatesl?‘Like the cathedral chapters,the colleges
provided the bishop with places to which he could appoint clerks in
his service or whom he wished to reward . It was this motive which
must have been foremost in Archbishop Cumin's mind,as in the early
years of his episcopacy he was no doubt acutely in need of clerks of

the type usually found in English dioceses at the time , the majority

of whom were sustained by secular colleges or cathedrals .

The debate as to whether or not Cumin intended to set up St.
Fatricks as a rival cathedral to the existing Holy Trinity will most
likely continue Tjit is true that the first Anglo-Norman archbishop
of Dublin belonged to a class of churchmen then in the ascendant in

kngland who preferred secular to regular cathedral chapters . He no

II. G.H.Cook, English Collegiate Churches of the Middle Ages (1970 ),
p.I11 . Cook notes that in sees such as Salisbury and Exeter where
there already was a chapter of secular canons there were very few

collegiate foundations .

I2. ibid. p. 2

I3. It has been traditional to view Archbishop Cumin as the person
responsible for the existence of two cathedrals in Dublin , but more
recently D.Bethell stated ' there is no reason to credit Cumin with

the design of a secular cathedral , he merely wanted a way of providing
ecclesiastical benefices for his secular clergy . 'Dublin's two
Cathedrals',in H.B.Clarke ed. Focus on Medieval Dublin (Dublin I978).

Hand quite correctly pointed out that Cumin's long exile from the diocese
makes it very difficult to ascertain his motives with regard to St.
Patrick's 'The rivalry of the cathedral chapters', pp. I96-7 .
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doubt followed closely the struggle which had recently occured in

the diocese of Coventry where Bishop Hugh Nonant was engaged in
substituting a secular for a regular chapter in his diocese,and was

in all probability present in Westminister in October II89 when Hugh
appealed to all his fellow bishops to show solidarity with him in his
struggle with the regular clergyl%' However , whatever Cumin's intentions

in Dublin , St. Patrick's was not described as a cathedral during his

lifetime and none of the protests which a rival cathedral would have

occasioned emerged from Holy Trinity .

In the course of speculating on Cumin's motives for setting up
a secular foundation in Dublin , his own stated reason has been
largely ignored . The archbishop claimed that he wished the newly
instituted clerks to provide by their example and learning education
for the less learned simplicity of the Irish people%BQe expressed
anxiety that Ireland lacked professors d divine and human law and
desired to rectify this situation . There is scant evidence that Cumin
had at any previous time been concerned with education,de;gite his
description by Giraldus as ' a learned and eloquent man' . ﬁe was

definitely more of an administrator than an adademic . However,on

at least one previous occasion Cumin had complained that the people

I4, Cumin was present at the coronation of Richard I which took place

in Westminister shortly before the bishop of Covent:?'wfde his %ﬁyeal ’
n Cove

Mat. Faris, Chron Maj. 2, p.348 . For the strug§le ntry sée
D. Knowles, The monastic order in England, (I949), pp. 3I4-30. It is
also noted that as archdeacon of Somerset Cumin would have been

familiar with the co-existence of a secular and monastic chapter in
the diocese of bathby Robinson,'Early Somerset Archdeacons' p.99

15.Dignitas vecani , p. I.

16. Expug.Hib. p. I98-9 .
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whom he had been sent to govern were badly instructed in divine

and sacred laws ?7%his can be seen as ~ typical of the attitude of
Anglo-Norman ecclesiastics towards what they considered the un-
lettered Irishjor it may be proof of a genuine lack of educators
which Cumin wished to set right . During this period bishops were
being encouraged to take a more active role in education and the 1179
Lateran council had laid down that every cathedral should provide
education for the poor 'in order that those who cannot be assisted

by their parents means may not be deprived of the opportunity of

I8.
reading and proficiency ' .

If Archbishop Cumin was serious about provision for education ,
it is unusual that he did not appoint a chancellor or a master of
the school with special control over education . In fact the absence
of mention of any official or dignitary whatsoever is an unusual
aspect of Cumin's foundation charter . It was common for secular
colleges to have a dean or sometimes a provost at its headl?.but

until its elevation to cathedral status and the institution of the

four dignitaries by Archbishop Henry in 1219 St. Fatrick's was

20.
without an officially appointed head .

I7. In the preamble to his confirmation of Archbishop Cumin's
provincial decrees in II87 Pope Urban III stated that he héd been
informed by the archbishop that the Irish people were lacking in
knowledge of divine and sacred law . Pont.Hib. I no. I6 p. 48 .

18. A.F.Leach,Educational charters and documents , (Cambridge I9II) p.I123 .

19. Cook, Eng.Col.Churches,p.2. Cook does mention that some of the
lesser colleges e.g.Darlington in Durham with 4 prebends had no
officially appointeddean , but St.latrick's with I3 prebends could

hardly be regarded as 'lesser' by English standards .

20. There is some evidence that the archdeacon of Dublin may have
functioned as unofficial head of the college of canogs before the
institution of the dignitaries 3 see below pp. 211 -3 .
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b) THE RELATIONSHIP WITH SALISBURY .

St.Patrick's , the largest and richest of the Irish cathedrals and
the only one which could be compared with the secular cathedral
chapters of EnglandB?.was from its very early days modelled on
Salisbury cathedral and maintained a close relationship with the
English chapter . The relationship was initiated about a year after
the foundation date when Archbishop Cumin granted to the canons
all the liberties which the secular canons of Salisbury had in their
church , college , prebends and appurtenencesB?. This grant of the
privileges of an English secular cathedral lends weight to the
argument that Cumin intended his new foundation to eventually have
cathedral status . The Consuetudinary of S5t. Usmund , containing the
rules of discipline , order of worship and internal constitution of
a secularzcathedral was to be thereafter the governing law of b5t.
Patrick%j.'This constitution , although initially drawn up solely
for the use of Salisbury was by the mid twelfth century generally
accepted not only in southern England but in other parts of England
as well . The granting of the liberties of LUalisbury to a secular
cathedral was seen as a distinct gain of independence to the canons ,

particularly with regard to their freedom from episcopal and

archidiaconal jurisdiction in their prebend%BZ

30. Hand. Med.Chap.5t.Fatrick's, p. 229

3I. ...Umnes libertates quas habent canonici seculares Sarisburiensis
tam in ecclesia sua collegiata quam in eorum prebendis et pertinenciis

suis', Dignitas Decani , p. 4I .

32, See W.H.Frere The use of Sarum (I878) , and the Registrum Sancti
Osmundi Zpiscopi , ed. W.H.R.Jones,2 vols (R.S. I883-4) .

33 See Statutes of Lincoln Cathedral , ed. C.Wordsworth and H.
Bradshaw , 3 vols. (1892-7) vol.I p. 309 when Bishop Robert de Chesney
c.I160 granted the canons of his cathedral ......omnino libertatem in
prebendis suis quam habent canonici Saresbiriensis ecclesie in suis'.
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Archbishop Cumin's ordinance did not receive papal confirmation during
his episcopacy but in that of his suatessor . In I2I6 at the request

of Archbishop Henry of London , Pope Innocent III confirmed the
possessions of St. Patrick's and also stated that the canons there

had been instituted under the manner of Salisbury at their own wishB%.
This observance of the constitution of Salisbury was reaffirmed by
Archbishop Henry in 1224 when he granted each canon of St.Patrick's
Jjurisdiction in his own prebend secundum instituciones consuetudinum

35.
ac immunitatum Sarisburiensis Ecclesie « A similar charter was

issued by the next Archbishop,Luke de Roches,and he stated that
such a grant of jurisdictional exemption was in accordance with
the regulations of the church of Salisbury under the approved

36.
institutions of which St.Patrick's had been founded .

Apart from papal and episcopal confirmations and charters
there is concrete proof of the close relationship between Salisbury
and Dublin in the thirteenth and early fourteenth century . Firstly

there exists A manuscript copy of the Consuetudinary of st.

Usmund dated to the late thirteenth or early fourteenth century, which

was copied for the use of St. Patrick's Dublin and kept in that

3. . ..Statuimus etiam , ad ipsius archiepiscopi supplicacionis
instanciam ut canonici ordinis instituta iuxta morem Sareburiensis
ecclesie a vobis sponte suscepta et hactenus custodita in ecclesia vestra

deinceps inviolabiliter observentur. Pont. Hib. I. no. 96 pp.I75-6 .

35, Dignitas Decani,p.t.It is interesting to note that Henry of
London was present in 1225 at the consecration of the new cathedral

at Salisbury . See above p. 59.

36.Dignitas Decani , p. 6 +.....secundum ordinacionem Sarisburiensis e
ecclesie , iuxta cuius instituciones et consuetudines approbatas dicta
ecclesia Beati Patricii dinoscitur esse fundata .
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church . Secondly there survives in the Dignitas-Deeani a transcript

of a letter sent from the dean and chapter of St.Patrick's to the
dean and chapter of ialisbury in I284 , along with Salisbury's
reply to the letter .

This letter , which is adressed to 'our brothers in Christ the
dean and chapter of Salisbury'asks for instruction on the rules and
customs of their cathedral so that the church founded to the
honour of God and St.Patrick 'in a land almost desert and hostile'
may be worthy and serve God in a like mannerB?.The chapter of
Dublin sought information on thirteen different topics and the
questions indicate that although St.Patrick's had been theomtically

governed by the usages of Salisbury for almost one hundred years they

did not have a copy of the consuetudinary or the Instituta Osmundi

39.
to consult in Dublin . However it is possible that they wished to

check on the current practice in Salisbury,as the way in which the

Sarum rule was observed in different English cathedrals varied

Lo.
considerably . It is interesting to note that the dean of Salisbury

37.Dignitas Decani , pp. I2-I6 .

38. ...ut ecclesiam nostram ad honorem dei et uSancti Fatricii in
terra quasi deserta et hostili fundatam per vestra qtatuta salutaria
et approbata regulare et honorifice regere valeamus . Dignitas Decani,p.I3

39. For example,their first question concerned the commons which

the dignitaries may receive and Salisbury replied that the four

dignitaries received double commons Dignitas Decani , p.I4 . This is clearly
stated in the Consuetudinary ....Decanus et Cantor , theasaurieus

et cancellarius duplicem percipiunt communam Cambridge Add.MS.7I0 , f. 9v.

40. Edwards, Sec. Cathedrals, pp. 42-6 . The question of double
commons for the dignitaries was not applied in all the cathedrals
which followed the Sarum rule . It was dependant on the residence
of the officials,which again varied a lot .\lincoln followed the
example of Salisbury, but at Lichfield where only the dean was
required to reside continuously he was the only dignitary given

double commons .
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at the time the letter was sent was Walter Scammel who had been
L1,

a prebend holder in St. Patrick's

It may perhaps have been shortly after this communication between
the chapters of Dublin and Salisbury that plans got underway for the
preparation of a copy of the consuetudinary of St.Osmund for the use
of the canons of Dutlin . This copy,which survives in Cambridge Add Ms
710 is dated to the late thirteenth century or the early fourteenth
and is considered to te one of the best manuscripts of the consuetudinari?.

The copy contains no adaptation apart from the words et eadem in

ecclesia Dublin on f.29 . Unce this copy had been deposited in St.

Patrick's the dean and chapter could be sure that they were following

faithfully the rule under which they had teen instituted .

Finally it must be noted that there is strong evidence for
architectural links between the two cathedrals . It is widely accepted
that the lady chapel in St. Patrick’s was influenced Ly that at
Salisbury . From what remains in St. Patrick’'s it appears that the

43,
two chapels had closely similar vaulting and supports .

4I. C.P.R. 1272-81 , p. 278 . At some time before 1278 King Edward
conferred the prebend of Lusk on the dean of Salisbury .

42. University of Cambridge Add. Ms. 7I0, commonly known as the Dublin
Troper . For a description of this Ms see G.Hand 'Cambridge Add.Ms.710'

in Rep.Nov. vol.2 (I958) pp.I7-32
43, See Edwin C.McRae, 'The medieval fabric of St.Patrick's Dublin, in

R.S.A.I.J.vol.109 (I979) , pp. 29 - 73 s R.Stalley, Architecture

and sculpture in Ireland 1I150-1350 , (Dutlin I97I),pp.68-?0 ; H.J.Leask
Irish Churches and Monastic buildings , 3 vols. (Dundalk I955-€),vol. 2

pp. 81-3 .
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c) THE ORGANIZATION OF ST.PATRICK'S : SOME THIRTEENTH CENTURY LEGISLATION

As mentioned above , Archbishop John Cumin , in raising the parish
church of St.Patrick's to collegiate status , made no provision for the
governing of the body of canons and appointed no officials or
dignitaries . It was his succesor , Henry of London , who completed
the internal organization of the cathedral by establishing the

dignitaries of dean , chancellor , precentor and treasurer .

Henry of London , perhaps even more than John Cumin , belonged
to the new type of English churchman , who being heavily involved
himself in administrative affairs , preferred secular chapters over
regular ones . A significant detail about his early career is that he
was proctor of the secular canons of Lichfield in the struggle between
Hugh Nonant and the monks of Coventry cathedralu?.when Henry established
the dignities of chancellor , precentor and treasurer in St.Patrick's
he made direct reference to the foundation charter of his predecessor
and expressed the view that the uncultured and untrained Irish church
required a wholziome organization like St.Patrick's to increase the

worship of God . He used virtually the same words in his charter
hs.

establishing the office of dean in the cathedral shortly afterwards .

43. Rotuli CuriaeRegis , vol.I p.3 .

44y, Dignitas Decani , p. 3 .... J. recolende memorie predecessor noster
cessessssinter cetera pietatis opera que ad informationem ecclesiastice
discipline propriam exercuit diligentiam , ecclesiam Beati Patricii Dublin'
in edificationem divini ministerii et aliorum instructionem prebendariam

instituit .

45. Dignitas Decani , p. 5.
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These charters are undated but in March I22I Pope Honorius III
confirmed the establishment of the four dignitaries in St. Patrick's
and the property which Archbishop Henry had apportioned for their

support .

From c. 1220,therefore , St.Patrick's resembled the English
secular cathedrals with their 'four square' constitution . A few
years later Henry of London brought the chapter even closer into
line with the English secular cathedrals in general and with Salisbury
cathedral in particular when he granted to the dean and chapter that
they might have all spiritual pleas and perquisites of the clerical
and lay parishioners in their prebendal churches and the churches of
their common fund which pertained to him and his successors %7'In 1225
he added to this privilege when he also renderec the canons free from
the archdeacon's jurisdiction in their prebends and free from paying

L8,
procurations to the archdeacon .

The jurisdictional privileges of the canons were reaffirmed in
the episcopacy of Archbishop Luke . In I236-7 he repeated Henry of
London's charter and added that the dean might have jurisdiction in the

prebends of absentee canons , except those who were absent

46. Pont. Hib. I, no. I43,p. 228 .

47. Dignitas Decani . p. 6 +...ut habeant libere et absolute imperpetuum
omnia placita et perquisita parochianorum suorum tam clericorum quam
lajicorum , in ecclesiis suis prebendalitus , et in ecclesiis commune

sue cum earum pertinenciis quantum ad nos vel successores nostros
pertinet in spiritualibus | See Edwards,English Sec.Cathedrals,pp.

YE5-9 &

48, Dignitas Decani p. 7 . See below p.2If
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on archiepiscopal buisness or those allowed to bte absent by the
constitution of the cathedra?g: The fact that there were canons
absent without permission reflects that even at this early stage of
its history St. Fatrick's was experiencing the problem of non-

residence which was plaguing the English secular cathedrals .

The thirteenth century legislation dealing with the problem
of non-residence in St. Patrick’s makes it clear that the matter was
approached in much the same way as it was in England . The object of
the legislation was not to force residence on all the canons but to
ensure that those canons who did reside were financially rewarded .50.

The emoluments of the resident canons were increased by imposing

financial penalties on non-residents .

In 1227 it was agreed by the canons of St. Patrick's that
the fifth part of the prebend of each non-resident canon was to g%‘
every year to the common fund for the use of the resident canons. If
for example the prebendary of Finglas,which was valued at 50 marks per

annum in 1227 , was absent , the common fund of the cathedral would

be increased by I0 marks per annum.

L9, Dignitas Decani p. 7 . Archbishop Cumin‘s foundation charter
stated that canons could go overseas for the purpose of study if they
got the permission of the-dean and they would not lose their prebend
or share in the common fund . ibid. p. 2.

50. See Edwards,Eng.Sec.Cathedrals pp. 33-8 .

51- AloRego ppnu'?"Bl
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Apart from financial incentives , a further benefit of residence
was that each resident canon was provided with a house in the precinct
of the cathedral . Archbishop Cumin specified in his foundation
charter that he was providing eight plots of land for the building
of the canon s houses , which were to remain permanently annexed to
the prebend of the canon who built it .52ﬁew residents did have to
make a cash outlay on their succession to these houses,which was used
generally to increase the common fund . In I244 Archbishop Luke
fixed the payments to be made by the canons of St. Patrick's before
they obtained possession of their house . Thirteen houses were listed
and the payments ranged from 20 marks on the dean's house to 5 marks

53.

on the houses of most of the ordinary canons .

Much of the thirteenth century legislation of St.Patrick'’s
comes from the episcopacy of Luke de Roches , who , as former dean
of St. Martin le Grand in London?u;ust have known a considerable
amount about the organisation of a secular foundation and in

particular the problems caused by non-resident canons who used their

prebends to finance their administrative or academic activities and

contributed nothing in return .

In I247 , at the request of the dean and chapter Luke decreed that

each canon , within a year of his appointment , should come in person

52. Dignitas Decani, p. 2.

53, Al.Reg. pp. 76-7 . The payments were to go to the common fund,apart
from one third which was to go to the support of the ministers celebrating
the mass of the Blessed Virgin Mary in St. Patrick's .

54, See above p. 63.



_Th7-

to St. Patrick’s and swear canonical obedience to the archbishop and
take an oath to observe the customs and approved statutes of the church
of St. Patrick’s ?5%his statute does not enforce residence on the
canons but can be seen as an effort to ensure that prebendaries
provided, for example, by the king during vacancies of the see should

come and make themselves known to the chapter and fulfill any

obligations, pecuniary or otherwise, connected with their succession

to a prebend .

One of the duties which each new canon had to perform was the
appointment of a vicar to sing in the cathedral and take his place if
he was absent for any rgason . Vicars were mentioned in St. Fatrick s
as early as c. 1219-205..They may have been instituted by Archbishop
Henry of London,who at some date between I220 and 1228 granted the
vicars in St. Patrick s the church of Keneth to be converted into
their commons ??in 1244 Archbishop Luke at the request of one of the
canons of St. Patrick's gave the vicars a plot of ground on which to
build a common hall of residence ?B.It would appear that each canon,
irrespective of whether or not he was resident,had to provide a vicar .
When Archbishop Luke made the church of Maynooth a prebend of the
cathedral in I244 he instructed the prebendary to find a fit vicar to

59.
serve in St. Patrick's with the other vicars .

55, Dignitas Decani , p. 34.

56. Reg.St.Thomas,p. I46

57. Al.Reg. p. €60+

58, Dignitas Decani p. If4-5 .
59. Al.Reg. p. 71.
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From at least the middle of the thirteenth century St. Patrick's
resembled the English secular cathedrals in all major respects . It
had the typical ‘four square' constitution of a group of canons under
the supervision of four dignitaries . It had established freedom
from archiepiscopal and archidiaconal jurisdiction in its prebends
and the churches of the common fund . It had taken measures to
penalize non-residence and reward residence and it had established a
body of vicars to perform the duties connected with the daily sequence

of religious worship in the cathedral church .

THE RELATIONSHIP WITH THE ARCHBISHOP.

The most powerful instrument which the archbishop wielded in his
relationship with the chapter of St. Patrick's was his right to
collate to the prebends of the cathedral . All the dignities except
that of dean and all the prebends were in the collation of the archbishop,
who merely sent a mandate to the chapter to admit his nominee to a
vacant prebend ?Oin St. Patrick's there is no evidence of any
attempts being made to limit the archbishop's freedom to present to
the dignities and prebends . The policy of the chapter itself , to
exclude from canonries all those of the Irish nation,did theoretically

place a restriction on the choice of the archbishop but it seems unlikely
6I.

that it would have been seen as such by the archbishops .

60. The Consuetudinary of St.Osmund stated that all canons owed their
position to the archbishop and were instituted by him . Cambridge Add.

Ms. 7I0 , £.3 .

61. Dignitas Decani , p. 63 .
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In St. Patrick's , as in most of the English secular cathedrals ,
the chapter had the privilege of exercising a free election for the
position of dean . Unlike the position in most English dioceses , the
archbishop of Dublin reserved and exercised the right as a canon of

62,
the cathedral to share in the election of a dean . In I2I9,when

Archbishop Henry of London instituted the first dean,Willlam Fitz
Guido , he stated that he was hencdorth confirming a free election

to the canons so that they might elect for themselves a suitable
person out of the bosom of their church , with the archbishop havéng
a place at the election by virtue of his being a prebend holder . 2
Archbishop Alen in 1529 referred to this ruling of Archbishop Henry'’s
when he took part in the election of Geoffrey Fyche as dean of St.

6l .
Patrick‘s in that year .

The right of free election of their dean was used by many of
the English chapters as a method of lessening the control of the bishop
over their affairs,but this was certainly not the case in thirteenth

century Dublin,where the five men who held the office during the century

62. Edwards,Eng.Sec.Cathedrals,p. I05 . Salisbury was the only English
secular cathedral in which the bishop is known to have exercised his

claim-to share in the election of a dean . : . SO, o e .

]
63. Dignitas Decani p. 5 . ...unde dominum Willelmum Filium Guidonis
in eadem ecclesia instituimus Decanum ad electionem eiusdem capituli,
quam eis ut de gremio eiusdem ecclesie idoneam sibi eligant personam
liberam concedimus in perpetuum et confirmamus cui electioni interesse
volumus tamquam canonicus cum in eadem ecclesia prebendam habeamus .

64. Al.Reg. p. 273 , 290 .
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were closely connected with the archbishops of the time . The first
dean , William Fitz Guido or William of London,was a nephew of
Archbishop Henry , g son of his sister Anna who married Wydo,a
merchant of London .Séhe next dean Richard de Gardino,was a nephew

of Archbishop Luke'’s and was described as such when he wagégiven
protection for five years on his going to Ireland in I235 ..Richard

de Gardino was suceeded by Richard de Sancto Martino c. I259 . Richard
was described as a clerk of Archbisgop Luke's in I237 when he had been
collated to a prebend in Kilkenny . E; was suceeded in I275 by John
of Sandforggfhose relationship with Archbishop Fulk has already been
discussed . The dean of St. Patrick's from I284 to I3I0 was Thomas

de Chaddesworth who had acted as a clerk of archbishop Fulk's in

1262 when he attempted to make a visitation in Kildare on his

69.
behalf and who was Fulk's official in I267-8 .

It is likely that all these deans owed their appointment to
their connections with the archbishops,but the exercise of such
patronage on the part of the archbishop caanot be seen as injurious to
the chapter at this point of its history . The five deans were all

able administrators ,and appear +to have been largely resident .

65. bee E.ot.John Brooks:Archbishpp Henry of T.ondon's Irish connectiongi
pp. 9-11 .

66. C.P.R. 1232-47, p. II8 .

67. ibid p. I97 .
68. See above p.I1I10-II .

69| Al .REE- ppo 93'—4 . See APPEndix Nno. 3 =
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They were also capable of acting independently of episcopal control
70.
when the needs of the chapter warranted it .

The influence of the archbishop extended of course down through
the chapter and can be seen in the compostion of the prebendaries in
general . A Sir Gilbert Comyn , canon of St. Patrick's,appears in
a witness list to a document c. 1223-28 ?I%he same witness list contains
a Sir Robert blund , canon , who must have been another member of
Henry of London's large family , and Simon Blund who held the precentor-
ship of the cathedral c. I226 was also a nephew of Henry‘zz: Apart from
Richard de Gardino , Archbishop Luke does not appear to have promoted
members of his family to canonries and John of Sandford was likewise
the only connection with Archbishop Fulk . Even an absentee bishop like
William de Hothum could however exert influence over the composition
of the chapter . His nephew William appears as a canon of the cathedral

73,
early in the fourteenth century .

Most of the men who are described in the documents as 'clerks of
the archbishop' were prebend holders in St. Patrick‘s , but in the
majority of cases it is impossible to say whether these men owed their

prebends to the fact that were members of the archbishop's 'familia’

70. In January I260 Archbishop Fulk de Sandford obtained a papal
indult exemging him from the payment of certain kinds of tithes , but
the dean and chapter of St.Patrick's objected strongly to this and
complained to the pope . They were eventually sucessful and the indult

was revoked in January I26I . Pont.Hib. 2 no. 479 pp.304-5 , no. 496

pp. 323-4 .
7I. Al.Reg. p. 6I.

72. ibid, and p. I57 . Robert blund appears to have held the very rich
prebend of Swords . For Simon See Al.Reg. p. 56,

73. Al oReg 3 pp . 157"8 .
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or if they became his clerks by virtue of their holding prebends .

In studies of English diocesan administration it has been found that
within the chapters of the secular cathedrals there grew up a body of
canons who formed the bishop’s council . It was from within this

group that the archbishop picked his official staff ?u.The identification
of such a group of canons within the medieval chapter of St. Patrick’s

is rendered impossible by the poor survival of episcopal acta from the
thirteenth century . However what evidence there is would suggest that
the canons who most frequently witnessed the archbishop’'s charters,

were not chosen randomly . They appear to have formed a distinct

group from which the archbishop chose his spiritual and secular

staff .

During the years 1270 -I300 the chapter of St. Patrick s
underwent a large change in composition , caused in particular by
the long vacancy of I27I-9 and the exercise by the king of his right
to present to prebends during this vacancy . During this period
Edward I lost no opportunity to use any prebend which might fall
vacant in Dublin to reward his clerks and employees . This was the case
all over England as well,and a study of the patent rolls for the reign

of Edward I has revealed nearly one thousand presentations to

ecclesiastical benefices made during the 35 years of his reign . The vast
75

majority of these presentations were made sede vacante . The long

74. See C.R.Cheney , English kishop s’Chanceries I000-1250 , ( I950)
and F.M.Stenton , 'Acta Episcoporum ), in Cam.Hist.Jrnl. vol. 3 (I929),

pp. I-I4 .

75. R.A.Hartridge , 'Edward I's exercise of the right of presentation to
benefices , as shown by the patent rolls ), in Cam.Hist.Jrnl. vol.2

(1926-8) , pp.I71-7 .
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vacancy in Dublin was a windfall for King Edward , coming as it did
after his return from the crusade and his coronation , when he most needed

benefices for his advisers . During this vacancy and the later
vancancy of I294-6 , a total of eighteen distinct presentations
were made by Edward I to prebends in St.Patrick's » including two to
76.

the archdeaconry and one each to the precentorship and the chancellorship.

The majority of the men presented by the king do not seem to have
come to Ireland and do not appear in any of the ecclesiastical or
administrative records . Among them were men such as_Robert Burnell,
presented to a benefice in I27I , Walter Scammel (I272) and Anthony
Bek (I274) , men for whom a prebend in Dublin was merely one more
addition to a comprehensive list of benefices and a further stage
in the process of royal preferment,which would in many cases

culminate in the episcopacy .

Some of the men who were rewarded with prebends in this period
S~
did play a part in the administration of Ireland . One example is
Wwilliam de itacquepuis ,who was presented to a prebend in 1272 . He had

been the king s escheator in Ireland in I254-6 and 1257-71 and also

77
served as an itinerant justice. Another example is John of Kenley,

who received a pretend in 1275 . He had been chancellor and chamberlain
78.

of the exchequer from at least I270 .

76. C.P.R. 1266-72 , p. 583 ; 1272-81 , pp. 54, 58, 61, 73, 83, 90 ,
110 , 139, 159 , 163, 224, 229, 277, 304 ; 1281-92 , pp. I23, I26 .

77. Rich.Sayles. Admin.Irl. pp. 125,136,138,

78. ibid. pp. 1I5,I18 .
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Involvement by the prebend holders of St. Patrick s in the royal
administration in Ireland did mt of course begin in the period of
royal presentation . Throughout the thirteenth century the personnel
of Dublin’s secular cathedral played an important role in the
administration??.This was particularly marked during the episcopacies
of archbishops who were themselves heavily involved in the
administration , for example Henry of London and Luke de Roches .
Episcopal households could be closely connected with royal service and
there are many examples of men who could move easily from one
employment into another . This mobility is clearly demonstrated in the
case of Thomas de Chaddesworth,who was first chancellor and then dean
of St. Patrick's and also chancellor and deputy treasurer of the Irish
exchequer . As the official of Fulk de Sandford he presided over the
ecclesiastical court in Dublin and he also served as a justi:ze
itinerant of the crown and a justice of the common bench ?oit is clear
that if the archbishop was involved in royal service himself then
the men whomhe used to witness his acta and exercise his spiritual

jurisdiction would be more likely to be involved in the secular

administration , and the archbishop drew most of his staff from the

canons of St. Patrick's .

79. See Rich.Sayles, Admin.Irl. pp. 2-4 . They suggest a comparison
of the lists of prebend holders contained in H.J.Lawlor’s The Fasti
of St.Patrick s , Dublin (Dundalk I1930),with their lists of ministers

and judges in the Irish administration .

80. Rich.Sayles,Admin.Irl. pp. II5 , I40-I , 20I, 209 . See Appendix
Noe 3 s
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While it is possible in many instances to trace the roles played
by the canons of St.Patrick's in the archbishop's administration , it
is not as easy to ascertain how large a part the archbishop played
in the administration of the cathedral . During the first 30 to 40
years of St.Patrick’s existence as a cathedral , the archbishop played
a major role in the statute-making of the cathedral . The important
steps taken by the chapter to set up a vicars' choral and to deal
with problems such as non-residence were taken under the aegis of
the archbishopaf.Unfortunately , due to the vacancies and absences
which plagued the latter part of the century it is not possible to
speculate on the part played by the archbishop in the statute-making

of the cathedral , during a period when one would expect the chapter

to be asserting its independence .

The holding of prebends at their cathedrals was a recognized
expedient both in England and on the continent by which bishops tried
to gain access to the chapter meetings . At Salisbury theG@;wP held a
prebend and at times gave his consent to chapter statutes not as a

82.

bishop but as a ‘canonicus'. In Dublin Archbishop Luke appears at one
83.

stage to have held the prebend of Stamuthan or Tymon in the cathedral ,
but this must have been a temporary arrangement because in 1260
Fulk de Sandford informed Pope Alexander IV that although he was a
canon of St. Patrick's he held no prebend thereS?.The pope gave him

licence to annex to his canonry the prebend of Swords , so that on

81. See above p. I43-7 .

82. Edwards, Eng.Sec.Cathedrals , pp.I09-I0.

83. Al.Reg. p. 63 .
84. Pont. Hib. 2,no. 478,pp. 303-4 .
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the death or resignation of the canon who then held it , it might

be held by the archbishop and his successors . Fulk was instructed to
create a new prebend in the cathedral so that the number of canons
might not be lessened . It is interesting to note that it was in this
year also that Bishop Henry de Wingham of London obtained an indult
from Pope Alexander giving him the right to hold a prebend in St.Paul's

85.
in London .

The rich prebend of Swords did not however become annexed to the
archbishopric . There may have been some objection from the chapter ,
although no record of this survives . The archbishop of Dublin did get
the prebend of Cualann or Colonia in St. Patrick's at some stage

before the early fourteenth century and this remained annexed to his
86. '
office .

The oath sworn by the archbishop of Dublin on his reception
at St. Patrick's has survived in a fourteenth century forma?.Like
any ordinary canon of the church he swore to be faithful to St.
Patrick's and to defend its liberties and its customs . He also swore
not to alienate its property and as far as he could to ensure

that any property which had been lost would be restored as well as

85. Cal.Lib.Niger , p. 136 ; C.C.C.D. no. 186,

86. C.P.L. I, p. 373 . The indult was revoked a year later by Pope
Urban IV.

87. Cambridge Add. Ms. 7I0 f.I132r.
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87.
undertaking to protect the church from all harm . The other canons

also swore to defend the customs of the church against all attack and
88.
to preserve the secrets of the chapter . Whether this implied that the

archbishop did not partake in chapter meetings and therefore was not privy to

the secrets of the chapter is not clear .

As a member of the chapter it appears likely that the archbishop
would be accorded the same privileges as those enjoyed by the four
dignitarieés , but it is not known if this extended to the claim to
receive double commons . During Archbishop Alen’s visitation of the
cathedral of St. Patrick's in I532 it was decided that although the
archbishop was 'the summit of dignity,' he should not have double
commons along with the other four dignitariesB?.Unfortunately
there is no indication of what the practice had been up until that
time , but the implication is that a change in the custom was being
established . In the English secular cathedrals practice regarding

double commons varied , @B did practice concerning the position of

the bishop in the chapter .

87 Cambridge Add.MS.7I0£.I32x.Fidelis ero ecclesie Dublin' : iura
libertates et legitimas et approbatas constitutiones et consuetudines
ipsius ecclesie defendabo et conservabo : bona res et iura elusdem ecclesie
exceptis casibus in iure expressis non alienabo : alienata amissa

perdita seu alias iniuste usurpata petam et quantum in me est revocabo

et recuperabo : utilia euisdem ecclesie totis viribus procurabo et

'

nocua vitabo .
88. 1bid. £.139r ,

89. Al.Reg. p. 282 .

90. Edwards,Eng.Sec. Cathedrals ,pp. 104-6 . York apparently was the
only English secular cathedral which denled its bishop all statutory

right to sit in chapter .
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Relations between the archbishops of Dublin and the secular
chapter appear to have been very cordial throughout the thirteenth
century , apart from one incident in the episcopacy of Fulk of Sandford
when the chapter complained that he had sought to deprive them of
their income by procuring a papal indult . The question of episcopal,
visitation which caused a great deal of conflict between the English
chapters and their bishops during the thirteenth centuryydoes not
seem to have arisen in Dublin during this period . The first known
visitation of St. Patrick's occurreal in I303 in the time of Archbishop
Richard de Ferringes,who also issued a charter concerning future
visitations in which he claimed to be confirming the privileges
conferred on the chapter by his predecessors ?Iﬁe Ferringes undertook
to visit the chapter only through the dean and to make any correction
through him . Lest the proceedings be tainted in any way by the motive
of profit , he promised to limit his procurations to I0 marks ?2.

If this very moderate arrangement concerning visitation had been
practised during the thirteenth century, it would explain why there
is no evidence of conflict over this matter . It would also have been

typical of the friendly relationship between the archbishop and the

chapter which characterized this period .

9I. Crede Mihi £.I08v .

92. ibid . £.I08v '.....Ordinanus et statuimus +«+sss.quod archiepiscopus
eeseessdecanum et capitulum , quociens opus fuerit et salutl animarum
expediens , per decanum visitet et correctiones facit salutares per

1

eundeme
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CHAPTER 9 . THE REGULAR CHAPTER OF CHRIST CHURCH DUBLIN .
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from II8I .
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a) THE FOUNDATION AND EARLY HISTORY

It is not possible to do more than speculate on the foundation
date of Dublin's first cathedral church . All of the information
for the ‘early history of Christ Church (as indeed for the early history
of the diocese of Dublin) is contained in narrative sources from
the thirteenth and fourteenth century which are far from being

T
reliable .

The early Dublin annals of St. Mary’'s which were compiled in the
thirteenth century, butwhich incorporate material from an earlier date,
contain the information that in IO74 Dunanus , bishop of Dublin , died
and was buried in the church of the Holy Trinity , near the high altar
and on its right hand side ?.This was the traditional burial place for
the founder of a church . Dunan’s death in I074 was also recorded by
the annals of Ulster , Tigernach , and the Chronicon Scotorum ?.In
the book of obits of Christ Church Dunanais called the first bishop
of Dublin and ‘the founder of our church‘..It'would appear therefore

that the foundation date of the cathedral can be placed before Dunan’s

death in IO74 .

i. For a discussion of the available evidence and the problems associated
with it see A.Gwynn 'The first bishops of Dublin, in Rep.hov. vol. I
(1955) , pp. I-26 ; 'The origins and the see of Dublin‘, in I.E.R. vol.62
(I941) , pp. 40-55 , 97-II12 ;'Some unpublished texts from the Elack

Book of Christ Church Dublin’in Anal.Hib. vol.I6 (I946) , pp. 283-337 .

2. Ch.St. Mary’s vol.2 p.249 .

3. Ann.Uls. 2 p.26 , Ann.Tig. p. 4I0 , Chron.Scot. p. 290 .

4, C.Crosthwaite ed. Book of Obits and Martyrology of Christ Church
Dublin , (I844) . p. 23 .
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The Black Book of Christ Church contains a narrative written
towards the end of the fourteenth century which deals with the foundation
of the church . Described by Gwynn as an example of the 'elaborate and
artificial rhetoric of a medieval propagandist'5.and written with little
attention for historical accuracy , it tells that Sitric King of
Dublin gave to the Holy Trinity and to Donatus,the first bishop of
Dublin , a site on which to build a church dedicated to the Holy
Trinity ?.He also gave gold and silver for the building and with

the help of God's grace , Donatus satisfied his wish and command .

This King Sitric is recorded in the Irish annals as having
gone on a pilgrimage to Rome in 1028 and the statement that he was
involved in setting up the church of the Holy Trinity in Dublin
receives some backing from this fact?: Gwynn speculated that Sitric
may have undertaken the journey to Rome with the specific object of
obtaining papal permisssion for the setting up of a see in Dublin , or
that the project was suggested to him while he was in Romee: Gwynn
therefore fixes the date for the foundation of Holy Trinity and the
establishment of a see in Dublin c¢. 1029-36 , but admits that although

this date appears likely , it lacks all support from contemporary
9.

documents .

5. Gwynn. Origins of the see, p. 5I.

6. Some unpublished texts from the Black Book . P. 309'....Postea venit
Sitric Rex Dublin' filius Ableb Comitis Dublin' ......et dedit Sancte
Trinitati et donato primo episcopo Dublin locum ad edificandum
ecclesiam Sancto Trinitati '.

2. Ann.Uls. vol. I p.559 .

8. Gwynn, 'Origins of the See’'p. 106 .

9- ibidc Po 112 .
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There is no indication of what type of foundation the church of
Holy Trinity was or what type of ecclesiastics served there until
the early years of the twelfth century . C.II00-0I , Anselm , Archbishop
of Canterbury wrote to the then bishop of Dublin , Samuel (1095-1121)
reprimanding him for having expelled some monks from the church of
Dublinl?.Anselm had heard that Samuel had ejected and scattered these
monks who had been gathered in the church for the service of God and
that he refused to receive back those who wished to return . Given
the connections between Dublin and Canterbury at this time it is

II.
possible to conjecture that these monks were Benedictine .

According to the early thirteenth century life of St. Laurence
0'Toole,when Gregory, the first archbishop of Dublin died in II6I
the electors of the church of Dublin chose the bishop of the suffragan
diocese of Glendalough as their new archbishopl?.Unfortunately no
information is given on how this ‘election' was carried out . Under
Archbishop Laurence the cathedral of Holy Trinity received the
chapter organization which it was to retain down to the Reformation.

About II63 , Laurence introduced the then fashionable Arroasian

canons into Holy Trinity and he himself observed the rule along with

I0. The text of this letter can be found in Patrologia Latina , vol. I59.

II. See A.Gwynn 'Bishop Samuel of Dublin' in I.E.R. vol.60 (I942), pp.
80-8 .

I2.'Vita et Miracula Sancti Lawentii'ed. C.PLummer , in Analecta
Bollandiana , vol.33 (I9I4),pp.I2I-86 . See ch. VII p. 136 .
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the canons ., purportedly wearing the Augustinian habit under his
¥ I3 .
episcopal robes . He also endowed the canons with lands and churches

which remained the nucleus of their possessions for the medieval
periocd and beyond . The earliest papal confirmation of the
possessions of the church dates from II7?9 and between this and the
confirmation which the canons received from Pope Urban III in II86
there was a significant increase in their possessionsI?‘The early
Anglo-Norman invaders and in particular Strongbow were very generous
to Holy Trinity T5.A I202 confirmation of King Joha of the lands and
possessions of Holy Trinity which were granted to it before and after
the arrival of the English in Ireland lists many grants from the

16.
first generation of Anglo-Normans in Dublin .

The small number of episcopal acta which survive from the time
of Archbishop Laurence show that the canons of Holy Trinity figured
prominently among the witnesses to his archiepiscopal functions . A

charter dated c. II76 was witnessed by the prior , subprior and
17
sacristan of Holy Trinity. Another charter of the same date was

18.
witnessed by the prior and sacristan . It is clear that at this stage

I3. Vita et Miracula ck VIII p.I37.For a brief discussion of Archbishop
Laurence's adoption of the Arroasian rule in Holy Trinity , see F.J.
Dunning 'The Arroasian order in Medieval Ireland’ in I.H.S. vol. 4,
(I945) pp. 308-9 - See also Gwynn and Hadcock Med.Religious Houses Irl.

pp. I46-52 , and Ch.St.Mary's 2 p. 266t .
I4. Pont.Hib. I, no.I3,p.4I-4 .

I5. The klack Book of Christ Church contains the information that
Archbishop Laurence with Earl Richard built the choir and two chapels
of Holy Trinity . Gwynn, 'Unpublished Texts'p. 309

16. C.C.C.D. no. 364 (c) .

I7. Reg. Nov. pp. 287-8 . Another ratification was witnessed by the

prior and the whole convent Reg.S5t.Thomas , p. 285 .
I8. Document no. 3 in M.P.Sheehy 'Diplomatica ; Unpublished medieval

charters and letters relating to Ireland ' in Archiv.Hib. vol.25 (1962),
pp. 123-135.
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the canons of Holy Trinity were functioning as the cathedral chapter
of the diocese and their consent was necessary for the ratification

of the formal acta of the archbishop .

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE ARCHBISHOPS OF DUBLIN FROM 1182

There is nothing in the records from the episcopacy of Archbishop
John Cumin to show that he treated the church of Holy Trinity with
anything less than the respect due to the cathedral church of his
diocese . It is likely that given his background and training he
would not have considered Augustinian canons as the most suitable
administrators for a large diocese , and he did take steps to ensure
that there would be a foundation in Dublin which would support the
secular clerks who were more suitable for such duties . But there is
no evidence to support the view that he wished to replace the

regular chapter or that he discriminated against it in any way .

There does appear to have been a certain amount of tension
between the archbishop and Holy Trinity in the period II90-96.
There survive detalls of a settlement which was reached between them
under the supervision of the archbishop of Cashel , the papal 1egatef9'
At the legate's request , the archbishop confirmed all their possessions

to the prior and canons who then renounced all their differences

with him . Archbishop Cumin also agreed to give the canons

I19. Al.Reg. pp. 30-1 .
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100 rabbits every year from the warren at Portraine , and a rent

of 23s.in Dublin . It has been suggested that this dispute was

connected with the foundation and endowment of St. Patrick's in II92

and that in return for this confirmation and settlement the prior and
canons agreed not to object to the archbishop's plans for the secular
collegez?.However there is no mention of anything of this sort in

the document,which may even ‘date from the period before the foundation
of St.Patrick's . It seems more likely that the transaction resulted
from a series of small disputes over lands and rents which were
inevitable between a newly established and foreign archbishop and

a long established cathedral chapter . There is no other evidence

that Holy Trinity objected to the foundation of St. Patrick's and

the fact that the dignitaries who took part in the ceremony establishing
the new college assembled and proceeded from Holy Trinity would

suggest that the prior and canons foreaw no threat from the secular
21.
foundation .

There is in fact a lot of evidence to suggest that iJohn Cumin
treated Holy Trinity as the cathedral church of his diocese . On his
arrival in Dublin in II86 he held his provincial council in Holy
Trinity and promulgated the decrees which were later confirmed by

22.
Pope Urban III . A year earlier Prince John had recognized the status

20. See G.J.Hand:The rivalry of the cathedral chapters in medieval
Dublin’ in R.S.A.I.J. vol 92 (I1962) , p. I97.

21. Annals of Dudley Loftus . Marsh's Library MS. Z2.4.2.7. £.65 .

22. Giraldus De Rebus a se Gestis pp. 65-6 ; Pont.Hib. I, no. 16,
pp. 48-52 ; see above p. 10.
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of Holy Trinity when he granted a carucate of land in augmentation of
the archbishopric of Dublin , to ' God and the church of Holy Trinity

23.
of Dublin and John archbishop of that see ' .

In Hovenden's account of the quarrel between John Cumin and the
Irish justiciar in II97 , he relates that when the archbishop placed
Dublin under an interdict he ordered all the images and crosses in his
cathedral church to be laid on the ground , surrounded by thorns .
After he had left to seek justice overseas a miracle occured in this
church when the cross there began to shed blood . The canons
quickly sent over some of their number to inform the archbishop
of this miraculous event , hoping no doubt that such evidence of
divine displeasure would help the archbishop to obtain a settlement
from the king ?uihere is no further mention of this event but it

does suggest that the prior and canons were backing John Cumin in

this dispute .

The letter which Archbishop Cumin sent to the prior of Holy
Trinity c. I204-5 informing him that he was about to come to an agreement
with King John is also worth noting . In it the archbishop acknowledged
that he could not exchange any lands of the see of Dublin without
the consent of the prior and the archdeacon of Dublin and he

25,
asked them both to come to him in England as soon as possible .

23. Mac Niocaill, Charters p. 284
24. Hovenden, Chronicle. vol. 4 pp. 29-30 .See above p. 19-20 .

25. Reg.Nov. p. 258 A quia commutationem terrarum ecclesie
quas possedit predeccessor noster sine consilio et assensu vestro et
archidiacono nostri facere non possumus nec debemus , presentia vestra

cum nostra nobis neccessaria est '.



_167_

The architectural history of Christ Church also sheds light on
the relationship between the first Anglo-Norman archbishop and the
regular cathedral . The choir and transepts of the church were
extensively reconstructed during the years II86 and I200 and the style
of the building and the stone work has been shown to have obvious
affinities to buildings in the Bristol channel area zé.ln particular
a group of nine historiated capitals are related to contemporary
sculpture atllells and Glastonbury abbey in Somerset . John Cumin's
links with Somerset have already been discussed and it is especially
interesting to remember that he was custodian of the Abbey of
Glastonbury during the years II79-82 ??ﬁot only was the reconstruction
of Holy Trinity undertaken during his episcopacy but it seems likely
that he played a major role in the building and brought over stone

workers from his native Somerset , perhaps those who were working

on the fabric of Glastonbury while he was the custodian there .

Appropriately therefore , two sources record that when Archbishop
28.

Cumin died in I2I2 , he was buried in the church of Holy Trinity .

An early thirteenth century effigy of an archbishop in St. Laurence’s

chapel in Christ Church has been tentatively identified as that of
29.

John Cumin .

26. See R.A.Stalley,Architecture and Sculpture in Ireland II50-I350

(1971),pp. 58-60 ; Christ Church Dublin : the late Romanesque building
campaign (I973),pp.6-9 ; 'Three Irish Buildings with West Country
Origins’'in Medleval Art and Architecture at Wells and Glastonbury ,

( British Archaeological Association I98I ) pp. 62-80 .

27. See above pp.1-2 , 5 .

28. Ch.5t.Mary's 2. p. 279 ; Al.Reg. p. 299 .

29. J.Hunt, Irish Medieval Figure Sculpture I1200-1600 (Dublin I974),
vol.I,pp. 46-9 , I34 ; vol.2,plate no. 62.
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The building work at Christ Church continued under Cumin’s
successor , Henry of London , when most of the nave was finished ,
again with stone and sculptors being brought over from England ?0.
There is no evidence of conflict between this archbishop and the regular
chapter even though it was he who was responsible for the institution
of the four cathedral dignitaries in St. Patrick’s . Like his
Predecessor Archbishop Henry regarded Holy Trinity as his cathedral
church and others acknowledged the relationship . In I2I6 Pope
Innocent III took the church of Holy Trinity into his protection at
the archbishop’s request and in the same grant he also confirmed Henry
of London's metropolitan rightsjf.ln a grant c. I220 William Marshall
the younger granted land in Carlow to the archbishop and to Holy
Trinity on condition that the archbishop would have the earl's

2.
parents' anniversaries solemnly celebrated in that church .

In I2I8 Audoen Brun,a royal clerk and Richard de Bedford,
a canon of St. Patrick's granted land to Holy Trinity for the building
of a chapel dedicated to St. Saviourj?.Soon after,Archbishop Henry
gave his permission for the building of this church 'for the glory
of God and the metropolitan chuxch of Holy Trinity and the canons
serving God there 3lf.Around the same time a dispute between Holy

Trinity and a knight , Robert de Grondon was settled and confirmed

30. Stalley, Three Irish Puildings p. 72 -
31- Pont- Hib. I' Nno. 9?'ppt 176"90
32. Crede Mihi f. 9I .

33. Reg. Nov. p. 270.
e dbid. p. 273.
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by the seal of the archbishop and the seals of numerous witnesses ,

35.
six of whom were prebend holders in St. Patrick s .

An important indication of Archbishop's Henry‘s relationship
with the chapter comes from a grant of c¢. I220 in which he granted
rents to the prior and convent to enable them to construct a new
entrance to their church . In return they agreed that they would
celebrate the archbishop's obit for ever 355 This grant was witnessed
by the dean and chapter of St. Patrick's . It does not appear that
the establishment of the four dignitaries in St. Patrick's affected
the relationship between the archbishop and Holy Trinity . From at
least 1223 the acta of Henry of London was witnessed by both

.1?.
chapters .

Cordial relations appear to have continued under Archbishops
Luke and Fulk . Although the personnel of the regular chapter
played a minor role in the administration of the archdiocese ,
their role as spiritual intermediaries was always recognised and this
meant a continuation of generous endowment . Archbishop Luke granted
the church of Ballscadan to Holy Trinity on condition that the prior

and convent arranged for four chaplains to celebrate mass daily

35. Reg. Nov. p. 272 .

36. ibid. p. 273 'weee...ipsi quidem nobis concesserunt quod
anniversarium obitus nostri in perpetuum facient celebrari'.

37. For some examples of early grants given with the consent of both
chapters , see CH.St. Mary's I, pp. 1I8I-2 , I86 , 188 . Reg. Hosp.St.
John, pp. 223-2% , Reg.Abbey of St. Thomas,p. 294
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and for ever , for the souls of King Henry III , the Queen and their
38.

children . Geoffrey de Turville,the archdeacon of Dublin and royal

treasurer also granted rents to Holy Trinity to sustain a priest to

say mass for his soul and he also provided a meal for the canons on the
39.
feast of the vigil of the epiphany .

Althought the ties which connected the archbishop with his
secular chapter were stronger , there does not seem to have been
any attempt to exclude the regular chapter from its part in the
administration of the diocese . Documents which required capitular
consent were always witnessed by both cathedrals . It was also
usual for grants from the archbishop to one chapter to be witnessed
by representatives from the other chapter %O.Archbishop Fulk on
one occasion attempted to implead the canons of Holy Trinity
because Archbishop Luke had granted them a carucate of land in Finglas
without the consent of the chapter of St. Patrick'su%'ln the dispute
between the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem and Archbishop Fulk |,
the archbishop'!s proctor objected to the claim of the hospital that
they had received the church of Stachfythenane from the archbishop
of Dublin with the consent of his chapter . The proctor pointed out

that the claim must be false as it was well known that his lord
42.
had two chapters.

38. Al.Reg. p. 82

39. Reg. Nov. p. IO4 .
40. See for example Reg. Nov. p. 279 , III ; Al.Reg. p. 79.

4I. Al.Reg. p. I36.
42, ibid. p. 99 .
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INTRODUCTION .

In dealing with vacancies in episcopal sees three factors have
to be taken into consideration : the election process , the
administration of the spiritualities of the diocese , and the
exercise by the king of his regalian right with regard to the
temporalities of the diocese . There is however a complex.relationship

between these factors which .would make it unwise to deal with them

separately .

Theoretically the chapter of the diocese played the major role
in the election of a new bishop , using one of three canonically
recognized procedures , scrutiny , compromission or inspiration .
The freedom of the electors was limited however , by the necessity
of obtaining in the first place licence to elect from the crown
and secondly the consent of the metropolitan ( or in the case of an
archbishop , the pope ) to the chosen candidate . In practice therefore ,
the election was the result of a complicated interplay of forces , in

which royal or papal interests often proved stronger than those

1.
of the cathedral clergy .

I. During the thirteenth century , episcopal electlons in England ,
with few exceptions , conformed to the agreement worked out by Fope
Innocent III and King John in March 1215 , the text of which can be
found in Chney and SempleySelected letters of Innocent III , pp. I98-
20I . For the canon law of episcopal elections see G.Barraclough

‘The making of a bishop in the middle ages ' , in Catholic History
Beview , vol. I9 (I933-4) , pp. 275-319 . Many interesting comments on
English episcopal elections in the thirteenth century are contained in
Gibbs and Lang , Bishops and Reform , esp. pp. I-9 , 23-93 , I37-

I43 . For elections in thirteenth century Ireland see J. Watt 'The
papacy and episcopal appointments in thirteenth century Ireland ' , in
1.C.H.C.P. (I959),p. I-9 , and'Edward 1 and the Irish Church', in Med.
Studies GWynn = pp. 136-153 . For injunctions to the Irish clergy to
obtain royal licence before proceeding to elections see Pont.Hib. I,

no. 122 , p. 206 , no. 123 , p. 207 .
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In the Dublin diocese , during the thirteenth century , the
election process was complicated by the existence of two cathedral
chapters , who on occasion were unable to agree on a candidate and
whose conflict was primarily responsible for the long vacancy in
the see from I271-9 ?'The most damaging aspect of this conflict
was that it left the way open for papal intervention, which on
occasion resulted in the provision of unsuitable candidates .
Agreement by the chapters was however no guarantee against such

interference from Rome . In fact not one of the elections between

1228 and 1296 was accepted as canonical by the apostolic see .

On the death of a bishop the episcopal property was divided
into spiritualities and temporalities and the custody of each
section was in different hands . In Dublin , the question of who
should have the administration of the spiritualities of the archdiocese

sede vacante was inevitably connected with the rivalry between the

3.
two chapters . It appears that from an early date the chapters did
agree that the jurisdictional power of the archbishop was jointly
vested in them during a vacancy . Conflict however arose over the

person who would administer this power and in effect perform the

duties which belonged to the archbishop sede plena . The archdeacon
of Dublin acted as official custodian of the spiritualities in the

early part of the century but the chapter of Holy Trinity objected

2. See G.Hand 'The rivalry of the cathedral chapters in Medieval
Dublin ' in BR.S.A.I.J. vol. 92 (I1962) , pp. I93-206 .

3. The only discussion of this question is in A.A.Luce 'Custos
Spiritalitatis Sede Vacante , (Dublin) ', in Hermethena vol. 53
(I939),pp. 167-99 . Luce was not aware of any evidence before 1284

however .




-I?}-J"‘

to the fact that if the archdeaconryi fellrvacant sede vacanie ,

the king appointed a new archdeacon and instructed St. Patrick's
to induct him into his office and his prebend in that cathedral .
This appeared to give the king an unprecedented power over the
administration of the spiritualities . The chapters worked out

a strategy however to deal with this eventuality in the latter part

of the century .

The exercise of regalian right by the crown over the
temporalities of the Dublin archdiocese sede vacante was established
from the vacancy following the death of Archbishop Laurence in II8I.
Throughout the thirteenth century , as soon as the king was informed
of a vacancy he appointed one or two persons , usually royal servants ,
to administer the temporalities of the archdiocese and to
appropriate all revenues to the uses of the crown . The king's
right also involved the power to appoint to all those eccleslastical
benefices which were in the gift of the archbishop . The evidence
which survives from the I27I-9 vacancy shows how financially rewarding
the exercise of regalian right could be to the crown . The custodian
appointed by the crown,whose main task was to exploit the temporalities
to the advantage to the king , could also be useful in making the

wishes of the crown as regards the choice of the new archbishop

L,
known to the electors .

4. For a gneral discussion of the king's rights during episcopal
vacancies see M.Howell,Regalian right in Medieval England ( London
I962) . For the Irish situation see Art Cosgrove, 'Irish episcopal
temporalities in the thirteenth century, in Arch.Hib. vol. 32 (I974),

pp. 63-72 .
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The various factors which came into play during vacancies in
the see of Dublin can best be illustrated by an examination of the

elections themselves .

There are two accounts of the election of John Cumin to the

see of Dublin in September II8I . According to the Gesta Henrici
Secundi , King Henry travelled down to the Abbey of Evesham and

- on the 6th of September he granted the archbishopric of Dublin to
his clerk and familiar John Cumin . The appointment was made in
accordance with the choice of the bishops and clergy of England and
some of the clerics of the metropolitan church of Dublin who had

5
come to the king in England seeking a pastor .

The second account is contained in the Expugnatio Hibernica

of Giraldus Cambrensis which states that John Cumin an Englishman

succeeded Archbishop Laurence and that he was elected in England
6.

by the clergy of Dublin with reasonable harmony and accord .

5. Gesta Henrici Secundi, vol. I. p. 280 ....... dominus rex perrexit
usque Evesham ; et 1bldem die dominica ante praedictam nativitatem

concessit Johannl Cumin clerico et familiari suo , archiepiscopatum
Duvelinae ad electionem episcoporum et clericstus Angliae et quorundam
clericorum metropolitanae ecclesiae Duvelinae , qui in Angliam venerant
ad praefatum regem pro pastore habendo . .

6. Giraldus , Expugnatio Hibernica pp. I96-8 .........successit

eidem Johannes cognomine Ciminum , vir Anglicus nacione , et in

Anglia apud Evesham a clero Dublinensi , regia procurante industria,
consone satis et concorditer electus'. The annals of St.Mary's and

the annals of Pembridge reproduce verbatim the account given by

Giraldus . Ch.St.Mary's vol 2 pPp.287 , 305 .
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From these accounts it seems clear that representatives from
Holy Trinity had travelled to England when they received news of
Archbishop Laurence’s death and that they had been given power
to elect in England . The part played by the king is obvious from

the phrase of Giraldus regia procurante industria . It was not

unusual in the late twelfth century and the thirteenth century for
electors to proceed with episcopal election immediately after
receiving royal licence , and in the presence of the king ?.In

fact shortly before Cumin’'s election Pope Alexander III had reprimanded
Richard de Dover the archbishop of Canterbury for confirming the
election of some of his suffragan bishops in the very chamber of

the king8: It was very important for King Henry to ensure that

the see of Dublin went to a loyal servant of the crown , but his
behaviour towards the Dublin electors was not exceptionally

high handed .

The decision of the chapter of Holy Trinity to send over
representatives to the king with power to elect may not have been
taken completely independently . There is evidence that the king acted
quickly on hearing of the vacancy in Ireland and sent his own
representatives to Dublin to take the temporalities of the archdiocese
into his hand . Roger of Hovenden records that the king sent Geoffrey

de Haye , a royal clerk and a clerk of the papal legate who was

7. See Raymond Foreville , L'Eglise et la royauté en Angleterre sous
Henri II Plantagenet (I943),pp. 384-5 .

8- ibid. P 385 .
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then in England,to perform this task ?'This statement is supported
by an entry in the pipe roll of 27 Henry II , which records

a payment for the expenses of the journey of John , constable of
Chichester , Richard de Peche , Geoffrey de Haye and Wido the clerk
who were sent as messengers into Irelandl?fart of the duties of
these representatives may have been to inform the chapter of Holy
Trinity of the king's wishes with regard to the election of a
successor to Archbishop Laurence . Apart from the statement of

Giraldus that the election was'reasonably'harmonious there is no

evidence that there was any objection raised by any of the participating

parties .

Unfortunately nothing is known about the election of Henry
of London in I2I2-I3 . It apparently took place in Dublin and

as Henry of London was sent to Ireland in June 1212 , it seems that
II.
plans were made in advance for his election . These plans may

have been formulated in I2I0 when Henry was in Ireland in John's

12.
company . In a confirmation of Fope Nicholas III in 1279 it was

13.
stated that Henry had been elected by the two chapters in Dublin,

There is nothing in the records to confirm this and the statement

9. Hovenden , Chronicle , vol. 2 , p. 253'......Misit etiam Rex
Angliae Gaulfridum de Aeya clericum suum et clericum Alexii , leggti .

in Hiberniam ad saysiendum archiepiscopatum Duvelinae in manu sua .

I0. Pipe Roll II80-8I , p. II5 PR pro acquietando passagio
Johannis constabularii Cestrie et Ricardi de Peche et Balfridi de Haia

et Widonis clerici , legati in Hiberniam .

II. Rot.Lit.Claus. pp. II8-9 .

I2. See above p. 36-7 .

I13. Theiner,p. 120 .
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may have been based on evidence given by the chapter of St. Patrick's
in order to give historical precedence to its claim to share in
archiepiscopal elections in Dublin ; therefore,it cannot be
accepted as reliable evidence . It would seem unlikely that St.
Patrick®’s,which had no dean or officials in I2I2,could have officially
participated in an election . Although the choice of Henry of

London must have been influenced by the king, there is no evidence
that the temporalities during what must have been a very brief

vacancy were taken into the king's hand .

By the time of Henry of London's death in 1228 , St.Patrick's
did have a fully organized chapter and had been witnessing episcopal
acta along with Holy Trinity for at least five years Tuﬁor the
first time in Dublin the difficulties associated with having two
chapters in one diocese became obvious . In November I228 the
king granted licence to elect to the prior and subprior of Holy
Trinity who had been sent by their brother canons to announce the
death of Henry of London . The king prayed them to elect a fit pastor
for their church , one who would be faithful to the king and suited
to Irelandl?.Less than a month later however , the king informed
the dean and chapter of St. Patrick’s that he had received Robert

Lutterel their treasurer and William de Piro a canon and had

I4. See above p. I43-5 .
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given them licence to elect . They proceeded with the election in
his presence and chose Luke,dean of St. Martin's in Londgg.. Luke
had been the chaplain of Hubert de Burgh and according to Matthew of
Paris,de Burgh played a major part in having him appointed to

I?.
Dublin .

The chapter of Holy Trinity at once complained to Rome and sent
the prior of Holmpatrick to argue their case against the action
of St. Patrick's . Information concerning their objection is
contained in a bull of Pope Gregory IX dated c. I230 Teéhe pope
related that the chapter objected to Luke on two grounds . In the
first place,his election by the canons of St. Patrick's had been
irregular,and secondly they were not satisfied that his character
made him a suitable choice for the see of Dublin . There is no
specific charge against Luke but it appears likely that they were
referring tohis illegitimacy Tgis a result of their objection
the election was quashed and the pope ordered the bishops of
Chichester , Rochester and London to supervise a fresh election
in which the two chapters were to participate . If the chapters
did not proceed to election within one month these three bishops

were empowered to provide a suitable candidate , Luke's proctors at

16. Pat.Rolls I1226-32, p. 232 .

I7. Mat.Paris Chron. Maj. vol. 5,p. 53I .

18. Pont. Hib. 2 no. 197 , pp. 32-4 .

I19. Luke was rejected by the electors at Durham in I226 on these
grounds . See above p. 65.
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the papal curia brought back letters from the three bishops
informing the pope that the two chapters had chosen Luke but in

the royal assent to the election it was stated that Luke had been
provided by the bishop of Chichester , Ralph Neville (who was Henry
IIT1's chancellor) and two other bishops by authority of the

20.
apostolic see .

In December I228 the king had given custody of the temporalities
of Dublin to Robert Lutterel , the treasurer of St. Patrick's who
had been sent over to England with news of Henry of London's death,and
to Geoffrey de Elne a clerk ?Ifhe Justiclar of Ireland was instructed
to hand over to them without delay all lands , rents and possessions
pertaining to the see . During the time which had elapsed between
the death of the archbishop and the appointment of the custodians ,
the justiciar had received the issues of the archdiocese and he
was instructed to hand these issues over to the custodians and also
to give them advice on the cultivation of the archiepiscopal landsz?.
For some reason the king was not satisfied with these two custodians
and in July 1229 , he wrote to John de St.John , bishop of Ferns and
treasurer of Ireland, instructing him to take all the money which
Robert Lutterel and Geoffrey had received and send it to him . The

two custodians were instructed at the same time to have nothing

further to do with the see of Dublin , custody of which had been

20. Pont. Hib. I, no. 197 p. 33 ; Close Rolls I227-31 , p.2084 .

21. Close Rolls 1227-31 , p. 137 .

22. Fat.Rolls 1226-32 , p. 233 .
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23.
committed to Geoffrey de Turville and Geoffrey de Costetin . These

two custodians administered the temporalities of the see until
the justiciar was instructed in January I23I to hand them over

2k,
to Luke who had just received papal confirmation .

When Luke arrived in Dublin , one of his first actions was
to attempt to settle the dispute between the two chapters which had
made his own election so fraught with difficulties . He brought
the two chapters together and made them agree that when a vacancy next
arose , the prior and chapter of Holy Trinity and the dean and
chapter of St. Patrick's would come together in the church of Holy
Trinity and observing canon law and respecting each other's liberties
would co-elect a pastox-?5%he two chapters placed their seals on

this very straightforward solution to the problem .

There is no evidence of any objection being raised by either
side at the time this pact was sealed , butovertwerly years later in
1253 Holy Trinity appealed to Rome against the composition . They
claimed that they were greatly injured by the agreement which

allowed the chapter of St.Patrick’'s to have a say in the election

23. Close Rolls I1227-31 , p.197.

24 ibid. p.Z7. During their custodianship of the temporalities ,
Robert Lutterel and Geoffrey de Elne accounted for £445.0.I2d .
Pipe Roll 8 Henry 3 , D.K.P.R.I. Rep. no. 35 , p. 32 .

. Reg.Nov. . I0I1-2 '......ordinavimus ....quod vacante sede
igtropibitananonveniant prior et capitulum Sancte Trinitate decanus
et capitulum Sancti Patricii in ecclesia sancte Trinitatis et invocata
Spiritus Sancti gratia forma observata canonica concorditer et
unanimiter futurum coeligant sibi pastorem , libertatibus aliis

utrobique manentibus illibatis .
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26.
of archbishops of Dublin .. Pope Innocent IV directed the bishops

of Emly and limerick and the dean of Limerick to examine the case and
if the parties did not come to an agreement to remit the case to

Rome .

There is no evidence conerning the outcome of this enquiry , but
when Archbishop Luke died in I255 the two chapters observed his
settlement and together they elected Ralph of Norwich who had
been the king s chancellor in Ireland since July 1249 ??ﬁope
Alexander IV refused to confirm the elect and rejected Ralph on
canonical grounds,saying that the election was minus canonice

28.
celebrantam . The precise meaning of this is not clear but according

to Matthew Paris the election of Ralph of Norwich was opposed by

some of the canons of Dublin and the pope reproved the electors for
choosing a man who was so secular and so much under the protection

of the kingz?.On the I9th. July the pope provided Fulk of Sandford

to the see of Dublin , informing the chapters that he was noble ,
lettered , honest and experienced in spiritual and temporal affairz?'
Although the king must have beendisappointed at the rejection of his

chancellor he restored the temporalities to Fulk without any delay .

26. Pont.Hib. 2 no. 362 pp.I90-I ; no. 363 pp. I9I-2 .

27. C.P.R. I247-58 , p. 400 ; Rich.Sayles , Admin. Irl. p. 92 .

28. Pont.Hib. 2 no. 429 pp. 257-9 .

29. Mat.Paris_Chron.Maj.vol. 5 , p.560 .....sed propter aliguorum
contradictionem dilata est eiusdem confirmatlio . Reprehendebantur
nempe electores , eoquod hominem eligissent penitus secularem et ad
huc in regis clientela in custodia Hyberniae theoloneo assidente.
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They had been in the custody of Master Robert Anketil the king's
30.

escheator in Ireland .

Up until this point the chapters in Dublin had not had much
influence in the choice of archbishops . John Cumin , Henry of London
and Luke were undoubtedly elected through royal influence and
Fulk was provided from Rome . When the archdiocese next became
vacant in I271 both chapters were determined to strengthen their
position . Royal licences were issued to each chapter and there
appears to have been an attempt to hold a joint electionj%‘lt
ended however in the worst possible way with the election of two

2.
candidates , a situation for which canon law had no simple solution.

Both chapters wrote to the King giving their version of eventsB?.
The dean and chapter of St. Patrick's stated that having received
licence to elect they assembled with the prior and chapter of Holy
Trinity in the latter’s church . But the prior and chapter 'with
whom they ought to agree unanimously' refused every canonical way

of election . In the end the dean ami chapter of St.Patrick's drew

aside and invoking the Holy Spirit they agreed on William de la Corner,
papal chaplain and king's canon and elected him.The prior and

chapter of Holy Trinity wrote to say that they had elected Fromond

le brun,another papal chaplain and the king'’s chancellor in Ireland .,

30. Close Rolls I254-6 , p. 4I7 ; C.P.R. I247-58 , p. 429 .

3I. The letters are contained in an exemplification dated March 18th,
12?2 ’ C.PoRc 1266'-?2'Pl 63? .

32. See Barraclough , Making of a bishop , p. 271 .

33, C.P.Rs 1266-72 , p. 637 .
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They made no reference to the attempted joint election , and in

fact no mention at all of St.Patrick's .

The double election coincided with a vacancy in the papal
throne which ended in March 1272 , but by that time it appears that
both sides had become uncompromising in their support for their
own candidates . The conflict was not settled until 1279 , when
Pope Nicholas III prevailed on one candiate to resign and declired
the election of the other candidate to be uncanonical . The pope
then provided John Darlington to the see in February 1279 ?uﬂicholas
also took this occasion to énjoin the chapters to observe in future
the composition regardng archiepiscopal elections which had been

35.
agreed upon in the time of Archbishop Luke .

The see of Dublin was vacant from May I27I until the temporalities
were restored to John Darlington in April I279 . In June 1271
King Henry had granted the issues of the see to Frince Edward ,
excepting knight's fees , wards , reliefs , escheats and advowsons of
abbeys , priories , dignities and churches . Willlam de Bacquepuis,
the king's escheator in Ireland,was instructed not to meddle
with the custody of the see but to allow Edward s substitutes to
have the issues,provided that the excepted areas were not infringed

36.

upon . When Edward became king sixteen months later he assumed

unfettered control of the issues .

3% . Theiner , pp I118-I19 .
35, ibid. p. 123 .

9. C.P. R _I1266-72 , p. 546 .
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Thomas de Chaddesworth was appointed custodian of the
temporalities of the archbishopric on June 24th I271 and he was
given an annual payment of 40 marks per annums?.ln January 1273
he was given power to farm out y divide or let the lands and
tenements of the see as might be fit and advantageous to the crown .
All the tenants of the see of Dublin were instructed to be
attentive to him as custodian ?Bﬁe Chaddesworth's account listing the
issues of the archiepiscopal manors for the years 1271-77 has
survived . The revenues of the manors ammounted to £7728.5s.10d for
the period,or an annual revenue of roughly £1500.0s.0d . This
account also gives a glimpse of the impressive administrative
organization which was present in the archbishop’s manors sede plena ,

39.

which was used by the custodian sede vacante .

It is from this vacancy also that the first evidence regarding

the custody of the spiritualities of the see sede vacante emerges .
In 1274 the archdeacon of Dublin William de Northfield died and
King Edward , claiming that the archdeaconry was in his gift by
reason of the voidance in the see , granted it to William de
Salanis , a royal clerk. He instructed the chapter of St.Patrick's
to install him in the usual mannerg?.Soon after this appointment
was made the prior and convent of Holy Trinity along with the

chapters of Kildare and Leighlin,the sees of which were vacant , alleged

37 C.P.R. I266-72 , P+ 540 .

38, C.P.R., I272-81 , p. 3 .

39. Betham , Custodian's account , pp. I58 .

400 ClPtRo 12?2-81 ’ p- ?5 .
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én obstacle against the king , the details of which are contained

in a ﬁemorandum from the archdeacon of Dublin requesting the assistance
of the secular arm against the prior and convent . .They claimed that
although the king could confer prebends in the church of Dublin sede
vacante , he could not confer the archdeaconry because the
Jurisdiction of the see of Dublin belonged to the archdeacon in times
of vaczgcies . They claimed that this had been the case from time out
of lnind.ﬁ. The objection of Holy Trinity is understandable ; in
appointing the archdeacon the king was effectively appointing the
custodian of the spiritualities . The prior and convent had resisted
William de Salanis who had pronowul ced a sentence of excommunication
against them . According to the archdeacon the prior and convent

had persisted in their resistance for forty days to the king's
dishonour and disherison with the result that he was forced to seek

L3.
the king's aid and the use of the secular arm against them .

4I. P.R.O. London , C.47/10/13 (I4) .

42, ibid '.....Istud est obstaculum quod ponunt prior et conventus
Sancte Trinitatis Dublinensis ( una cum capitulis Darensi et
Leglinensi sedibus eorundem vacantibus ) contra regem quod licet

rex possit conferre prebendas ecclésie Dublin' sede vacante dicunt cum
quod spiritualitates et precipue spiritualitatem archidiaconatui
annexam conferre non potest quamquam manifestum et apud omnes sit
notorium quod ad archidiaconatum Dublin' sede vacante jurisdictio

et omni modo spiritualitas totius archiepiscopatus suffraga neorum

et aliorum omnium subditorum a tempore cuius memoria non existit

spectare consuevit "

43. ibid. .... prefatus archidiaconus consilium domini regis requirit
auxilium brachii secularis contra huiusmodi excommunicatos

invocando .
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It appears that the secular arm was indeed used against some
members of the chapter of Holy Trinity . In a mandate dated April
1276 Pope John XXI directed the bishop of Waterford , the abbot of
St.Mary's Dublin and the Prior of Trim to hear the complaint of
Holy Trinity who claimed that the archdeacon of Dublin had usurped
the archiepiscopal jurisdiction and caused them to be summoned
before the secular court . They added that the official of the
archdeacon had excommunicated various clerks of the diocese and

Ly,
city of Dublin and caused them to be detained in prison .

More information on this conflict is contained in a
communication between King Edward and the Irish justiciar in December
1275 %5%he Justiciar was informed that the prior and convent of Holy
Trinity had complained that the mandate which the king had sent
to the dean and chapter of St. Patrick's asking them to induct
William de Salanis into the archdeaconry of Dublin was to their
prejudice . They claimed that during vacancies in the see of Dublin
the archdeacons were presented to them and from their hands
received the jurisdiction of the spiritualities of the city and
diocese of Dublin . The prior and convent therefore wished William
de Salanis to be presented to them accordingly . The king had ordered
both chapters to come to him in England and he provided them with

auditors , namely Thomas Bek,the keeper of the king s wardrobe and

R. de Scardeburg,one of his clerks . After several days of altercation

hlsy. C.C.C.D. no. I07 , P« 5H &

45. C.P.R. I272-81 , p. I7?4 .
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the prior and convent agreed to accept William de Salanis as

their archdeacon for the good of the peace and the king's

reverence . It is interesting that at this stage it was not the
actual appointment of the archdeacon that Holy Trinity were objecting
to but the fact that it was the chapter of St. Patrick's who
inducted him into his office and the implication that it was in
this chapter that the custody of the spiritualities was vested .

This would also explain a mandate sent by the pope in September 1276
instructing the three previously named judges to enquire into the
dispute between the prior and convent of Holy Trinity

and the chapter of St. Patrick's with reference to the archiepiscopal
Jurisdiction , the see of Dublin being vacantu?.It is not known if
the chapters solved their problem at this stage but when the king
appointed another archdeacon on the death of William de Salanis in

L7.
I27€ there is no evidence of any objection from Holy Trinity .

When news of the death of John Darlington reached Dublin early
in I284 , both chapters sent to the king for licence to elect . They
then observed the ruling of Pope licholas and met in Holy Trinity

to unanimously elect John of Sandford the dean of St. Patrick's as

L8.

archbishop . The king gave his royal assent in July I284 and also
L9,

issued letters of protection for John who was going across the sea .

46. c.c.C.D. no. Io8 , p. 54 .

47. c.P.R. I272-81 , p. I74 .

B8, 0.6.C.D  no. 137 » P+ 59

49. C.F.R. 1281-92 , p. 126-7 .
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The archbishop elect was accompanied by two canons from Holy Trinity
and three canons from St. Patrick'ss?-This time there was no
objection to the election but there were objections to John of
Sandford who was of illegitimate birth . John had received a

papal dispensation allowing him to be promoted to the archiepiscopate
but he had unfortunately lost it . A copy was produced with the

seal of Hugh de Tachmon former bishop of Meath but it did not

appear to be in the usual style of the papal curia ?Iéhe king
intervened,as he was no doubt eager to have a man of de Sandford's
ability in the archbishopric of Dublin . At his request the pope
allowed John to enjoy the provisions of the dispensation . De Sandford
had to resign as archbishop elect but he was re-elected in Rome

52.

by the canons who had accompanied him .

During this vacancy the king appointed iicholas de Clare
custodian of the temporalities of the archbishopric and he exercised
this function until the temporalities were ordered to be restored
to John de Sandford in August I2E5 ?Béhis vacancy also marked a
major step forward in the formal relationship of the two Dublin

chapters when they agreed to jointly appoint an official to

administer the spiritualities of the see and exercise the archiepiscopal
5k,

Jjurisdiction in their name .

50. C.C.C.D. no.I37 , P« 59 .
5I.Theiner s Pp. 129 - 30 .
52,ibid. p. 132 .

53. C.P.R. 1281-92 , pp. I4O, I49, I70 , I87 . Most of the issues
went towards the king s welsh wars .

5%+ Al. Reg. p. I50 .



-I90-

In June I284 the prior and convent of Holy Trinity and the dean and
chapter of St.Patrick's agreed to jointly appoint an official to
govern the see during vacancies and also to offer each other support
should either be harassed or sued by reason of the vacancy . It was
stated that this agreement was necessary in view of various dangers
which5gad befallen the province of Dublin during the vacancy of the

See .

A similar arrangement was arrived at in I294 in the vacancy caused
by the death of John of Sandford . The two chapters met in Holy
Trinity in November I294 and decided again that they should jointly
appoint an official who would account for the revenues of the office
biannually , the profits to be divided equally between the two chapters5?.
The official was to be sworn into his office in the presence of the
prior and dean and he was to hold the office for the whole period of the
vacancy , during which time he was to convene a sacred synod once a year
in Holy Trinity and once a year in St.Patrick's . In I294 the chapters
appointed Adam de Furneis,a canon of Holy Trinity as their official
and agreed that on the next vacancy one of the canons of St.Patrick's

would hold the position . The chapters also agreed that they would

Join in sending formal notification of the vacancy to the king and in

asking for licence tv elect .

55._Al.Reg. p. I50 . The document is entitled ' Sede Vacante creatur
officialis per capitula' Liber Niger Alani AI f. I47 .

56. Dignitas Decani no. 33
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In conformance with this agreement thesghapters then sent a joint
delegation to the king to ask for licence . Tﬁe delegation was delayed
in its return and the chapters found that if they did not immediately
proceed with an election they would exceed the three month time limit
allowed by canon law . The chapters went ahead with the election
and chog= Thomas de Chaddesworth , dean of St.Patrick's . However the
king objected to their having elected before receiving his licence and he
required them to repeat the entire procedure ?B&he dean of St. Patrick's
was again elected but when he presented himself in Rome for confirmation
the pope quashed his election on the groundggthat he had delayed
greatly before coming for papal confirmation . Pope Boniface VIII thereupon
provided William de Hothum to the see instructing the chapters to
be obedient to him as their lawful pastor ?O.The temporalities of the
archbishopric had been in the custodgl?f Richard de Abingdon who was
appointed custodian in October 1294 . He administered the temporalities
of the archdiocese until he was instructed to hand them back to

€2.
the attorneys of the new archbishop in November I296 .

The election of a successor to William de Hothum in I298 was
similarly fraught with difficulties . The chapters sought licence

to elect but were obliged to proceed with the election before receiving

57. C.D.I. 4 nos.I8I ,188 , 189 .
58. ibid. nos. 200 , 210 , 2I9 , 220 . C.P.R. I292-I30I , p. 132 .

59. Theiner , pp. I60-I .
60. ibid. p. 166

€1. ¢.P.R. I1292-130I , p. 100 .

62. ibid. p. 224 .
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it , being once again caught in the canon law trap requiring them to

seek confirmation within three monthsé?.The entire affair was unsuccesful
as the election resulted in two candidates both of whom were forced

to resign by the pope who thereupon took the opportunity to provide
Richard de Feringes the archdeacon of Canterbury to the see ..The
chapters also incurred the king's wrath by failing to wait for his
licence and they were later summoned before him to answer for their

65.

actions .

Throughout the Western Church during the thirteenth century , the
control which cathedral chapters exercised over episcopal elections
was being eroded , on the one hand by interferance from the secular
powers , on the other hand by the increase in the pretensions of the
papal monarchy . In Dublin this situation was §ggravated by the existence
of two chapters , one of which sought to share in the election process
over which the other claimed sole right . The end result of the conflict
between the two chapters and the delays occasioned by their rivalry was
that , apart from John of Sandford , the chapters had virtually no say
in the elections of the thirteenth century archbishops of Dublin .
Luke de Roches had been the choice of the canons of St.Patrick's in
1229 but it appears that the two canons who elected him were influenced

by the king and by Hubert de Burgh . Fulk de Sandford , the most

63. C.D.I. 4 nos. 573,574,593,594 .
64. Theiner , pp. 167-8 .

€5. Rotuli Parliamentorum , vol. I pp. I52-3 .
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active of the thirteenth century archbishops was provided from Rome
when the chapters performed an uncanonical election and their failure
to agree on a candidate or their inability to perform the election
within the required time resulted in the provisions of the two non-

resident Dominicans and the largely absentee de Feringes .

By the end of the thirteenth century it must have been obvious
to the chapters than an agreement between them was essential if they
ever wished to establish any real control over the election of the
archbishop . Such an agreement was reached in I300 , but it was only
hammered out after a period of serious conflict between the chapters
and was never more than half heartedly accepted by Holy Trinity who
obstinately saw any recognition of the secular chapter's rights as

€6.
a diminution of what it termed as its time honoured privileges .

The agreement or Composicio Pacis as it was termed reiterated

that the two chapters should jointly elect a pastor for Dublin . Holy
Trinity as the more senior and the mother church of the diocese

was given certain privileges many of which were of a ceremonial or
largely symbolic nature . For example it was agreed that the church
of Holy Trinity was to have precedence in all meetings, instruments

and synods and that the prior should vote first after the bishop

6€. See G.J.Hand,Rivalry of the cathedral chapters , pp. 202-4 for
an account of the series of events which preceded the signing of
the Lomposicio Pacis , which is based on the narrative contained in

the Liber Albus of Holy Trinity Cal.lib.Alb. pp. 8-I0 . The agreement
and the additional privileges or 'Clamitat Etiam' of Holy Trinity which

was ratified by Archbishop de Feringes in I30I is printed in Monck Mason
History of St.Patrick's,Appendix no. 6 . See also C.C.C.D. no. 364(b) and

Al.Reg. pp. 155-6 .
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when the see was occupied and should have the first voice in all
67.

matters when the see was vacant . The composition also gave the

chapters the opportunity to repeat their Jjoint policy with regard

to the custody of the spiritualities of the see sede vacante , a policy

which had been challenged by one of the suffragan bishops of the Dublin
68.

province during the I294-6 vacancy .

By the beginning of the fourteenth century therefore , the chapters
had , with varying degrees of success, regulated procedure in the
Dublin diocese with regard to archiepiscopal elections and administration
of the spiritualities of the archdiocese during vacancies . The third
factor to be considered during vacancies , the question of custody
of the temporalities had not causedany problems during the thirteenth

century however in the first decades of the fourteenth centuryjit did

become a disputed issue .

During the early fourteenth century some of the secular chapters
in England obtained permission to have custody of the temporalities
of their dioceses during vacancies . By I3I7 , Salisbury , Lincoln and

St.Paul's had obtained grants allowing them custody of the temporalities

67. Monck Mason,St.Patrick's Appendix 6 ......quod ecclesia Sancte
Trinitatis , tanquam major , matrix et saniarin omnibus concionibus ,
congregationibus , synodis et aliis seu instrumentiis quibuscunque
preponatur , et vox prioris primo post episcopum accipiatur : sede tamen
vacante , primam habeat vocem in omnibus premissis

68. ibid....cum devoluta fuerit jurisdictio sede vacante , ad dicta
capitula , creetur officialis capituli secundum formam conventionis inter
dicta capitula facte ; ac redditus ex custodia spiritualitatis et
spiritualis jurisdictionis , sede plena dividatur etiam secundum modum
dicte conventionis . See also C.C.C.D. no. I54 where Pope Boniface VIII
directed the prior of All Saints to adjudicate in the dispute between the
two chapters and the bishop of Ferns over the administration of the

spiritualities of the diocese .
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of thgir dioceses during vacancies on payment of a fixed rent to the
8.

crown . It was perhaps in imitation of these chapters that St.Patrick's
c. I3I6 requested a similar grant asserting that great damage had been
done to the temporalities by guardians appointed in the past as well
as by the actions of the hostile Irish ?9%heir claim was not unopposed
however , for at the same time the canons of the abbey of St.Thomas
made a similar request for custody of the temporalities in the next
vacancy and at a slightly later date the priory of Holy Trinity

70.
asserted its rights to the temporalities sede vacante . The see of

Dublin did not become vacant again until the death of Alexander de
Bicknor in July I349 at which time the king appointed two custodians
to gaard the temporalities in the usual way ?I'i'he efforts of the
chapters and the Abbey of St.Thomas had been in vain and the dean and
canons of St. Patrick's and prior and convent of Holy Trinity had to

content themselves with the administration of the spiritualities .

€8. See Edwards , English Sec.Cathedrals , p.I00 ; Cal.Fine Rolls I307-
19, pp. 272 , 347 , 348, 349 .

69. G.Sayles Affairs of Ireland before the king's Council , no. I06 p.

82 «¢svs.....heu regard as granz damages qe la eglise ad heu par gardeyns
nent convenables , come en chasteals et maners ars e abatuz par les Irres
enemys e par defaulte de bone garde par quoi la greindre partie des terres
gisent gastes . ibid.no. II5 p. 88 . See also C.P.R. I3I3-I7 , pp.297-300 .

70. ibid. no. I08 p. 83 , no. I52 p. IIT 3 C.P.R.I3I3-I7 , p. 5I7 .

?1. C.P.R. I348-50 , pp. 419 , 435 .
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a) THE FUNCTIONS OF THE ARCHDEACON .

The archdeacon was the most important member of the archbishop's
‘familia' and his chief officer in the diocese . He carried out a
great part of the archbishop's administrative and financial
duties and in particular brought abuses and misconduct among the
laity and lower clergy to the archbishop's attention . In many ways
he functioned as the 'eye of the bishop' and the archdeacon has
been described as 'an indispensable class of inferior prelate'I.
It is intended to look at this aspect of the archdeacon's office
and to examine the duties he performed in the capacity of a substitute
for the archbishop . However , the archdeacon cannot be seen
only as an instrument of the archbishop } he was alsc an official

in his own right and as the thirteenth century progressed , he

acquired duties and functions which were peculiarly his own .

Yo archidiaconal registers survive for pre-reformation Dutlin ,
which partly explains the lack of attention focussed on this
Important official . The episcopal registers , although they were
not intended to provide details of the functions of archdeacors ,
do contain incidental references to his duties , as do the records
and chartularics ~f the prominent religious houses and the two
cathedrals s It is necessary in many cases to rely on the
reccrds ‘of and the secondary sources on the English dioceses , while

trying to avoid mistaking a well attested practice in one diocese

I. C.R.Cheney English synodalia of the thirteenth century,(Oxford I968)
p. 22
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2
for the standard rule . The duties of all ecclesiastical officials

varied considerably from diocese to diocese and this is particularily

true with reference to the medieval archdeacon,whose duties were

notoriously vague .

The introduction of the office of archdeacon into the dioceses
of Ireland is attributed to the Anglo-llormans , and is generally
seen as one of their innovations in the sphere of ecclesiastical
administration . There is no mention of the office in the early
letters of the Archbishops of Canterbury concerning the Irish
churchaér ian the Liber De sStatu Ecclesiae of Iishop Gilbert

L.

of Limerick . The earliest mention of an archdeacon in the

Dublin Archdiocese is contained in an exemplification of a

charter given by Archbishop laurence 0'Toole confirming the

2. Farticularly useful are A.H.Thompson , ‘'Diocesan organization
in the Middle Ages - Archdeacons and Rural Deans,' in Iroc. rrit.
Acad. vol .XXIX, pp.I53-94 ; M.Brett, The English Church under Henry
I (I975)»pp. 199-2I1 ; R.M.Haines,The Administration of the
Diocese of Worcester (I9€5],p1.30—?& : C.Brooke, 'The Archdeacon
and the llorman Conquest' in Tradition and Change , Lssays in honour
of M.Chibnall , ed. D.Greenway and C.Holdsworth (I985),pp.I1-19 ;
Jean Scammell 'The rural chapter in England from the eleventh to

the fourteenth century ', in E.H.R. vol LXXXVI (I97I) pp.I-21

3+ Archbishop Lanfranc's letters are printed in Patrologia latina
vol. I50 and in the same source vol. I59 can be found the letters

of Archbishop Anselm .

L. The text of the bishop of Limerick's treatise can be found in J.F.

Migne,FPatrologia Latina , vol I59 pp. 997-1004 . A complete translation
of the treatise was made available to me by Ms Elizabeth Dowse .
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possessions of Holy Trinity . The witnesses of this charter , which
can be dated c.II?j-IIBO , included 'Torguello the archdeacon '5:
The first mention of an archdeacon of Dublin appears in II85 when

'Macrobius Archdeacon of Dublin' witnessed a ratification of

Archbishop John Cumin

At around the same time Archbishop Cumin held his Frovincial
Synod in the Church of Holy Trinity and from the constitutions
of this synod can be obtained the earliest information concerning
the position and duties of archdedconé?iThe details are sparse but
mention is made of the occasions when the archdeacon might function
as a substitute for the crciitishop . Canon 8 states :

: Wwe forbid that any bishop should presume to ordain a

nnnnn

candidate from another diocese without letters of commendation
0

from his proper bishop or archdeacon .

The synodal canons which can be tentatively dated to the episcopacy
of Archbishop Fulk(I256-71) are more useful , not only in outlining
the archbishop's duties which could be performed by the archdeacon
but also in giving details of the functions which were specifically

the archdeacon's . The role of the archdeacon as the protector

5. Cal.lib.Alb. pp.24-5 . The date is fixed between the death of
fellow withess fugenius Bishop of Clonard which occured in
1172 4 Ann.Uls,2 p.I77 aid the death in IIC0 of Archlishop laurence

€., Chart., Ot, Mary's T, p.I73 . The appearance of Giraldus
al

F
Cambrencis in thce same witness list lows the accurate date .

7.Gwynn , Prov. Dioc. pecrees, pp. 39-44 ,

3. ibid. p.l3

i: . J-..bid . l‘i Ii:}!_;i .
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of morals emerges . Canon €,which urges recturs to be vigilant
concerning public conduct , states that arny aberration or excess

which has caused public notice or gossip is to be brought to the
attention of the archdeacon or dean who is to correct it without

delay ?O.Information is also given on the duty of the archdeacon

to ensure that the parochial clergy were in the correct orders and

of approved life and education and rectors were warned not to appoint
presiyters until they had been presented to the archdeacon for

examination of their orders , life and learning . e

The synodal canons provide no information about the mechanism
for carrying out these duties but it is known that the archdeacon
held & number of chapters each year , which the lower clergy were
obliged to attend . The canons of St.l'atrick's Dublin were granted
the privilege that the priests in their prebends were only
oblidged to attend two of the archdeacon's general chapters ,
that after the Cctave of ILaster and that after l“ichaelmas -
Iresumably the archdeacon carried out most of his activities in
the spheres of correction and examination at these chapters
The English evidence suggests that they were also used to
acquaint the lower clergy with episcopal mandates and matters

I3.

of general importance .

10. Gwynn , Prov.Dioc.Decrees , p. 46 .

TT. ivdd. p: A7 .

I2. This privilege was given to St.Fatrick's at its foundation ,
Dignitas Decani , p. 2-3 .

I3, Haines , Worcester P.50 : Churchill, Cant. Admin. I, p.51 ;
Scammel, Rural Chapter, p.9
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The archdeacon was also expected to carry out corrections
while performing his visitations , but the most notable feature
of these visitations was that they were the occasion for the
collection of the archdeacon's procurations from the parish churches .
There survive 1little evidence and no records of archidiaconal
visitation in the archdiocese of Dublin in the thirteenth century .
However , exemption from archidiaconal visitation was a sought-
after privilege which proves that the visitation itself was real
enoughl??Evidence from - English dioceses indicates that the
visitation was a yearly and much dreaded occurrence and the cause
of numerous complaints and disputes . 4 particularly common
complaint was that the procurations were levied without a visitation .
There were statutes laying down the proper procedure for
archidiaconal visitation which the Dublin archdeacon llke his

15.

inglish counterpart had to promise to obey .

Another important function of the archdeacon was the
induction of clergy instituted by the archbishcp zand the handing
TG

over of churches granted to the religious orders . It is not

clear in the thirteenth century whether this was z function

I4. Holy Trinity consistently claimed exemption for its churches
from archidiaconal visitation and levying of procurations . See
below p.22I .

I15. nglish archdeacons were expected to observe the statutesof
the fourth Lateran council and the councils of Cxford (I222

and London (123?) X Thgse laid down the provisions for visitation .
Mansi, Sacrorum Concilorum. vol. 22 pp.922-I0£7 ; Fowicke & Chency,

Councils and Synods, vol 2 paxt I , pp. 100 , 125 , 238-259

14. See Dictionary of Church History , under 'Archdeacon’ .
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which belonged to the archdeacon by right - as it did in the later
middle ages - or whether he was acting as the archbishop's
instrument . An example of a mandate from the archbishop to

the archdeacon , instructing him to induct a religious house into
possession of a church survives from the early thirteenth century
in the Register of the Hospital of St.Joth?'Archbishop Luke in
1230 informed the then archdeacon Geoffrey de Turville that he

had granted the church of Donard to the hospital and the archdeacon

was to induct the brothers into possession of this church .

In the Dublin archdiocese one of the duties of the archdeacon
was to formally enquire into the circumstances surrounding vacanciles
of Lenefices and presentation to benefices . The enquiry was
usually undertaken after an episcopal mandate had been received .
Such a mandate ,together with the archdeacon's reply to it can be
found in Archbishop Alen's RegisterI?.The mandate was dated the
25th of June 1328 and instructed enquiry to bte made into a vacancy
of the church of Aderke . The archdeacon was to hold a formal
enquiry 'in full chapter' and reply with all the findings X
The archdeacon's reply , dated the 2nd of July I32%2 , listed
the names of the secular and ecclesiastical Jjurors who supplied
the details under oath . It contained answers to such questions

as how long the church was vacant , who was the true patron ,

what was its value and so on .

17. Reg.Hosp.St.John, pp.210-11

19. Al.Reg. pp.I98-200 .

IG. A full chapter would suggest the prescoce of 2 Fool percentage
of the people eligille to attend . Sec Scamcl Rural Chapter , pp. I0-II
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A further right of the archdeacon for which some evidence
survives was the privilege of installing priors. into churches which were

governed by priors in his archdlaconate . This information was
supplied to the papal curia by the archdeacon's proctor in I301 ,
when he complained that the Dean of 3t.Patrick's had installed the

20.
prior of Holy Trinity contrary to the archdeacon's right .

There is little evidence concerning the other possible functions of
the archdeacon such as supervision of the fabrics and contents
of parish churches or the appointment and dismissal of rural
deans,but some or all of these powers are known to have been
exercised widely in English dioceses and more than likely were also

<L,
exercised in Dublin .

20, G880, no. I66 4 pe 67 .

21. See for ex. Thompson,Diocesan Organization, pp. I60-70 .
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The Archdeacon's Jurisdiction.

As well as having his chapter it is clear that the archdeacon
also had his own court in Dublin . The area of the archdeacon's
Jurisdiction is difficult to define and again the problem is in
distinguishing the Jjurisdiction he possessed in his own right
from that which he exercised as the representative of the archbishop .
In Dublin , certainly by the end of the thirteenth century the
archidiaconal jurisdiction was something distinct from the
archiepiscopal jurisdictionz?' This meant that certain cases were

automatically dealt with in the archdeacon's court , but what

kind of cases is not clear at all .

In England as early as II64 the Constitutions of Clarendon

placed the archdeacon's court lowest in the hierarchy of ecclesiastical
Sa

courts . In general the evidence from English diocese suggests that
the archdeacon's court dealt with the lesser causes , particularly
those concerning the moral conduct of the lower clergy and the
laity . 'Archdeacons and rural deans (who seem to have acted as the
archdeacon's deputies ) operated at a level where sin was notorious

and because of the censoriousness of neighbours , could be easily

detected'%b'

22. This distiction is clearly expressed in the wording of the
Compositione Facis between the two cathedrals in I30I . It was
decided that during vacancies of the see the two chapters were
Jjointly to exercise archiepiscopal jurisdictlion while the archdeacon
was to continue to exercise archidlaconal Jjurisdiction . ronck-lMason
St.Patrick's , appendix no. 6 .

23. Fowicke & Cheney , Councils and Syneds , I , pp. 277-203 .

1

2L, Barlow. ing.Church IO6€-II84, 1.I55 . For details on the awchdeacon's

Jjurisdiction in England, see Naincs, Worcester ,pp.52-4 ; Scauncl,

Rural Chapter , pp. I-21 .
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The Dublin diocesan legislation contains a certain amount
of information on the archdeacon's jurisdicticnal functions : for
example , Canon 29 of Archbishop Fulk's synodalia concerns the
arrangements for the examination of the witnesses in matrimonial
cases . It seems that the archdeacon was involved in the setting
up of a board of examiners and in arranging their fees ?5.Canon
LTI of the same synodalia states that if litigants in a ease decide
to come to an agreement out of court , they were to be allowed to
withdraw theié suits and were not to be impeded by the archdeacon
from doing si : This would imply that the archdeacon on occasion

did prevent people from withdrawing their suits , but out of

which court , the archbishop's or his own,is not made clear .

It is possible that this canon did refer to cases in the
archbishop's court because there is evidence that the archdeacon
did a2t times preside over this meost important ecclesiastical
court . In a testamentary dispute of I320 between the Albot and
Convent of St.Mary's and John Fitzlysbor , it was the axrchdeacon's

cfficial who cited the protagonists to appear , and the writ of

25, Gwynn , Prov.Dioc.Decrees , p. 5I .

26, ABia. 2n 5 s B discordantes se sibi invicem voluerint
concordare , inhibemus ne arch#haconi » officlales eorundem vel decani
bonum pacis impedire presumant .
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prohibition which Fitzlysbon obtained from the Xing was addressed
27,
to 'the official of the archdeacon or his commisary ' .

There survives in the chartularies of 5t.lMary's Abbey a
citation from the archdeacon addressed to the chaplain of the
parish of Dalkey which is dated 1I332 . The chaplain was instructed
to ensure that certain people whose names were attached to the
citation appeared before the archdeacon in the the church of St.

28.

Tatrick's on a certain day . Unfortunately it is unclear whether

the persons were to appear in the archdeacon's or the archbishop's

eourt .

In English dioceses, many archdeacons set up their courts

as rivals to the courts of their bishops and many bishops were

“0

concerned with limiting the archdeacon's Jurisdictionz ‘There

is no evidence of this xind of rivalry in the Dublin archdiocese
The extent of the archdeacon's Jurisdiction depended to a great
extent on the archbishop . If he were often absent from nis
diocese or taken up with secular affairs , more and more
business would be dealt with by the archdeacon , either in his
owni court or as the archbishop's representative in the court of
christianity . In Dublin cduring the thirteenth century there

were long periods when the archbishop was absent or the see

vacant,which must have enlarged the Jjurisdictional functions

of the archdeacon

2?. ChE-.I't .St.I‘}aIy 'S' I| PI_J .522—3.

tals

2‘3. ibidl I]CJ‘- o

—

29. See for ex. Uwen,hed Lincolnshire, pp.35-(€
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The archdeacon often appeared as a judge in disputes between
various parties and particularly in the mid-thirteenth century as
a papal judge and general agent . In I248 the archdeacon of Dublin was
among those appointed by Pope Innocent IV to examine the proposal
to transfer the episcopal see of Leighlin,znd in I255 the
archdeacons of Dublin and Meath were instructed by FPope Alexander
IV to insure that the Abbot and Community of the Abbey of St.

Thomas's were not molested in any way

30+ Pont.Hib. 2, no: 299, P-IMI ;: no. &II , p. 234 .
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The Archdeacon's Cfficial

In the absence of any archidiaconal records it is difficult
to judge to what extent the archdeacon's carried out their duties
in person , but with so much and such varied work to do , an
archdeacon even if he held no other office would require skilled
assistance . lMany of the thirteen century archdeacons in Dublin
held high offices in the Irish administratiogz; so it is no surprise

to find that from an early date we get references to the

archdeacon's official

By the early thirteenth century all English dioceses had an

archdeacon's official and this is seen as a sign of the separation
T

==

cf the authority of the archdeacon from that of the bishop .

Inevitably when the archdeacon had established his right to do

certain work and receive certain fees for it , he could delegate

this work to an official and pay him with a portion of the fee

It is not possible to say precisely when the office of official was first
instituted in Dublin . The conly mandate which is addressed

solely tec the archdeacon dates from IZ}O—BSJ%-The archdeacon's

official is referred to in the synodal cancns of fAxrchbishop

Luke (I240-55) where the duties assigned to the archdeacon can

equally be carried out by the official , even the examination of

3I. Geoffrey de Turville , Hugh de Mapiltor and Nlicheolas de Clarc
31l held important offices in the administiration . See below

PP . 224"31 .
7P . Jaines, Horcvester . ppiC-I

-

33, This was thc mandatc for Induction of the brothers of SX. Juhn's

tu the church of Domaxd . Heg.losp.ot.dohmn, pp.210-11
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.
lesser clergy and rectors as to their fitness for office . As seen

atove the archdeacon sat as the bishop's representative in court
and issued citations in this capaeity 35.

Generalizations about the type of person who held the office
of archdeacon's official are not possitle as only once in the
thirteenth century is he specifically named . Adam de Stratton
was the official of Nicholas de Clare who held the Dutlin

2L

archdeaconry from c. I287 to I303 Teﬁe Stratton appears in many
documents from this period and given the circumstances of de Clare's
career , he no doubt fulfilled most of the archdeacon's functions
with little help from his superiorj?. In I203 de Stratton was
described as 'notary public' when he attended at S5t.ratrick's
to witness the Archbishop of Dublin declafina the churches of
stagonil and Tipperkevin to be prebendal)?.ﬂccording to Archbishop

alen the new prebend of Aderke in St.latricks was conferred on

29.
de Stratton in 1I2I0 . In I3IT he was appointec =2 tvaron of the
Lo.
cxchequer and in I2I3 he was referred lo as coui.issary of Lord
&1
Alexander de Eicknor , then Treasuper of Ireland . It is not

2y Gwynn , Frov.Dioc.Decrees , esp. p. 47 .

35.Chart.St.Mary's 2,pp.522-3 . See above p.

3. For Nicholas de Clare's career see below p.09-231.

. C.0.0.0. no-J6l,p.65 & 10 .J66,p.E7.

J?Q LT

o

"
=

3. Al. Regz. pe. I58 .
39. ibid. p. 200 .

40, CPR I307-I3,p. 354 ; Rich & Sayles Admin of Irl, p.IOC.

LII- C.'C.CuDa 1}0:1’:(‘})-?0.
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clear if de Stratton was still performing archidiaconal duties at this
date , but from what is known of his career he was an important man

in his own right .

It is thought that the archdeacon probably had the choosing and
appointing of his own official but that the official had to take
an oath of canonical obedience to the bishop or archbishop whOﬁzzmandates
he would be executing and whose Jjurisdiction he might be exercisi;g .
The wishes of both the bishop and the archdeacon would seem ,

therefore , to have been the factors influencing the choice of

archdeacon's official .

The archdeacon also had a certain number of 'apparitors' or
‘beadles' whose duty appears to have been to summon people to his
court and to report crimes,particularly those of a moral nature .
They are very obscure members of the archdeacon's staff , beside
whom even the archdeacon's official is well documented . The diocesan
legislation only contains the information that apparitors were not

to impose grave sentences such as excommunication or the placing of
43.
interdicts .

42 ., Churchill , Cant.Admin. vol.I p. 50 . For an example of the oath
taken by the official to the bishop see ibid. vol. 2 p. I2 .

43. Gwynn , Prov.Dioc.Decrees , p. 53 see.... Bedelli seu aperitores
archidiaconis nostris vel decanis intendentes subditis gravamina non
inferant : sentencias autem excommunicacionis vel interdicti seu

suspensionis non ferant neque denuncient sine specialibus dominorum

preceptis .
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The Archdeacon and the Cathedral Churches § ST.PATRICK'S .

The role of the archdeacon in the diocese put him in a
special position in relation to the cathedral church , or in
the case of Dublin , to the cathedral churches . In European
dioceses in particular , the archdeacon had in earlier times
occupied a prominent position in the cathedral churchu%.ln the
eleventh century rule of 5t. Chrodegang the archdeacon was placed
at the head of the cathedral churchu?-Hith the rise in the office
of the dean he lost this position,although his influence was
slow to fade . In the early history of the English secular
cathedrals this is evident . At 5t. Faul's ,London , the(archdeacon
was head of the chapter until the early twelfth centuryhf.At
Ixeter cathedral where there was no dean or chancellor until
1225 , the four archdeacons normally head the list of chapter
witnesses to documents %?in a recent study of the office of
archdeacon in IEngland it is suggested that for & period azfterxr
the llorman Conguest the archdeacon held sway in non-monastic
42,

chapters before the advent of deans and dignitaries

¥ o

L&, A.H.Thompson Archdeacons and rural deans , pp.I59-4C §
AJtmanieu, L'Archidiacre, in Dict.de Droit Canonique, ©p.9L°2-

L5. See The 01d English version of the enlarged rule of Chrodegang , ed

A.S. Napier (I9I6)
LE. 7.F.L.Brooke 'The early hist.of St.Pauls’ in Hist. of St.Faul's
Q57
P

catbcdral ed. #.R.Matthew and 4.M. Atkins (1957,
]

47, See F.R.Troup 'The establishment of the office of dean at Exeter
Cathedral ' , in Devon and Cornwall notes and queries , vol. I8

(193%) , pp. 16-20 .
42, Drooke,Archdeacons and the Yorman Conquest’,pp.I0-II ; sce
also Zdwaxds, Scc.Cathedrals, pp.243-5C
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Archbishop Alen in a footnote in his register states
'«ss.. before the position was created in St. Patrick's , the
archdeacon of Dublin had a stall in Holy Trinity %?.But
unfortunately he does not expand on this information . It is not
clear if he means that the office became annexed to St.Patrick's
in IIGI when the collegiate church was founded , or later when
the officials of the cathedral were instituted . The successor
to Facrobius , the first known archdeacon of Dublin was William
who held a prebend in St. Fatrick's from some time before 1220
However , much earlier than I220 Villiam's name appears in the
records associated with a grour of men who can be identified
as pretend holders in St.Patricks . In the majority of witness
lists his name and position appears first , followed by the
other canons . For example ; an archiepiscopal grant of I2I7
is witnessed firstly Ly 'William Archdeacon of Dublin ' , then
by lMester William of London (who became the first dean of St.
Fatricks) ,laster Thilip de Dray (the first precentor) ,
llaster Robert de Iledford , lMaster Ieter lYalveisin and Master
Ralph de ¥ristol (all prebend holders )¢: After ¢.I200 , although
the aréhdeacon continues ic be associated with the same group of

nen , his position in zelatian to them in witness lists changes .

49. Al.Reg. p.I57 .

50. Rilliam as the holder of half of the prebend of lusk was
invelved in a dispule which was scttled by Archblshop Henry of
London , then paral legatec , which gives a date of ¢.I217-20,

Ll. Reg. p. 59 .

5I. C.C.C.D. no. 29 ; see also no.30 ; Reg.St.Thomas's p.286 3
Chart., St. Mary's p.74 .
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After this date the dean, chancellor, treasurer and precentor
appear before the archdeacon , but his name is always before the X
names of the ‘ordinary ' canons , that is the non-office holdersBT.
The evidence of witness lists , while by no means conclusive ,
indicates that the archdeacon did hold some sort of prominent

position among the prebend holders of St.Fatrick's which was subtly

altered by the institution of the four dignitaries .

In the treatise of St. Csmund concerning the functions of
various cathedral personnel , the archdeacon is described after the

four officials in these words : '...Archdeacons are officials of

-\n
k‘k‘

the bishop , whose office consists in more external administration
This gives some idea of the peculiar position of the archdeacon
in secular cathedrals ; they had rank , yet their chiefl work

lay outside the cathedral precincts

An important factor which linked the archdeacon to the
seculaxr cathedral of the diccese was that It was usual for hinm
to hold a preberd and have a share in the incume of the cathedral .
The prebend gave the archdeacon a life tenure in his office and thus
he could not be regarded by the bishop as a personal servant ,
nor could he be removed from office without his consent . Although
his work lay outside of the cathedral and the archidiaconal systenm

was based on diocesan divisions , the archdeacon derived his style

52. For ex. C.C.C.D. no.30 ; Reg.Hosp. St.John, no.338 ; Reg.Oma.Sanct.
P-77 -

-~ 1 i s ' ' - i A
-:'_J.. A‘:Lb.-—)t leu.l:dq Ud- :J. o:—‘k u:OllL:S (I?u IC:’ /e ,5'0111 "-I:‘ .
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54

from the cathedral church ..In St.Fatrick's ¢.I274 , following

a contest between the archdeacon and the prior of Holy Trinity ,

the prebend of Taney with its dependent churches of Donnybrook ,

Kilgobbin and Rathfarnham was assigned to the archdeaconry %Eﬁp

to this there was no definite prebend for the archdeacon but

before I220 William held the first portion of the prebend of
55.

Lusk .

By virtue of holding a prebend the archdeacon was considered
a member of the chapter , but his actual position in the chapter
is vague . It appears that he was granted precedence over the
ordinary canons but whether he was regarded as a cathedral
dignitary or not is uncertain . In the English dioceses the
practice varied ., At St.laul's , Chichester and Exeter cathedrals
all archdeacons were normally descrited as 'dignitaries' , whereas

57.

at Calisbury cathedral they were not usually given the title .
In Jubtliu while the title ‘'dignitary' does not seem to have leen
used wher referring to the archdeacon , his positicn seens to
have becer. slightly inferior to the four officials but still

superior to the other prebend holders .

54, A.H.Thompson ,Archdeacons and rural deans,p.If5.

55, Al.Reg. p.36
56, ibid. p.59

57, —dwards Sec, Cathedrals, p.250 j W.H.Jones Fasti Ecclesiae
Sarrisberiensis , (Salisbury I879-81) , vol. I p. I2C .
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In some English secular cathedrals the archdeacons were
entitled to double commons and double rations of bread and beerS?.
In I284 the chapter of St. Fatrick's enquired of the chapter of
Salisbury concerning the commons of the dignitaries . The Salisbury

chapter replied that the custom in their cathedral as regards the

commons of the four privileged persons was that '....in pane et

servisia gquam in pitanciis et aliis distribucionibus quefiunt de

communa duplicem porccionem percipiunt , alii autem ut pote
59
/.

archidiaconi et canonici simplicem tantum ....'. It is likely

that this practice was adopted in Dublin also .

The evidence from St.Fatrick's indicates that the archdeacon
attended chapter meetings although it is difficult to ascertain
if his voice held any more weight than that of the ordinary canons .
He was present